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THE ANGOLAN PEOPLE. 
ANGOLA’S GREATEST TREASURE.
When paying tribute to the richness of our country, the Angolan people 
must always come first. Their perseverance, optimism and sense of unity 
are what make Angola grow and move forward. Capable of meeting the 
challenges of a changing society, Angolans are an example of how to build 
the future with dynamism and creativity. 
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COTTON. 
ONE OF ANGOLA’S GREAT RICHES.
Once one of the world’s largest producers, Angola is taking steps revitalise 
its cotton crop. Focusing on this fibre’s value chain is a strategic driver of the 
textile industry, which needs this raw material, to thus boost the production 
and exporting of this natural wealth.
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JOINT MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Dear customers, shareholders, employees and partners,

At the end of yet another year, it is up to us the always dignified 
and challenging task of reflecting on the past financial year and 
sharing our vision and expectations for the future.

In a particularly atypical year at all levels, our first thought goes 
out to all of the employees and citizens in any way affected by 
the devastating consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic. To the 
employees of Banco Keve, the words are of praise, as they were 
temporarily deprived of some benefits and were subjected to 
more difficult working conditions due to the measures of social 
distancing and confinement imposed by the pandemic. Their 
commitment to the Bank is now an example of resilience, which 
can only be seen as a positive factor in the year just ended.

The year 2020 was unquestionably marked by the devastating 
effects brought to the world by the Covid-19 pandemic. More 
than a million lives have been lost since the pandemic drama 
began. The numbers continue to show no break in many 
countries and it is estimated that around 90 million people will 
suffer from extreme deprivation.

Fortunately, in recent months, the world was consoled by 
news which brought back some hope. Levels of testing have 
accelerated, treatments have progressed each day and vaccines 
have been developed at an unprecedented pace, with some 
vaccines already in the inoculation phase. International 
solidarity has been strengthened in many dimensions, starting 
with the reduction of trade restrictions and the increase in 
financial aid to vulnerable countries. There are already signs that 
some economies have started to recover at a faster pace than 
expected, after the reopening phase of global confinement.

These difficult circumstances obviously did not spare our own 
country; Angola was also affected by the pandemic, with direct 
economic consequences. The domestic economy once again 
registered a decline in its activity, extending the economic 
recession that has been affecting our country for about 5 years. 
The difficulties associated with the combined decreases in oil 
prices and domestic production have been aggravated by the 
Covid-19 pandemic throughout 2020.

The country continued to be marked by ongoing political and 
economic structural reforms aimed at regaining international 
credibility and improving transparency. Measures were also 
taken to provide Angola with the tools to get through the crisis 
and face a new paradigm of not depending on a single export 
product (oil).

Even so, Angola’s GDP will be down in 2020 by around 3.3%, 
and a reversal of this trend is expected in 2021. Inflation levels 
reached 25.1% this year, shifting the trend of deceleration 
that has taken place since 2016, largely due to the continued 
exchange rate adjustment process that the country has been 
undergoing, especially after the exchange rate liberalization 
started in 2019.

The Kwanza again registered losses in value against the world’s 
main currencies, having registered in 2020 a devaluation of 
36% against the dollar and 49% against the euro. Despite this, 
Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) continued to implement 
policies to ensure an exchange rate that is more representative 
of the market, allowing a more stable exchange rate in the last 
months of the year.

Once again, the financial sector proved to be extremely 
demanding in its compliance with regulatory measures, and 
2020 was full of measures that increased the liabilities of 
commercial banks. The approval of the new law in the field of 
prevention of money laundering and financing of terrorism 
was a major milestone, as well as the requirements in terms of 

granting credit within the scope of financing the real economy 
and the measures to protect the consumer of financial services.

On the other hand, and also in order to support the economy 
during a year of crisis due to the pandemic, the BNA implemented 
measures to grant liquidity to economic agents in order to 
alleviate the effects of the crisis and defined moratoriums on 
the payment of credit installments. For the commercial banks, 
the highlight is the extension of the deadline for the recognition 
of impairments resulting from the downgrading of Angola’s 
rating for the purposes of calculating regulatory own funds.

It was in this adverse context, combined with a reduction in 
economic activity and other difficulties by economic agents that 
Banco Keve pursued to develop its activity and satisfy the needs 
of its Customers.

Throughout the year, the Bank adopted measures to rationalize 
and control costs, which, derived from the reduction in margins, 
enabled it to face the changes in the banking business in a 
pandemic context. Even so, the Bank continued to attract 
customer deposits, growing its portfolio by 6% to a total of 
123.8 billion kwanzas.

We are pleased to highlight Banco Keve’s regarding its effort 
to comply with the limits required for granting credit to the 
economy, as one of the few Angolan banks to meet the goals 
of BNA Notice no. 10/2020. Along these lines, the Bank granted 
financing worth 17.2 billion kwanzas, for a total credit portfolio 
of 105.2 billion kwanzas.

In this regard, we also continue to make efforts to mitigate 
the risks associated with credit by maintaining our pace of 
reinforcing credit impairments, with an annual total of an 
additional 8 billion kwanzas.

Equity totaled AOA 31.1 billion, up 5% compared to 2019. 
In terms of its regulatory solvency ratio, Banco Keve had a 
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comfortable 14.95%, reflecting financial stability, by meeting 
the minimum level required by Banco Nacional de Angola (10%).

Even so, given the above-mentioned changes in the banking 
business, as well as changes in consumer behavior patterns 
and the increasing demand for technological sophistication 
prevailing in the banking industry, shareholders decided at 
the end of the year to increase the Bank’s share capital up to 
an amount in kwanzas equivalent to USD85 million USD. This 
will allow us to face the future with greater confidence, always 
based on Banco Keve’s values in order to jointly overcome the 
ups and downs of the current context.

Finally, our thanks and acknowledgement go out to our Keve 
family for its dedication, efforts and commitment each day, 
confident that the great knowledge and professionalism that 
characterizes them will remain unchanged.

Banco Keve’s Board of Directors and Executive Committee also 
wish to thank our customers, shareholders and stakeholders 
in general for the continued trust placed in us, committing 
ourselves to continue to dignify the Bank’s name and contribute 
to the creation of value and keep Banco Keve solid.

Banco Keve
The Bank tailor-made for you

José Pedro de Morais Júnior

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Óscar Manuel Mata

Chairman of the Executive Committee



COFFEE. 
ONE OF ANGOLA’S GREAT RICHES.
This small bean is one of our country’s most important agricultural crops, 
and one of the main drivers of agricultural development and the creation
of countless jobs. 
Revitalising this sector will help to stimulate our economy and bolster Angolan 
coffee, which is known and appreciated worldwide.



• MAIN INDICATORS 

• RELEVANT FACTS

• VALUES AND GOVERNANCE CULTURE

MAIN INDICATORS, HIGHLIGHTS AND PROSPECTS

1



11

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

1.1. MAIN INDICATORS

THOUSANDS OS AOA, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES Dec-18 Dec-19 Dezc-20                        Δ 2020/2019

ABS %

1. Business

Net income 4 603 486 2 702 522 1 707 129 (995 393) -36,8%

Net interest income 8 969 778 9 273 518 12 895 788 3 622 270 39,1%

Operating income 34 296 037 35 132 044 30 065 865 (5 066 179) -14,4%

Financial margin/Banking income 26% 26% 43% +17,0 p.p 63,0%

Current Cash Flow 20 060 229 19 475 046 17 667 872 (1 807 175) -9,3%

2. Profitability

ROAE-Return on Average Equity 25,1% 10,8% 5,6% -5,2 p.p -48,1%

ROAA-Return on Average Assets 3,0% 1,6% 1,0% -1,4 p.p -39,1%

3. Structure

Total assets 159 441 840 176 205 622 172 184 806 (4 020 816) -2,3%

Customer resources and other loans 129 165 107 120 639 912 128 132 018 7 492 106 6,2%

Net Loans 49 686 566 51 285 052 61 517 316 10 232 264 20,0%

Gross Credit 71 864 564 88 017 448 105 232 917 17 21 5 469 19,6%

Equity 20 347 458 29 490 276 31 197 404 1 707 129 5,8%

Business units 64 61 61 0 0,0%

Nº of employees 560 581 582 1 0,2%

4. Efficiency

Cost-to-income 42% 45% 59% +14,2 p.p 31,9%

Employees/Branch 9 10 10 0 0,2%

Total average/Employees 284 718 303 280  295 850 ( 7 430) -2,4%

Ratios:

Cost-to-income = Structural costs/Banking income

Custos de estrutura = Supplies and services + Staff expenses + Other Operating costs + Amortisation

Transformation Ratio = Gross credit/Total resources

Transformation Ratio (without collateral) = Gross Credit/customer Resources and Other Loans

continuation

THOUSANDS OS AOA, EXCEPT PERCENTAGES Dec-18 Dec-19 Dec-20                        Δ 2020/2019

ABS %

5. Asset soundness

Overdue Loans 23% 29% 31% +2,0 p.p 33,0%

Loans Impairements/Overdue loans 122% 144% 134% +10,0 p.p 0,2%

Loans Impairement/Gross loans 31% 42% 42% +0,0 p.p -2,5%

6. Liquidity

Loan-to-deposit ratio 57% 75% 85% +10,0 p.p 13,3%

Loan-to-deposit ratio (resources and other loans) 56,0% 73% 82% +9,0 p.p 12,3%

7. Regulatory

Regulatory Solvency Ratio 20,0% 16,0% 15,0% -0,1 p.p -6,5%

Regulatory Equity 16 716 444 26 743 528 34 366 562 7 623 034 28,5%

Fixed Assets Ratio 34% 51% 45% -6,0 p.p -11,8%
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1.2. RELEVANT FACTS

ADVERTISING AND COMMUNICATION
In 2020, the Bank continued to focus on the dynamics and 
wealth of informative content, emphasising the Keve brand. The 
institution strengthened its commitment to the market to be a 
bank tailor-made to its customers.

CAMPAIGNS
Covid-19 Prevention
Banco Keve underscores the importance of knowing how to 
interpret the results of a Covid-19 test. Taking care of ourselves 
is everyone’s responsibility.

Rocha Pinto Branch
Banco Keve continues to expand its branch network in Luanda with 
the opening of another business unit in Rocha Pinto.

Keve Muhatu Account
 The KEVE Muhatu demand deposit account is exclusively for 
women aged 18 and up.

Keve Super Kanuco Account
The Super Keve Kanuco savings account is the right choice for 
people aged 18 and under.

Term Deposit
Keve’s term deposits are tailored to your life at any given time.
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#Stay at Home
Anytime and anywhere, always available for you via Internet 
Banking, iKeve and iKeve Corporate.

ikeve Corporate Mobile
For your company to access the iKeve Mobile Internet banking 
service and other banking services, without having to go to a 
bank branch.

ikeve Individual Mobile
To access the iKeve Mobile Internet banking service and other 
banking services, without having to go to a bank branch.

Keve SMS
Anytime and anywhere, Banco Keve is always available for you 
with the Keve SMS service.

Pay Up-Front
With the Keve Pay Up-front service, you can go to the bank via 
Internet Banking, iKeve and iKeve Corporate.

Keve DP Super Deposit
A new app with a 30 or 60 day term, with advances on interest 
at up to 16% TANB (Gross Annual Nominal Rate).
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Banco Keve Anniversary
CONGRATULATIONS BANCO KEVE! Thank you for being with us 
over these 17 years.

Christmas
Christmas is a season of sharing. Banco Keve wishes every 
family a Merry Christmas and Happy New Year!

Digital
In the area of digital, Banco Keve continues to invest dynamically 
in social networks, namely Facebook, LinkedIn and Instagram.

Facebook
Continued investments in promoting content have resulted in a 
higher number of followers. In terms of positioning, Banco Keve 
is still ranked fourth among Angolan banks.

POSITIONING OF ANGOLAN BANKS

Linkedin
Although still in the initial phase, a comparative analysis of 
LinkedIn users in the Angolan banking sector gives Banco Keve a 
total of 24,132 followers.



15

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Instagram
Also in the initial phase (page created in October 2019), 
Banco Keve’s 830 followers are starting to interact with some 
messages and comments (97 posts).

CULTURE AND EVENTS
Banco Keve sponsors the Show of the Month. The Show of the 
Month offers moments of entertainment and leisure to the 
public; promoting, reviving, praising and expanding Angolan 
music, for professionals from the music sector (musicians, 
composers and others).

With the appearance of the Covid-19 pandemic, the platform 
took on a new format. Banco Keve kept tabs on this entire 
process, ultimately becoming a sponsor of a 100% online 
broadcast, whose videos had 350,662 views in 2020.

Forum Banca “The role of Banking in credit to the economy in 
times of crisis”
The 10th Forum Banca, organized by Jornal Expansão, took place 
on 11 September with a new format suited to the times we are 
living in. A specialized platform was used to ensure all could 
attend while retaining the characteristics that made this one of 
the most important events in the sector.

Banking has an extremely important role in credit to the 
economy during the crisis the country is experiencing at the 
moment. Banco Keve accepted the challenge and took part in 
this digital event with a virtual stand, personalized service, and 
interaction via multimedia support.

The day kicked off with an opening address by a guest speaker, 
followed by talks by analysts, a round-table discussion with the 
top managers from the main banks, and closed with an address 
by the regulatory body.
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1.3. VALUES AND GOVERNANCE   
         CULTURE
Banco Keve is committed to promoting integrity and upholding 
a high standard of ethical conduct in everything it does. We 
understand that the success of our business depends on 
relationships of trust that are built on that integrity. Therefore, the 
guiding values of our corporate governance policy are founded on 
the following principles:

Equity – with the commitment to comply with all applicable 
laws and regulations which guarantee fairness and impartiality 
when dealing with shareholders, employees, agents, customers 
and suppliers;

Transparency – information is completely transparent, 
particularly information with impacts on the business, results, 
opportunities and risks.

Rigour and Responsibility – all of Banco Keve’s employees are 
responsible for their own words and actions, bearing out the 
commitment to put this Corporate Governance model into 
practice;

Confidentiality and Integrity – because our customers 
are considered invaluable assets, we protect confidential 
information and communicate honestly with our shareholders, 
suppliers and customers;

Social and Environmental Commitment – the Bank makes every 
effort to be part of the social and economic progress of its local 
communities, in harmony with natural resources to protect the 
environment and nature;

Interaction – the feedback and opinions of employees, agents, 
customers and suppliers are truly appreciated and respected by 
everyone at Banco Keve.

Along these lines, another key component of good Corporate 
Governance is the existence of a Culture and values which 
uphold high standards in responsible, ethical behaviour for 
every employee at Banco Keve. In this way, the Bank encourages 
every director and manager at Banco Keve to be a model 
of organisational Culture through trust, integrity, honesty, 
common sense, respect, responsibility and rigour.



GOLD. 
ONE OF ANGOLA’S GREAT RICHES.
The development of geological and gold mining activities in Angola 
is a commitment that boosts the country’s economy and exports. 
With gold, Angola has the potential to play a key international role in 
mining, thereby diversifying and developing its economy.



• CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

• ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE AND CORPORATE BOARDS

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE, MANAGEMENT AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

2
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2.1. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Shareholders, directors and all employees at Banco Keve are 
committed to building an effective Corporate Governance model, 
in compliance with recommendations from the regulatory and 
supervisory authority for banking financial institutions, and in 
accordance with best international practices.

We are committed to promoting integrity and respect and 
maintaining a high standard of ethical conduct in all the activities 
involved. We understand that the success of our business depends 
on relationships of trust that are built on that integrity. 

Corporate Governance Structure

Shareholder Structure
The shareholder structure is comprised of 50 shareholders 
divided into shareholding levels, as detailed in Note 21 to the 
financial statements. The bank’s largest shareholder currently 
owns around 7% of its shares which, together with the remaining 
9, account for a total of 42% for the 10 largest shareholders.

 

Value chain
The main goal of the value chain is to represent Keve’s activity 
in a structured and easy-to-understand manner to ensure that 
it is aligned with the Bank’s strategic goals. The design of the 
“process framework” is supported by the identified specific 
characteristics, both now and in the future, of Keve’s business 
model, together with the Bank’s vision and objectives. The value 
chain has therefore been divided into three major areas: Control, 

Business and Support, each of which has “macro-processes” 
which cover key processes and activities by topic. Each of these 
areas is presented and described below.

Largest 
shareholder

7%

9 largest 
shareholders

35%

Other
58%

Credit
Committee 

General
Board

Audit
Board

Presiding Board
of the General

Meeting of Shareholders

External
Auditing

Secretary of 
the Board of

Directors

Corporate Board
Remuneration

Committee

Audit and
Internal Control

Committee

Boar of
Directors

Executive
Committee

DivisionsCommittees Offices

Risk management
and control

Compliance and 
supervision

Internal controlAuditing

Control

Areas which ensure that the strategy conceived through systems, policies, 
processes and procedures is in line with legal and regulatory provisions and with 

internal standards and policies.

Customer
management and

relations

Treasury
transactions

Payment
methods

Collections

Sale of
products and
transactions

Cash
transactions

New
businessBusiness

Functions combining activities directly tied to the organization's core business, 
responsible for the banking business and for customer and cash management.

Business strategy 
management

Economic and 
market analysis

Management of 
mobile assets 
and services

Communication 
management

Information 
systems

Strategic 
marketing

Support and 
security 
services

Segment 
management

Management 
information

Legislative 
support

Human capital 
managementSupport

Functions which ensure the organization's normal operation in terms of 
infrastructures, systems, human resources and management information. 

It also has responsabilities in business support, namely defining and
implementing the marketing strategy.
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Banco Keve’s organisational structure will conform to the nature 
of its business, with sufficient and adequate organisational 
regulations to facilitate effective decision-making and good 
governance.

Its governance model is founded on the following premises:

i) Holding of formally defined periodic meetings, 
notwithstanding extraordinary meetings whenever 
circumstances dictate;

ii) Clear, transparent organisational structure;

iii) Specific goals for each structural unit;

iv) Specific functional tasks and responsibilities for each 
Division and/or Department;

v) Levels of authority, communication channels, separation 
of responsibilities and direct lines of supervision for the 
various levels of management;

vi) Work policies and procedures suited to carrying out and 
supervising transactions, and a job description for all 
positions in the organisational structure, specifying the 
qualifications and experience of those serving in such 
positions.

2.2 ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE
        AND CORPORATE BOARDS

Board of General Meeting

Chairman of the General Meeting Board Amílcar dos Santos Azevedo da Silva

Vice-Chairman of the General Meeting 
Board

Mario Henrique da Silva Mello Xavier

Secretary António João Cambuta

Supervisory Board

Chairman of the Supervisory Board Manuel João Carneiro

Member João Silva

Member Gildo Saraiva Faceira

Board of Directors

Chairman of the Board of Directors José Pedro de Morais Júnior

Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors André Luís Brandão

Chairman of the EC (Executive Comittee) Oscar Manuel Mata

Executive Director Dalila Azevedo da Silva

Executive Director Yolanda Isaac Carneiro

Executive Director Ana Maria Machado

Executive Director João António Freire

Executive Director Laide Moreira Martins

Non-Executive Director Rita Yara Xavier

Non-Executive Director Décio Leandro Gaspar

Independent Non-Executive Director Hugo Gonçalves

Executive Committee of the Board of Directors

Óscar Manuel Mata - Chairman of the Executive Committee (CEO)

• Risk Office (GRI)

• Internal Auditing Office (GAI)

• Exchange Control Office (GCC)

• Accounting Division (DCO)

Dalila Azevedo da Silva - Vice-Chairman

• Planning and Control Office (GPC)

• Marketing Division (DMK)

• Human Resources Division (DRH)

• Electronic Banking Division (DBE)

• Quality and Organisation Division (DQO)

Yolanda Isaac Carneiro - Executive Director

• Private Banking Division (DPR)

Ana Maria dos Santos Machado - Executive Director

• Executive Secretariat (SCR)

• Strategy Implementation Office (GIE)

• Credit Division (DCR)

• Financial Markets Division (DMF)

• International and Investment Banking Division (DIB)

João António Freire - Executive Director

• Large Enterprise Division (DGE)

• Sales Network Division (DRC)

• Legal and Litigation Division (DJC)

Laide Moreira Martins - Executive Director

• Monitoring, Collections and Loan Recovery Office (GMR)

• Information Systems Division (DSI)

• Operations Division (DOP)

• Assets and Security Division (DPS)
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Supervisory Board
Notwithstanding the powers attributed by law to Banco 
Nacional de Angola, Banco Keve’s corporate activities are 
overseen by a Board of Auditors comprised of four full members, 
including one Chairman and two alternates.

General Board
The General Board is the company’s advisory body in charge of 
assisting the other corporate boards in any issues relevant to 
the company and its business.

External Auditing
Pursuant to legislation in force (Notice no. 4/2013), and after 
four years of accounts audited by Deloitte, the Bank followed 
BNA’s recommendation; as of this year, this is being done by 
Audiconta. The Bank continues to follow a policy which ensures 
the independence and objectivity of its external auditors.

Board of Directors
According to the Bank’s articles of association, the Board of 
Directors may have a minimum of five and a maximum of 
eleven members. 

The powers and responsibilities of the Board of Directors are 
laid out in article 24 of the articles of association, in line with 
the powers conferred by the Commercial Companies Law and 
financial sector standards.

The Board of Directors holds ordinary meetings at least once 
per quarter with extraordinary meetings whenever called by its 
Chairman or by two or more of its directors.

Committees of the Board of Directors
Corporate Board Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is in charge of determining Banco 
Keve’s policy and goals for the remuneration of its corporate 
boards. Its main purpose is to ensure salary levels and grids 
which are transparent and in line with best market practices. 

Executive Committee
By delegation of the Board of Directors, the Bank’s executive 
management is comprised of six executive directors appointed 
by the Board of Directors, including one Chairman and one Vice-
Chairman.

Audit and Internal Control Committee
The Audit and Internal Control Committee is in charge of 
ensuring the necessary coordination between internal control 
functions, the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee, 
with a view to enhancing the quality of internal control, 
implementing principles of communication, risk management 
and the terms of the relationship with Banco Keve’s auditors.

Collegiate Bodies
The Board of Directors has a strong commitment to the progress 
of its management, and systematically adopts initiatives to 
strengthen this management. These measures include the 
structuring of Collegiate Bodies (Committees) and refinements 
in the area of risk management. Management and committees 
are also backed by a vast number of reports, with predefined 
frequencies, covering nearly every operating area.

Structural Units
Management considers the internal organisation to be a complete 
foundation for fulfilling the Bank’s business. It is understood that 
its functioning and development stem from the relationship 
between human capital, modelled processes and technology 
resources aligned with contemporary management principles.

Executive Organizational Chart

GCCGAI

SRC

GCO GPCGMR GRI

ALCO
Committee 

Credit
Committee

Products and
Services Committee

Liquidity Risk
Committee

Executive
Committee

DCO

DGE

DJC

DRH

DBE

DCR

DIB

DRC

DMK

DPR

DQO

DMF

DOP

DPS

DSI

SRC - Secretariat

Offices
GAI - Internal Auditing Office
GCC - Exchange Control Office
GCO - Compliance Office
GMR - Credit Monitoring, Collections and Recovery Office
GPC - Planning and Controle Office
GRI - Risk Office

Divisions
DBE - Electronic Banking Division
DCO - Accounting Division
DCR - Credit Division

DGE - Large Enterprise Division
DIB - International and Investment Banking Division
DJC - Legal and Litigation Division
DMF - Financial Markets Division
DMK - Marketing Division
DOP - Operations Division
DPR - Private Banking Division
DPS - Assets and Security Division
DQO - Quality and organization Division
DRC - Sales network Division
DRH - Human Resources Division
DSI - Information Systems Division
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As such, the Bank has 15 Divisions and 6 Offices which, in turn, 
are segregated as Business, Support and Control Units.

Middle management is also strongly committed to providing 
services and developing products tailored to the various 
segments which the Bank wishes to serve, under suitable terms, 
combined with diligence, quality and excellence.

The current Functional Organisational Chart clearly defines the 
mission and function of each Division/Office, prioritizing fast, 
direct lines of communication between the staff/line bodies 
themselves, as well as between these and Management.
The main current decisions of each Division/Office are always 
made by more than one person (normally the manager and 
director in charge of the area).   

With a view to aligning strategy and day-to-day management, 
the middle management bodies draw up annual goals, which 
are analysed and approved by the Board of Directors. 
The Structural Units also have a collection of systematic periodic 
reports for the monitoring of their activities by the Executive 
Committee.

Institutional Communication
Communication with shareholders is done through the General 
Meeting of Shareholders, whose modus operandi is described in 
articles 14 through 22 of the articles of association. The ordinary 
General Meeting of Shareholders is held annually, within the 
deadlines determined by law.

General market disclosures are made via publication of the 
Annual Report and Accounts. In addition, at its website, the 
Bank publishes a quarterly account summary, in the form of 
a trial balance, pursuant to Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) 
Notice no. 15/07 of 12 September.

Professional and Ethical Code of Conduct
We have approved a Professional and Ethical Code of Conduct 
with specific criteria for decision-making and personal 
behaviour for all employees and boards.

Our Professional and Ethical Code of Conduct ensures:

• Dissemination throughout the entire organisation, together 
with clarification measures;

• Publication in a brochure and via intranet;

• Inclusion of specific penalty measures for those in breach of 
the code.

We have a monitoring system for implementing the Professional 
and Ethical Code of Conduct, so that the competent bodies can 
report regularly on its compliance.



COPPER. 
ONE OF ANGOLA’S GREAT RICHES.
Angola has major copper reserves, and is recognised as belonging to the Central 
African “Copperbelt” which spans more than 100,000 km² of our territory. 
The exploitation of this ore, in great demand around the world in construction, 
industry and energy, is an important source of revenue, as well as generating direct 
and indirect employment.



• INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT 

• DOMESTIC ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

• RELEVANT 2020 REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

MACROECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

3
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3.1. INTERNATIONAL ECONOMIC   
        ENVIRONMENT

COVID-19 PANDEMIC
2020 was undeniably marked by the Covid-19 pandemic, with a 
full year having gone by since it was declared a global pandemic. 
The first signs of the virus emerged in late 2019 in the Chinese 
city of Wuhan. In 2020, it crossed several borders and ravaged the 
world unexpectedly. The virus’s proliferation reached alarming 
levels, forcing the World Health Organization (WHO) to declare a 
worldwide pandemic on 11 March 2020.

In the second half of 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic continued to 
spread around the globe, with the appearance of new variants in 
some countries. The sharp rise in the number of positive cases 
occurred primarily in the advanced economies, particularly 
Europe and the United States.

In the region of sub-Saharan Africa, the number of affected people 
and Covid-19 fatalities remained low throughout 2020, despite 
fears based on more vulnerable health systems. According to the 
WHO, the young profile of the
population contributed to these results.

Country Positive Cases Deaths

United States of America 19 346 790 335 789

Russia 3 159 297 57 019

United Kingdom 2 432 892 72 548

China 96 673 4 788

South Africa 1 039 161 28 033

Angola 17 371 399

Other countries 56 271 141 1 304 547

Total 82 363 325 1 803 123

In late 2020, the total number of infections rose to 82 363 325, 
with 1 803 123 fatalities. The growing number of infections 
around the world and millions of unemployed are just some of 
the sobering facts of the extreme social and economic pressure 
still being faced by the global community today. However, 
even with the great uncertainty about the pandemic’s future, 
an escape from this economic and health crisis is becoming 
increasingly more visible.

To deal with the constraints resulting from the pandemic crisis, 
governments around the world implemented fast measures to 
contain the virus’s mobility and control the pandemic, in addition 
to biosafety and social distancing measures such as closing 
borders, declaring states of emergency, imposing limitations on 
inbound and outbound foreign travel and implementing sanitary 
fences at certain locations with critical levels of infection.

The year was also marked by the ingenuity of the scientific 
community, which developed a number of vaccines against 
the novel coronavirus. Following the completion of trial phases, 
several vaccines such as Oxford-AstraZeneca, BioNTech-Pfizer 
and Sputnik V were administered in various countries.

Broader, more effective distribution of these vaccines is planned 
in 2021, especially in advanced countries, followed by more 
vulnerable developing countries, given the acquisition and 
distribution difficulties they may encounter.

ACTIVITY AND ECONOMIC GROWTH
According to data published in January 2021 by the World Bank’s 
Global Economic Prospects, global economic growth in 2020 was 
downgraded to -4.3% (-3.5% according to the IMF), unsurprisingly 
confirming the worldwide economic recession after 2019, when 
growth was 2.3%.

The Covid-19 pandemic contributed strongly to the global 
recession, whose intensity and precedents continue to be 
measured. Although the global economy is recovering, it is 
unlikely that a full economic recovery will happen in the near 
future. The pandemic led some countries into extreme poverty, 
and affected the revenues of most.

The prospects for the world economy are uncertain, depending 
on pandemic management and effective vaccination to limit the 
propagation of Covid-19. Based on these assumptions, in 2021 
the world economy is expected to grow 4% (Global Economic 
Prospects of the World Bank), 5.3% lower than the pre-pandemic 
projections, with moderate growth estimates of 3.8% for 2022 
(4.4% below pre-pandemic projections).

Advanced economies will see a slowdown of 5.4% in 2020, 
followed by a recovery in 2021 and 2022 with anticipated growth 
of 3.3% and 3.5%, respectively. These forecasts are based on 
containing the pandemic, primarily through vaccination and a 
sustained monetary policy.

Low-income countries will see a slowdown of 0.9% in 2020, 
followed by a rebound in growth of 3.3% and 5.2% in 2021 and 
2022, respectively. In countries affected by internal political 
conflicts, the recovery will likely be even slower, since the large-
scale administration of vaccines will occur after their conclusion 
in advanced and developing economies.
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There have been some signs of economic recovery with the 
partial lifting of measures to contain the pandemic. The 
effectiveness of vaccines will be the determining factor in the 
world’s economic recovery. Economic activities, world trade and 
international tourism have been deeply affected by measures to 
contain the pandemic.  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
A slowdown of 3.6% is expected for the American economy in 
2020, followed by a resumption of growth of 3.5% in 2021 (0.5% 
below pre-pandemic projections). Growth of 3.3% is estimated 
for 2022, 2.2% below pre-pandemic projections.

In the United States, the economic downturn in the first half 
of 2020 was almost three times worse than the lowest point 
of the 2009 global financial crisis. Despite this strong impact, 

Global GDP Performance, 2018 - 2020
(Actual growth rates, %)

Projections 

2018 2019 2020 2021

World 3,0 2,3 -4,3 4,0

Advanced Economies 2,2 1,6 -5,4 3,3

United States of America 3,0 2,2 -3,6 3,5

Eurozone 1,9 1,3 -7,4 3,6

Sub-Saharan Africa 2,6 2,4 -3,7 2,7

Angola * 2,0 0,6 -3,3 0,0

Middle East and North Africa 0,5 0,1 -5,0 2,1

Latin America and Caribbean 1,9 1,0 -6,9 3,9

Emerging and developed Asia 6,3 5,8 0,9 7,4

Source: World Bank (GEP-jan-2021);
              * Ministry of Finance (2021 General Government Budget Justification Report)

the negative performance was offset by tax relief for household 
income, negatively affected by the wave of new variants of the 
novel coronavirus.

EUROZONE
At the start of 2020, the Eurozone was experiencing a historic 
collapse due to the Covid-19 pandemic. A slowdown of 7.4% 
is estimated for the period, with better performance in 2021 
and growth of 3.6%, sustained by improved management of 
the Covid-19 pandemic through effective vaccination, coupled 
with a rise in foreign demand, particularly in China. Economic 
growth should improve even more in 2022, anticipated at 4%.

The third quarter of 2020 saw signs of recovery which were 
thwarted by the resurgence of Covid-19 with other variants, 
causing many member countries to return to strict prevention 
measures.

Sectors such as tourism are almost non-operational, with no 
known date for recovery. Production showed solid signs of 
recovery, sustained by mounting foreign demand. Tax relief 
packages were created to help member countries more affected 
by the pandemic resume their activities in 2021.

CHINA
Economic growth in China slowed down to around 2% in 2020, 
with anticipated growth of 7.9% in 2021, back to pre-pandemic 
levels. More moderate growth of 5.2% is forecast for 2022.

The moderate growth in 2020 results in slower paces in activity 
since 1976, but above previous projections, strongly influenced 
by effective pandemic control and the stimulation driven by 
public investment.

The recovery in China has been solid but unbalanced. Fiscal 
and monetary policies have resulted in a sharp increase in the 
government deficit and total debt.

EMERGING AND DEVELOPING COUNTRIES
The health and economic crisis caused by the pandemic 
contributed to a 2.6% slowdown in 2020 in emerging and 
developing countries, the worst rate on record since 1960, the 
first year with aggregate GDP data. Meanwhile, 2021 and 2022 
are predicted to have recoveries of 5% and 4.2%, respectively, 
with performance below pre-pandemic forecasts.

The economies with the sharpest declines are those highly 
dependent on services and tourism (Cape Verde, Maldives, 
Montenegro, the Caribbean, Seychelles), those with high 
numbers of virus outbreaks (Argentina, India, Mexico, Peru) and 
those with steep declines in industrial commodity exports due 
to lower foreign demand (Ecuador, Oman).

The anticipated rebound in emerging and developing countries 
is highly dependent on a recovery in China. Without China, 
emerging and developing countries are expected to grow 3.5% 
in 2021, influenced by the pandemic’s impacts on consumption 
and investment.

Many families in developing countries have returned to previous 
poverty levels after more than two decades of a global decline 
in poverty. The pandemic crisis will push poverty levels above 
those of 2017.

SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA
The sub-Saharan African region was strongly affected by the 
Covid-19 pandemic, where economic activity fell 3.7% in 2020, 
with growth expected to resume in 2021 and 2022 at 2.7% and 
3.3%, respectively.

The recovery will likely be quite slow and long-term, while 
people’s standard of living deteriorates and recedes to levels of 
one decade ago, putting tens of millions of the region’s people 
into extreme poverty cumulatively between 2020 and 2021.
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Regional prospects have weaker recovery risks than those 
expected in the economies of trade partners. Logistical 
difficulties impeding a more streamlined distribution of vaccines 
have weakened potential growth and long-term income.

INTERNATIONAL TRADE
Global trade collapsed in 2020 with the closing of borders and 
interruptions to the international supply of goods and services. 
The trading of goods fell more quickly, but also had a faster 
recovery. The trading of services continues to decline.

A slowdown of 9.5% is expected in international trade in 2020, 
generally affecting all economies, with anticipated recoveries 
of 5.0% and 5.1% in 2021 and 2022, respectively. A rebound in 
the price of commodities – especially metals – occurred in the 
second half of the year as a result of demand. The recovery in oil 
prices has been more moderate.

There have been changes in consumer behaviour and the 
consumption patterns of goods, strongly affecting services 
needing more interaction between the buyer and seller. The 
Brexit agreement announced between the United Kingdom and 
the European Union may contribute to a heavier downturn in 
international trade.

Uncertainties in trade policies deteriorated sharply, although 
remaining above the historical lows of the 2009 financial crisis, 
partially due to the potential renewal of trade relations between 
the leading economies. The expected moderate recovery in 
international trade stems from worldwide investments and the 
gradual but incomplete opening of international travel. Trade 
partnerships between the United States and China to encourage 
international trade are also contributing to these prospects.

COMMODITIES
The average price of oil was USD 41/barrel in 2020, down 34% 
compared to 2019. Demand for oil fell 9% during the year as a 
result of pandemic control measures and the ensuing limits on 
global demand, partially offset by oil cuts by OPEC (Organization 

of the Petroleum Exporting Countries), Russia and other non-
OPEC countries.

Over the period, there was a sharp drop in the price of a barrel 
of oil on an international scale, with extremely low prices based 
on weak prospects for growth in world demand because of the 
pandemic, coupled with an increase in American oil reserves.

In March 2020, the average price of a barrel was around USD 33, 
down 40% from the previous month. This price continued to fall, 
reaching an average annual minimum of USD 23/barrel in April, a 
monthly decline of 23%.

In terms of supply, the data points to an average global supply 
of 93.4 MB/day in 2020 which, compared to the previous 
year, represents a reduction of 3.4 MB/day. OPEC’s weight on 
worldwide production fell 3.7%, on an annual basis, to 25.6% 
(data from November 2020 ).

 MILLION BARRELS/DAY 2017 2018 2019* 2020P 2021P

OECD 47,5 47,9 47,7 42,2 44,7

Other 49,9 50,9 52,1 47,9 51,2

Global Demand 97,4 98,8 99,8 90,0 95,9

OPEC Production 32,0 31,8 29,3 25,6 N.a

Supply from other 
countries

64,1 67,2 70,4 67,8 68,7

Global Demand 96,1 99,1 99,8 93,4 N.a

 Balance -1,3 0,3 0,0 3,4 N.a

Source: OPEC (Market indicator, Dec-20)

Future prospects point to an average price of around USD 44 per 
barrel in 2021 and an increase to USD 50 per barrel in 2022. These 
prospects are conditional upon the risk of new developments in 

(ACTUAL GROWTH RATES, %)

Projections

2018 2019 2020 2021

Sub-Saharan Africa 2,6 2,4 -3,7 2,7

Excluding Nigeria, South Africa 
and Angola

4,4 3,9 -1,4 3,5

Oil Exporting Countries 1,5 2,1 -3,5 1,1

Low-income countries 4,4 4,0 -0,9 3,3

Fonte: Banco Mundial (GEP-jan-2021)

Volume of World Trade
%

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Est. 2021 Est.. 2022 Est.
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the pandemic crisis, with demand for oil curbed by low mobility. 
However, the appearance of vaccines has lowered this risk.

3.2. DOMESTIC ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

2021 STATE BUDGET
The domestic economy continues to face a period of difficult 
economic recession which has dragged on since 2016. In 2020, 
economic imbalances worsened due to the novel coronavirus 
pandemic and the lower prices of oil and gas.

The pandemic forced new measures to reinforce public expenditure 
in health and safety to contain the spread of the virus which, 
combined with the effects of falling oil prices in international 
markets and systematic declines in oil production levels, forced 
macroeconomic adjustments with impacts on the nation’s 
economic growth.

In the last two years, the real Gross Domestic Product (GDP) has 
contracted 2% and 0.6%, respectively. For the reasons described 
above, estimates point towards a GDP contraction of 3.3% in 2020 
(up to 4% post-Covid). This GDP performance is strongly influenced 
by the contraction of the oil GDP (-6.3%) as well as the non-oil GDP 
decline of 2%.

The performance of the non-oil GDP is determined by restrictions on 
the performance of the market services and public administration 
sectors, together with the weak performance of the diamond, 
metallic mineral and other mineral mining sectors.

INDICATORS

2020

2019
State 

Budget Revised Proj.

2021 
State 

Budget

Inflation (%) 17,1% 25,0% 25,0% 25,0% 18,7%

Production of Diamonds
(thousands of carats)

9 547 10 175 8 000 8 000 9 141

Average price of Diamonds (USD/carat) 154 162 103 181 185

Oil production (million barrels/day) 1 383 1 437 1 284 1 288 1 220

Average price of oil (USD/barrel) 65 55 33 39 39

GDP real growth rate (%) -0,6% 1,8% -3,6% -3,3% 0,0%

Oil + LNG GDP -6,6% 1,5% -7,0% -6,3% -6,2%

Non-oil GDP 1,9% 1,9% -2,1% -2,0% 2,1%

Source: 2021 General Government Budget Justification Report

Recently, for the first time, the National Statistics Institute of 
Angola (INE) published adjusted data on seasonality, allowing 
quarterly changes to be accounted for. GDP again contracted 
in the third quarter, declining 5.8% over the first nine months 
of 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. Even so, the 
economy’s year-over-year decline was less pronounced than the 
-8.3% drop in the second quarter.

Also in 2020, the performance of the agricultural sector was 
among one of the most positive contributions. Data from the 
first campaign of the 2019/2020 agricultural year demonstrates 
the continued recovery of the sector, after the resumption of 
its growth trend in 2019. The data shows an increase in the 
production of eggs (11%), cereals (millet, 14.5%; corn, 0.4%), 
roots and tubers (cassava, 1.5%; sweet potato, 1%) and fruit 
(citrus, 5%; banana, 1.2%; mango, 4.5%).

Along these lines, the prospects for 2021 remain somewhat 
discouraging, despite the potential start of an economic recovery 
as the negative effects of the pandemic begin to disappear.

The 2021 macroeconomic forecasts point to stagnant GDP 
growth (0%) in real terms, in contrast to the recessions of recent 
years. This economic performance should be supported by 2.1% 
growth in the non-oil GDP. The oil sector should continue to 
decline, with growth of -6.2%.

The non-oil sectors are generally expected to grow, particularly 
agriculture (2.5%), energy (5%) and the mining of diamonds, 
metallic minerals and other minerals (14.3%).
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2020

2019
State 

Budget Revision

2021 
State 

Budget

Non-oil GDP 1,9% 1,9% -1,2% 2,1%

Agriculture 0,8% 3,1% -1,2% 2,5%

Fisheries and derivatives -18,0% 4,0% -1,3% 1,2%

Mining of diamonds, metallic
minerals and other minerals

8,5% 6,6% -12,3% 14,3%

Manufacturing industry 0,2% 1,2% -1,0% 1,9%

Construction 4,9% 1,3% -1,4% 1,3%

Energy 5,3% 0,5% 7,8% 5,0%

Market services 1,0% 1,2% -1,9% 1,8%

Other (public administration sector) 2,3% 1,5% -2,3% 0,0%

Source: 2021 General Government Budget Justification Report

With regard to the outlook on the price of oil, the 2021 State Budget 
proposed maintaining the price per barrel at USD39, in view of 
uncertainties in the oil sector, thereby maintaining a conservative 
price which also ensures some stability in the country’s macro-
fiscal planning.

With regard to the foreign exchange market, the guidance is for 
continued foreign exchange adjustment in view of the currency 
liberalisation reform which began in 2019. In this way, the 
government can ensure the efficient allocation of currencies, while 
also reinforcing the re-establishment of the country’s reserves.

For 2021, according to the National Development Plan for the 
period of 2018-2022 (PDN 2018-2022), priority actions have been 
set for the various bodies comprising the National Planning System 
(Ministerial Departments, Local State Administration Bodies, 
Sovereign Bodies and the National Staff Training Plan Technical 

Management Unit), throughout the national territory, to achieve 
the targets laid out in all of the Action Programs of the PDN 2018-
2022, in reference to the year 2021.

The 2021 annual plan will address the following priorities:

Name Programs Activities Goals Targets

Priority 1 - Human Development and 
Well-being

23 5 136 67 110

Priority 2 - Economic Development which 
is Sustainable, Diversified and Inclusive

20 777 45 106

Priority 3 - Infrastructures Needed for     
Development

10 941 33 63

Priority 4 - Consolidation of Peace, 
Strengthening of the Democratic State 
of Law, Good Governance, State Reform 
and Decentralization

8 253 18 34

Priority 5 - Harmonious Development of 
the Territory

6 1 480 11 23

Priority 6 - Ensuring the Stability and 
Territorial Integrity of Angola and
Strengthening its International and 
Regional Role

3 163 8 9

Total 70 8 750 182 345

With regard to the 2021 macro-fiscal policy, the government will 
continue its agenda of economic reforms to create an investment 
atmosphere conducive to growth to stabilise macroeconomic 
indicators.

In this way, the executive branch’s monetary policy in 2021 should 
be based on greater fiscal consolidation, solidifying macroeconomic 
stability, reviving the productive sector, diversifying the economy 
and focusing on implementing the sectoral content of the PDN 
2018-2022.

EXPECTATIONS OF ECONOMIC AGENTS
According to data published by the National Statistics Institute of 
Angola (INE), the economic climate indicator (ICE), whose purpose 
is to portray the economic status quo and provide short-term 
statistical information on the expectations of economic agents 
from various sectors, had an upward trend over the previous 
quarter; even so, the index remained in negative territory in the 
fourth quarter of 2020. This indicator has remained negative for 
the 22nd consecutive quarter.

Most of the various economic sectors remained in negative 
territory in relation to the previous quarter, particularly the sectors 
of transport and auxiliary services, tourism and, more recently, 
the mining industry as well. The communication sector is one of 
the few to maintain its positive trend, even though its confidence 
index was -1 in the fourth quarter of 2020. This indicator’s 
negative trend continues to result from Covid-19 restrictions, 
causing tremendous financial difficulties for business operators, 
shortages of equipment in the domestic market, high interest 
rates and low demand, thereby entailing the main limiting factors 
on these sectors’ activities.
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Along these lines, the main constraints fall on businesspeople 
tied to the tourism sector, whose expectations in quarterly 
terms have improved, going from -29 points in the third quarter 
to -21 points in the fourth quarter of 2020. The improvement 
in this indicator reflects the optimism from current levels of 
turnover.

FOREIGN MARKET AND ACCOUNTS
According to data from BNA, the current account for the third 
quarter of 2020 has a total cumulative deficit of USD 298 
million. This balance is down 91% compared to the third quarter 
of 2019, due to a reduction in the goods account, whose 
cumulative balance in the same period totalled USD 8,208 
million (-45% compared to the third quarter of 2019).

The goods account, in turn, was marked by declines in both 
exports and imports, justifying its lower balance in the period 
in question. Exports totalled USD 15,133 million in the third 
quarter of 2020, down 42% compared to the same period, 
primarily due to lower exports of oil and associated gas.

As previously mentioned, imports were also down, with a 
cumulative total of USD 6,924 (-37%) million in the same period. 
The category of food products, which accounts for the largest 
portion of imports, was down 14% year-over-year. Of particular 
note was 24% year-over-year decrease in importing in the 
category of machinery and mechanical and electrical devices, to 
a total of USD 1,626 million.

Currently, Portugal continues to have the highest volume of 
imports through Angolan economic agents, with a cumulative 
total of USD 994.2 million in the third quarter of 2020. China, 
Brazil and the United States have the next highest volumes of 
imports to Angola.
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The current account deficit has also pressured the reduction 
in Net International Reserves due to the strong correlation 
between them. One of the main reasons for this pressure is 
the decrease in revenues in foreign currency originating from 
exports, primarily oil, the main commodity exported, which 
accounts for 94% of sales abroad.

Net International Reserves for the month of December were 
USD 8,721 million, a monthly increase of 1.9% (-26.3% versus 
December 2019), representing the first monthly growth after 
five consecutive monthly declines. The maintenance of needs in 
foreign currency associated with the lower price and production 
of oil have pressured international reserves.

Gross International Reserves were USD 14,832 million, currently 
covering around 12 months of importing of goods and services, 
comfortably above the six months required by the IMF.

2018 2019 2020

Million USD Total Q1 Q2 Q3 Total Q1 Q2 Q3 Total

Current Account 7.403 18 1.883 1.462 3.363 1.141 -1.364 521 298

Goods Account 24.960 4.009 6.073 4.933 15.015 4.055 1.339 2.814 8.208

Exports 40.758 8.716 9.200 8.141 26.056 6.503 3.453 5.176 15.133

Oil 36.539 7.707 8.510 7.826 24.043 5.759 3.101 4.767 13.627

Associated Gas 2.436 473 342 321 1.136 325 150 219 694

Diamonds 1.152 388 216 275 879 302 134 97 532

Refined products 433 107 105 127 339 85 48 57 190

Fisheries 85 21 5 13 39 12 7 15 34

Cement 3 1 0 3 3 2 0 3 6

Wood 31 11 11 7 29 5 5 8 17

Others 77 7 10 -431 -413 14 9 10 33

Imports 15.798 4.706 3.126 3.208 11.041 2.448 2.114 2.362 6.924

Machinery* 3.104 789 656 689 2.134 581 470 575 1.626

Fuel 2.365 393 580 605 1.578 254 170 217 642

Food 3.160 588 685 623 1.896 518 542 574 1.635

Vehicles 959 237 235 224 696 182 186 168 535

Others 6.209 2.700 971 1.067 4.738 913 746 828 2.486

Services -9.458 -2.103 -1.831 -1.989 -5.923 -1.569 -1.331 -1.213 -4.114

Other Income -8.099 -1.887 -2.359 -1.483 -5.729 -1.344 -1.372 -1.079 -3.796*

*Machinery, mechanical and electrical devices
  Source: BNA (Quarterly External Statistics)

It is important to note that expenses for the provision of services 
have had a downward trend, totalling USD 4,114 million (-31% 
year-over-year) in the third quarter of 2020. These services are 
essentially amounts paid for transport, construction and other 
services associated with the oil sector.
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Meanwhile, of particular note was the National Treasury’s entry 
in the FXGO platform, thereby also allowing currencies to be 
sold to the market. In all of the auctions held by the National 
Treasury, demand was lower than supply, possibly suggesting a 
lower need for foreign currency due to the limitations imposed 
by Covid-19, together with a moderation of liquidity in domestic 
currency due to the custody fee for bank excesses, sometimes 
requiring the investment of funds.

Notice no. 22/2020 of 23 November concerning the criteria 
and procedures for forward exchange transactions states 
that commercial banks may only perform such transactions 
with their customers, legal entities, importers, exporters, oil 
companies, diamond companies and state entities to hedge 
exchange risks related to specific, identified transactions for the 
importing or exporting of merchandise.

These operations may be contracted between domestic 
currency and any other freely convertible foreign currency, 
with a maximum term of one year, by signing a forward 
exchange contract. Note that the agreement must include key 
components such as the amount, currency, term and applicable 
exchange rate.

Along these lines, the market stress from the pandemic, 
combined with the higher supply of currency – especially on the 
part of the National Treasury (Ministry of Finance) – and some 
lack of liquidity in the financial market, have been cited as the 
reasons for some stabilisation of the dollar against the kwanza 
in the last months of the year.

  

INFLATION
The latest data on the national consumer price index (NCPI) 
published by the National Statistics Institute of Angola (INE) for 
the month of December 2020 indicate an accumulated inflation 
rate of 25.10%, compared to 16.90% from the previous period. 
This data confirms a trend of acceleration in inflation over the 
year, in the wake of a slowdown in 2018 and 2019 (18.60% and 
16.90%).

Monthly inflation from December was 2.06%, above the monthly 
inflation from the same period in 2019 (1.91%), showing that 
monthly inflation levels were generally higher than in the 
previous year.

Prices rose primarily in the categories of “Non-alcoholic 
beverages and food” at 2.41%, with the highest price increase. 
Also of note were price increases in the following categories: 
“Alcoholic beverages and tobacco” at 2.02%, “Health” at 1.94% 
and “Miscellaneous goods and services” at 1.90%.

The provinces with the highest price increases were: Lunda 
Norte with 2.31%, Luanda with 2.19% and Cunene and Bié, both 
with 1.96%. The provinces with lower price fluctuations were: 
Bengo with 1.74%, Cabinda with 1.71%, Zaire with 1.62% and 
Namibe with 1.61%.

The disinflationary process in recent years is now entering a 
more challenging phase, since the consumer price index (CPI) is 
intrinsically tied to exchange rate behaviour. This performance is 
primarily explained by a more accommodating monetary policy, 
together with the pass-through effect of the exchange rate, in 
an environment of falling oil revenues due to the pandemic’s 
impacts on the oil market.

In 2021, inflation will be conditional upon the means and timing 
of implementing the new fuel pricing scheme. Regulations 
for the reference prices of oil derivatives have been approved, 
which may lead to pricing changes. The regulations state that 
the prices of LPG and domestic kerosene will remain fixed, with 
gasoline, diesel, Jet A1 and Jet B subject to a price monitoring 
scheme.
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The Oil Derivatives Regulatory Institute (IRDP) must publish 
monthly reference prices by the 26th day of the preceding 
month, following a market consultation and in compliance with 
the rules of the new scheme, which is based on international 
market pricing. Conversely, the executive branch passed a tax 
cut on the Special Consumption Tax (IEC) for beverages; soft 
drinks will be taxed at 8%, beers and ciders at 11%, wines at 15% 
and liqueurs and spirits at 21%; the current effective rate is 25% 
for all beverages.

PUBLIC DEBT
a. Domestic Market (Primary)
In December 2020, the debt stock totalled AOA 11,430 billion, 
including AOA 1,030 billion in short-term debt (treasury bills) 
and AOA 10,400 billion in long-term debt (treasury bonds). 
During the reference period, there was a trend to increase debt 
stock over the previous year, particularly in December, whose 
monthly change was 75% for short-term debt (+357% over 
December 2019). This reflects increased pressure in terms of 
short-term cash, while long-term debt also rose, although lower 
at 1.2% compared to the same period in 2019.

Billion AOA Changes in Debt Stock Var.%

Securities Dec-19 Jan - 20 Feb - 20 Mar - 20 Apr - 20 May - 20 Jun - 20 Jul - 20 Aug - 20 Sep - 20 Oct - 20 Nov - 20 Dec - 20
Dec’20/
Dec’19

Treasury Bills 225 225 148 177 205 129 155 219 294 381 449 590 1.030 357,0

Treasury Bonds 10.278 9.145 10.212 10.676 11.060 11.383 11.228 10.943 9.140 11.193 11.301 10.874 10.400 1,2

Source: Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA)

From January to December 2020, AOA 2,062 billion were issued 
in public debt securities, including AOA 1.264 billion in treasury 
bills and AOA 798 billion in treasury bonds. These amounts 
reflect an increase in debt issuance totalling AOA 1,293 billion 
(+168%) year-over-year, primarily due to treasury bills, which 
were up 184%.

b. Public Foreign Debt
Angola continues to have a high level of debt, anticipated to hit 
record highs in 2020, totalling 123% of GDP. 

The public foreign debt stock totalled USD50,906 million in the 
third quarter of 2020. This represents a year-over-year increase 
of 9%. Despite the government’s efforts to reduce debt, every 
Angolan owes around USD1,525 abroad. According to quarterly 
data published by Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA), the majority 
of foreign debt is at commercial banks totalling USD39,777 
million, or around 78% of the debt. Most of the remaining debt 
is from bilateral agreements (between governments) totalling 
around USD5,499 million, with the remainder attributed to 
financial institutions and companies. China and the United 
Kingdom are Angola’s main creditors, with a total of USD21,801 
million and USD13,658 million, respectively. Debt with China 
rose around 70% compared to the debt from 2014, although 
there have been efforts to reduce it in recent years from 
USD22,425 million in 2019 to USD21,801 million in the second 
quarter of 2020.
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Angola joined the Debt Service Suspension Initiative (DSSI) 
of the G-20 in the second half of 2020, with negotiations 
with primary creditors to ensure the debt’s sustainability and 
cope with the decline in national tax revenues. Renegotiating 
the national debt within and outside of the G-20 will result 
in savings of USD 6 billion (EUR 5 billion) by 2023. At the end 
of the third quarter of 2020, the IMF granted another billion 
dollars to Angola to help the country deal with the impacts 
of the Covid-19 pandemic. The Angolan government’s request 
was approved, thereby raising the aid program to USD 4.5 
billion (around EUR 3.7 billion). With this approval, the Fund 
monitors the management of public debt, the implementation 
of structural reforms and anti-corruption more closely.

The credit rating agencies Standard & Poor’s, Fitch and Moody’s 
downgraded Angola’s debt performance because of its more 
vulnerable macroeconomic framework in 2020 from the 
impacts of the current pandemic, the oil shock (both in terms 
of price and demand) and the performance of Angolan public 
debt.

Angola’s debt rating may continue to go down if the level of 
public debt becomes unsustainable. The country’s perceived 
risk of default has worsened compared to previous years, with 
the most negative ratings of all time.

Amounts

Date Conditions Initial Forcast Revised Forcast Var %

December 2018 Approval of financing 991 991 0

March 2019 Performance criteria/end of December 2018 - Completion of first assessment 249 249 0

September 2019 Performance criteria/end of June 2019 - Completion of the second assessment 249 249 0

March 2020 Performance criteria/end of December 2019 - Completion of third assessment 547 1.000 83

October 2020 Performance criteria/end of June 2020 - Completion of fourth assessment 547 463 -15

April 2021 Performance criteria/end of December 2020 - Completion of fifth assessment 548 732 34

November 2021 Performance criteria/end of June 2020 - Completion of sixth assessment 548 732 34

Total 3.678 4.417 20

Classification of Angolan sovereign rating

S&P Fitch Moody´’s

Rating Outlook Rating Outlook Rating Outlook

2018 B3 Stable B Stable B-/B Stable

2019 B4 Stable B Negative B- Negative

2020 CCC+ Stable Caa1 Stable CCC

Fonte: BNA
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MONETARY AND FINANCIAL BACKDROP
a. Monetary Policy and Liquidity
Last November 2020, during the Monetary Policy Committee 
(CPM), BNA analysed the recent performance of key economic 
indicators, as well as the impacts of the monetary policy 
measures previously taken on different sectors of the 
economy. It was observed that the progress of the domestic 
and international economic setting warrants prudence with 
regard to the optimism of resuming economic activity, and that 
its future in general is dependent on controlling the Covid-19 
pandemic on a worldwide scale. Among other measures, this 
committee decided to maintain the basic interest rate, also 
called the BNA rate, at 15.5%, upholding its commitment 
to control inflation and monitor the monetary base as the 
operational variable of monetary policy. It also decided to keep 
the coefficient of mandatory reserves in domestic currency at 
22% and in foreign currency at 17%, in accordance with the 
difference in domestic currency, keeping the custody fee at 0.1% 
against excess liquidity at commercial banks.

In this Monetary Policy Committee, BNA states that the banking 
system’s current liquidity levels are relatively within the 
established limits, together with the evolution in the adoption 
of the custody fee, which is contributing towards gradually 
decreasing the overnight LUIBOR rate.

Billion AOA, except percentages

Dec-19 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Ouc-20 Nov-20 Dec-20
Year-to-year 

change

Monetary base 2.286.581 2.439.954 2.373.508 2.384.943 2.280.714 2.470.205 2.424.209 2.330.757 1,9%

in domestic currency 1.585.938 1.663.459 1.620.554 1.593.382 1.489.553 1.628.362 1.606.662 1.657.801 4,5%

Banknotes and coins in circulation 540.009 504.016 491.510 483.895 503.442 493.532 486.474 549.107 1,7%

Banking reserve 1.746.572 1.935.938 1.881.998 1.901.048 1.777.271 1.976.673 1.937.734 1.781.650 2,0%

Mandatory reserve 1.394.424 1.443.336 1.358.709 1.476.938 1.427.167 1.596.422 1.538.500 1.439.156 3,2%

In domestic currency 923.170 869.325 830.913 938.357 869.494 1.013.722 989.309 1.060.219 14,8%

In foreign currency 471.254 574.012 527.796 538.580 557.673 582.700 549.191 378.937 -19,6%

Free reserve 352.148 492.602 523.288 424.110 350.105 380.251 399.234 342.494 -2,7%

In domestic currency 122.759 290.118 298.130 171.130 116.617 121.108 130.879 48.475 -60,5%

In foreign currency 229.389 202.484 225.158 252.981 233.488 259.143 268.356 294.019 28,2%

Source: Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA)

Data from the month of December indicates that the monetary 
base reached a cumulative total of AOA 2,331 billion. This 
amount is up 1.9% year-over-year, with domestic currency 
(operational variable of monetary policy) contributing with 
growth of 4.5%. The rise of the monetary base has been boosted 
by the increase of approximately 2.0% in the banking reserve, 
whose volume comes mostly from growth in mandatory 
reserves (+3.2% compared to December 2019). This growth 
in domestic currency is the result of the mandatory reserve 
coefficient increasing from 17% to 22%, making it rise 14.8% 
in value. Foreign currency decreased 19.6% due to the slight 
appreciation of the kwanza at the end of 2020 against the 
United States dollar.

With regard to interest rates in effect in the interbank monetary 
market, the overnight Luibor rate again went down to 9.75% 
in December 2020, after reaching 20.19% in February of the 
same year. This drop in Luibor rates came after a period of some 

market unrest, thanks to the rising transactions in the interbank 
money market due to liquidity difficulties.
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REFERENCE INTEREST RATES – MONETARY POLICY

BNA Rate
Lending Facility

7 days
Lending Facility 

Overnight
Borrowing Facility  

Overnight
Borrowing

Facility
OMO

7 Days Rediscount

2020

Jan-20 15.50% 10.00% 0.00% 15.50% 15.50% 14.50% 20.00%

Feb-20 15.50% 10.00% 0.00% 15.50% 15.50% 11.70% 20.00%

Mar-20 15.50% 10.00% 0.00% 15.00% 15.00% 7.00% 20.00%

Apr-20 15.50% 7.00% 0.00% 15.00% 15.00% 6.85% 20.00%

May-20 15.50% 7.00% 0.00% 15.50% 15.50% 5.31% 20.00%

Jun-20 15.50% 7.00% 0.00% 15.50% 15.50% 5.00% 20.00%

Jul-20 15.50% 7.00% 0.00% 15.50% 15.50% 5.00% 20.00%

Aug-20 15.50% 7.00% 0.00% 15.50% 15.50% 5.00% 20.00%

Sep-20 15.50% 7.00% 0.00% 15.50% 15.50% 5.00% 20.00%

Oct-20 15.50% 7.00% 0.00% 15.50% 15.50% 5.00% 20.00%

Nov-20 15.50% 5.22% 0.00% 15.50% 15.50% 3.75% 20.00%

Dec-20 15.50% 5.50% 0.00% 15.50% 15.50% 4.00% 20.00%

Source: Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA)

With regard to the transaction volume in the interbank money 
market, AOA 1,154 billion were transacted throughout December, 
up 90% year-over-year. Note that since May 2020, transaction 
volumes in the interbank money market have been steadily 
increasing, with around AOA 1,539 billion transacted in September, 
the highest amount transacted in this market in recent years.

Currently in 2020, transactions have totalled AOA 11,404 billion. 
This amount is practically the same, in 12 months, as the amounts 
transacted in 2018 and 2019 combined.

This higher transaction volume in the interbank money market 
is intrinsically tied to BNA’s imposition of a custody fee for excess 
liquidity. Because of this, commercial banks with a position of 
excess liquidity have been “obliged” to lend in the market to avoid 

paying the custody fee. It is important to note that, for some 
banks, the requirement for higher mandatory reserves in domestic 
currency and the market pressure to use currency auctions has 
forced banks with liquidity problems to turn to the interbank 
money market to meet their needs.

As a result, the liquidity lending facility, an instrument by which 
banks may turn to BNA if they are unable to meet their liquidity 
needs in the interbank money market, had lower transaction 
volumes throughout 2020, totalling AOA 1,463 billion, compared 
to the AOA 238 billion transacted in 2019.

In addition, beginning in August 2020, there were more banks 
turning to the 63-day liquidity borrowing facility (FAL63), with a 
cumulative total of AOA 227 billion in December 2020.
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b. Secondary Debt Market
The Angola Stock Exchange and Derivatives (BODIVA) had a total 
of 7,037 trades in the secondary public debt market (MSDP) 
through December 2020, up 76% year-over-year. The total 
business volume was AOA 1,185.23 billion, AOA 310.89 billion 
more than the volume transacted in the same period in 2019 
(+36%). It is important to note that around 85% of all transactions 
were traded with treasury bills. Banco de Fomento Angola (BFA) 
and Banco Angolano de Investimentos (BAI) led the ranking of 
banks with the highest transaction volume in the secondary debt 
market.

c. Monetary Synopsis
The data from December 2020 indicates that net foreign assets 
expressed in domestic currency were up slightly by 3% year-over-
year. This was due to the 11% growth in the foreign assets of 
commercial banks, since growth was practically non-existent in 
terms of international reserves.

When expressed in domestic currency, the value of net 
international reserves represents an extremely meagre gain 
of only 0.3% year-over-year, contrary to their value in foreign 
currency, which has decreased over the year, with the exception of 
December (+1.9% vs. November). However, this growth in the last 
month of the year was ultimately eliminated, since the exchange 
rate of the dollar against the kwanza did not experience any 
sharp devaluation in the last months of the year.

The money supply (M3) rose 22% year-over-year, totalling 12,452 
billion in December 2020 (AOA 10,219 billion in December 

2019). With regard to M2, we continue to see a growth trend, up 
around 22% to total AOA 12,447 billion. However, it is important 
to note that these increases in money aggregates largely result 
in a devaluation of the kwanza, with fluctuations of aggregates 
in foreign currency being substantial compared to domestic 
currency, namely 36% for M1 foreign currency and 21% for the 
near-money aggregate.
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Billion AOA, except percentages

MONETARY SYNOPSIS Dec-19 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Var. 20/19 Var. %

External Assets (net) 7.030 7.514 7.119 7.213 183 3%

Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) 5.713 6.158 5.633 5.744 32 1%

Amount of international reserves 5.648 6.077 5.559 5.665 17 0%

Commercial Banking 1.317 1.356 1.486 1.468 151 11%

Credit to central government (commercial banks) 3.681 5.468 5.432 5.747 2.066 56%

Credit to financial institutions (non-monetary) 11 102 103 104 92 812%

Credit to Public Sector 152 261 120 245 92 61%

Private Sector 4.373 3.881 3.959 4.033 -340 -8%

Commercial Banking 4.324 3.817 3.891 3.964 -360 -8%

Monetary aggregate (M3) 10.219 12.391 12.106 12.452 2.233 22%

M2 (M1 + near money) 10.214 12.386 12.101 12.447 2.233 22%

M1 4.939 5.713 5.870 6.011 1.072 22%

Banknotes and coins held by the public 419 372 363 419 0 0%

Transferable deposits 4.520 5.341 5.508 5.592 1.072 24%

In domestic currency 2.787 2.978 3.062 3.232 445 16%

In foreign currency 1.733 2.362 2.446 2.360 627 36%

Near money 5.275 6.673 6.231 6.436 1.161 22%

Other deposits 5.275 6.673 6.231 6.436 1.161 22%

In domestic currency 1.647 2.007 1.706 2.037 391 24%

In foreign currency 3.628 4.666 4.524 4.399 770 21%

Other instruments comparable to deposits 5 5 5 5 0 0% 

Source: Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA)
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Banknotes and coins held by the public remained stable over 
the previous period, totalling AOA 419 billion in December 2020. 
This situation reflects what has occurred in recent months, as a 
result of the measure adopted by BNA to streamline the excess 
volume of the money supply in the market. In this context, we 
have seen a contraction in banknotes and coins in circulation 
compared to the amounts at the end of 2019 (AOA 419 billion 
in December 2019).

3.3. RELEVANT 2020 REGULATORY
         FRAMEWORK

Over the course of 2020, within the scope of its regulatory 
powers, Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) published a series 
of rules and procedures on various spheres of activity (foreign 
exchange, monetary and financial policy) for the purpose of 
bolstering the financial system. Some of the more important 
rules and procedures in 2020 are described below:

a. Rules and procedures for performing current invisible foreign 
exchange transactions by legal persons (Notice n.º 2/2019)

This notice revoked Notice no. 13/13 for the purpose of 
simplifying procedures for performing current invisible foreign 
exchange transactions, by making payments and transfers 
abroad more efficient and flexible, in line with the new economic 
environment. This notice also sets rules for carrying out acts, 
business or transactions related to travel, and current transfers, 
payments for services and income when done between the 
national territory and abroad.

In brief, current invisible transactions have been subdivided into 
(i) travel and transfers, and (ii) services and income, whereby 
financial institutions, notwithstanding registration in the 
integrated system for foreign exchange transactions (SINOC), 

can sell foreign currency or make payments or transfers abroad 
without prior authorisation from Banco Nacional de Angola.

As for the annual limits, the volume of transactions for travel, 
carried out in the same calendar year by foreign exchange 
resident individuals over the age of 18, must not exceed the 
cumulative amount of AOA 25,000,000.00 (twenty-five million 
Kwanzas) when ordered or made in the name of the same 
person, regardless of the payment instrument used (electronic 
payment card, bank transfer, cash in hand or cheque over 
abroad).

b. Fixed asset limit for financial institutions (Notice n.º 3/2020)

This regulatory instrument revokes Notice no. 07/2012, to 
adapt it to the current market conditions, and to set a limit on 
fixed assets for these financial institutions.

Financial institutions can no longer acquire property not required 
for the pursuit of their corporate purpose, installation and 
functioning. However, whenever authorised to carry out credit 
activities, they can own properties not intended for their own use, 
provided that the acquisition results from the reimbursement of 
credit and they are disposed of within 2 (two) years.

The total amount invested in fixed assets, net of depreciation, 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, minus 
financial holdings, cannot exceed 50% (fifty per cent) of the 
amount of regulatory own funds. Applicable penalties may 
include prohibition from opening new offices or branches, 
together with other restrictions determined by BNA.

c. Granting of credit to qualified shareholders (Notice n.º 6/2020)

This notice sets limits on the granting of credit by banking 
financial institutions to qualified shareholders, within the scope 
of preventing and managing the risk of conflicts of interest.

In this regard, there are terms and conditions for the granting 
of credit by banking financial institutions, in any form or by any 
means, including the provision of guarantees, to persons with 
qualified holdings in them, as well as to companies directly 
or indirectly controlled by these persons or having a group 
relationship with them.

Percentages have been defined for credit to be granted to 
qualified shareholders by financial institutions, whereby the 
total amount of credit granted, in any form or by any means, 
including the provision of guarantees, directly or indirectly, may 
not exceed 20% (twenty per cent) of the institution’s original 
own funds. The individual ceilings have been set as follows:

i. 5% (five per cent) in credit for natural persons; and

ii. 10% (ten per cent) in credit for legal persons, including 
entities in a group relationship.

Such credit must be granted, however, based on a risk 
assessment and using identical terms and conditions as those 
applicable to unrelated parties; furthermore, the transactions 
in question will require approval by a qualified majority of at 
least two thirds of the members of the managing board and the 
favourable opinion of the institution’s supervisory body.

Any credit granted or approved as of the publication date of 
this notice, in an amount exceeding these limits, may remain 
in effect per the approved or contractually agreed amounts 
and terms, with no increase in amount, extension of term or 
revolving credit, after this publication date. The settlement date 
of short-term credit may not, under any circumstances, exceed 
12 (twelve) months from the publication date of this notice.

d. Granting of credit to the real economy (Notice n.º 10/2020)

The most recent economic developments, marked by the sharp 
decline in the price of oil and by the impact of Covid-19 on the 
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world’s economies, call for a strengthening of rules for granting 
credit by banking financial institutions to domestic producers of 
essential goods whose national production still does not meet 
domestic demand, in line with Presidential Decree no. 23/19 of 
14 January passing the Regulations for the Commercial Chain of 
Basic Staples and Other Priority Goods of National Origin, which 
limits the importing of certain products so as to prioritize the 
consumption of local products.

This instrument revoked Notice no. 4/2019 of 3 April and Notice 
no. 7/2019 of 7 October, refining the regulatory discipline for 
the granting of credit by banking financial institutions for the 
production of essential goods with supply deficits in national 
production, raw materials and investments needed to be 
produced in Angola, whose investments include the acquisition 
of technology, machinery and equipment.

Note that the range of products considered essential was 
expanded, whose financial institutions should reinforce the 
granting of credit so as to leverage the domestic economy. 
Among others, these include the following:

• Rice;

• Poultry farming, cattle farming, goat farming, pig breeding 
and derivatives;

• Beverages, including juices;

• Cement;

• Coffee and its derivatives;

• Packaging;

• Beans and their derivatives;

• Tropical fruit;

• Vegetables;

• Milk and its derivatives;

• Wood and its derivatives;

• Commercial fishing, fish farming and all activities related to 
the fisheries industry;

• Soap and detergents;

• Common salt.

Along these lines, under these regulations, banking financial 
institutions should encourage and prioritize credit transactions 
involving agricultural cooperatives and small and medium-sized 
enterprises (SMEs); furthermore, for transactions to grant credit 
to the economy, the nominal interest rate and fees may not 
exceed 7.5% (seven point five per cent) per year, while expenses 
payable to the Credit Guarantee Fund are added to the cost in 
question if the customer requests a public guarantee.

The credit balance at the closing of each year per banking financial 
institution pursuant to this notice and Notices no. 4/19 and no. 
7/19 of 3 April and 7 October, respectively, must be equivalent 
to at least 2.5% (two point five per cent) of the total net assets 
shown on the balance sheet on 31 December of the prior year.   
                             
e. Requirements and procedures for the Special Financial 
Institutions Registry - Authorisation for the Performance of 
Duties of Corporate Board Members. (Notice n.º 11/2020)

This notice stems from the need to refine the requirements 
and procedures for the special registry of financial institutions, 
branch offices, local offices in Angola, financial institutions 
headquartered abroad and members of corporate and 
managing boards, based on the grounds for authorising them 
to carry out activities in the Angolan financial system.

With regard to the individual suitability assessment for the 
performance of duties, it is now necessary to continuously 
ensure the sound and prudent management of financial 
institutions, specifically with a view to safeguarding the 
strength and soundness of the Angolan financial system 
and the interests of its customers, depositors, investors and 
other creditors. As such, in gauging whether a given person is 
eligible to serve as a member of the management bodies, the 
regulatory requirements for the performance of his/her duties 
are assessed from the standpoint of competency, professional 
experience and qualifications, independence and readiness.

Institutions are obliged to request that Banco Nacional de Angola 
register designated applicants, and must establish a clear and 
rigorous internal policy for selecting and evaluating the suitability 
of their corporate board members, in a concrete and objective 
manner, in individual and collective terms, by drawing up reports 
justifying the chosen persons, who must monitor the request for 
authorisation for the performance of duties.

f. Custodial fee applicable to excess reserves of commercial 
banks deposited at BNA. (Instruction n.º 14/2020)

This instruction was published for the purpose of setting a 
custodial fee to be charged by Banco Nacional de Angola for the 
excess reserves of commercial banks. 

In this case, excess reserves related to the mandatory reserves 
of banking financial institutions are divided into two levels:

i. level exempt from the custodial fee, corresponding to AOA 
3,000,000,000.00 (three billion kwanzas); and

ii. level subject to the custodial fee, corresponding to the 
balance of excess reserves net of the above amount.



40

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

The custodial fee payable by each financial institution is 0.1% 
(zero point one per cent) per day, calculated against the daily 
closing balance of their free reserves deposited at Banco 
Nacional de Angola, minus AOA 3,000,000,000.00 (three billion 
kwanzas), which is debited from their account in the real-time 
payment system (SPTR) on the working day following that of its 
calculation.

g. Conversion of Housing Loans Granted to Individuals in 
Foreign Currency (Instruction n.º 15/2020)

The purpose of Instruction no. 15/2020 is to establish the terms 
and conditions to be observed by financial banking institutions 
when converting customer loans from foreign into domestic 
currency, and the terms and conditions for the sale of foreign 
currency by Banco Nacional de Angola to these institutions to 
hedge the exchange position resulting from this conversion.

This instruction applies to individual customers with loans in 
foreign currency for the purchase of a primary residence, who 
have no income or resources in this currency on the date of this 
instruction’s entry into force, and who wish to convert the said 
loans into domestic currency.

The instruction also requires financial institutions to contact 
their customers subject to the instruction to determine 
whether they wish to convert their loans from foreign into 
domestic currency and, based on information given by them 
on their decision, requires institutions to provide the terms and 
conditions applicable to the loan in domestic currency, including 
a simulation of the financial plan including, at minimum, the 
exchange rate, interest rate and term for repaying the financing.

Finally, the instruction establishes the obligation of considering 
the customer’s financial capacity, an extension to the term and 
other measures such as reducing the interest rate and fees, so 

as to lower customers’ effort rate, particularly when it exceeds 
40% (forty per cent), thereby reducing the risk of default on the 
financing.
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NOTICES

Number Subject Topic Publication Effective date

Notice n.º 01/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Amendment to the wording of article 5 of Notice n.º 5/18 of 17 July. 09-01-2020 09-01-2020

Notice n.º 02/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Rules and procedures for performing current invisible foreign exchange transactions by legal persons. 09-01-2020 09-01-2020

Notice n.º 03/2020 Financial System Fixed asset limit for financial institutions 28-02-2020 28-02-2020

Notice n.º 04/2020 Financial System Credit Risk Information Registry. 28-02-2020 28-02-2020

Notice n.º 05/2020 Financial System Information obligations for the marketing of dual deposits and indexed deposits. 28-02-2020 28-02-2020

Notice n.º 06/2020 Financial System Granting of credit to qualified shareholders. 10-03-2020 10-03-2020

Notice n.º 07/2020 Financial System Expansion of banking services. 02-04-2020 02-04-2020

Notice n.º 08/2020 Financial System Cyber-security policy and adoption of cloud computing. 02-04-2020 02-04-2020

Notice n.º 09/2020 Financial System Authorisation for the establishment of financial banking institutions. 02-04-2020 02-04-2020

Notice n.º 10/2020 Financial System Granting of credit to the real economy. Terms and conditions. 02-04-2020 02-04-2020

Notice n.º 11/2020 Financial System
Requirements and procedures for the Special Financial Institutions Registry. Authorisation for the Performance 
of Duties of Corporate Board Members.

21-04-2020 21-04-2020

Notice n.º 12/2020 Financial System Simplified Bank Accounts. Opening, Transacting and Closing. 27-04-2020 27-04-2020

Notice n.º 13/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Exchange policy applicable to the diamond sector. 29-04-2020 29-04-2020

Notice n.º 14/2020 Financial System Rules for Preventing and Combating Money Laundering and Terrorist Financing. 23-06-2020 23-06-2020

Notice n.º 15/2020 Financial System Pricing for services and financial products and their disclosure. 26-06-2020 26-06-2020

Notice n.º 16/2020 Circulation of Money New “Series 2000” family of the kwanza. 10-07-2020 10-07-2020

Notice n.º 17/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy
Updating and clarification of rules and procedures for payments abroad for current invisible foreign exchange transactions, 
merchandise and capital ordered by natural persons who are non-residents for exchange purposes.

03-08-2020 03-08-2020

Notice n.º 18/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Amends article 2(1) of Notice no. 8/18 of 29 November – Revokes the provisions of article 2 (1) of Notice no. 8/18 of 29 November. 12-08-2020 12-08-2020

Notice n.º 19/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Establishes the operational rules applicable to the exercise of the activity to be observed by the Credit Guarantee Fund. 21-08-2020 21-08-2020

Notice n.º 20/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Defines the operating rules applicable to the performance of activities by credit firms. 21-08-2020 21-08-2020

Notice n.º 20/2020 Financial System
Deferral of recognition of impairments for public debt securities in the Republic of Angola recorded in the balance sheets 
of financial banking institutions.

30-10-2020 30-10-2020
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INSTRUCTIONS

Number Subject Topic Publication Effective date

Instruction n.º 01/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Deadline for the performance of foreign currency sale transactions and associated exchange transactions.  10-01-2020 10-01-2020

Instruction n.º 02/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Procedures for the sale of foreign currency by companies from the oil sector. Exchange transactions on the interbank market. 30-03-2020 30-03-2020

Instruction n.º 03/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Reference exchange rates 30-03-2020 30-03-2020

Instruction n.º 04/2020 Financial System Deadline flexibility for the fulfilment of credit obligations. 30-03-2020 30-03-2020

Instruction n.º 05/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Temporary exemption on payment instrument limits for the importing of food products, medicines and biosafety materials. 30-03-2020 30-03-2020

Instruction n.º 06/2020 Monetary Policy Line for the purchase of treasury bonds. 06-04-2020 06-04-2020

Instruction n.º 07/2020 Financial System Granting of credit 18-04-2020 18-04-2020

Instruction n.º 08/2020 Financial System Simplified Bank Accounts. Setting limits for account opening and transaction. 28-04-2020 28-04-2020

Instruction n.º 09/2020 Monetary Policy Line for the purchase of treasury bonds established by Instruction no. 06/2020 of 6 April. 11-05-2020 11-05-2020

Instruction n.º 10/2020 Financial System Cybersecurity incident reporting. 29-05-2020 29-05-2020

Instruction n.º 11/2020 Financial System Annual contribution premium of financial institutions participating in the Deposit Guarantee Fund in Angola. 29-05-2020 29-05-2020

Instruction n.º 12/2020 Financial System Pricing. 06-07-2020 06-07-2020

Instruction n.º 13/2020 Financial System Functioning of the Credit Risk Information Registry. 17-07-2020 17-07-2020

Instruction n.º 14/2020 Financial System Custodial fee applicable to excess reserves of commercial banks deposited at BNA. 04-08-2020 04-08-2020

Instruction n.º 15/2020 Financial System Conversion of Housing Loans Granted to Individuals in Foreign Currency. 22-09-2020 22-09-2020

Instruction n.º 16/2020 Monetary Policy Mandatory reserves. 02-10-2020 02-10-2020

Instruction n.º 17/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Exchange transaction limits for the importing of merchandise. 15-10-2020 15-10-2020

Instruction n.º 18/2020 Financial System Coin deposit transactions at Banco Nacional de Angola. 06-11-2020 06-11-2020

Instruction n.º 19/2020 Payment system Ceilings on transactions performed in payment systems. 09-12-2020 09-12-2020
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DIRECTIVES 

Number Subject Topic Publication Effective date

Directive n.º 01/DSP/DRO 2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Disposal of properties acquired in accord and satisfaction. 14-02-2020 14-02-2020

Directive n.º 02/DSB/2020 Financial System Temporary change of deadlines for reporting information via the Financial Institutions Portal (PIF). 27-03-2020 27-03-2020

Directive n.º 02/DSB/DRO/2020 Financial System Guide with recommendations for managing non-productive restructured exposures and assets executed in lieu of payment. 08-05-2020 08-05-2020

Directive n.º 03/DSB/DRO/2020 Financial System Temporary change of deadlines for reporting information via the Financial Institutions Portal. 28-05-2020 28-05-2020

Directive n.º 01/DMA/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Registration of foreign currency purchase and sale transactions in the FXGO platform. 17-06-2020 17-06-2020

Directive n.º 02/DMA/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Foreign currency purchase and sale auctions. 17-06-2020 17-06-2020

Directive n.º 03/DMA/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Indicative purchase and sale exchange rates submitted by financial banking institutions via the Bloomberg FXGO platform (AOA-BGN). 26-06-2020 26-06-2020

Directive n.º 01/DSI/DFI/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Statistical information of mobile payment services. 16-07-2020 16-07-2020

Directive n.º 04/DMA/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Mandatory reserve calculation and compliance requirements. 06-10-2020 06-10-2020

Directive n.º 01/DSB/2020 Foreign Exchange Policy Appraisal of properties. 30-10-2020 30-10-2020

Directive n.º 05/DIF/DRO/2020 Financial System Reporting of statistical information on banking agents. 24-11-2020 24-11-2020



WATER. 
ONE OF ANGOLA’S GREAT RICHES.
As a natural resource with great potential, the water sector in Angola offers many investment 
opportunities. Whether in the fundamental expansion and optimisation of distribution networks, 
in hydroelectric projects or in the marketing of mineral waters, this is a sector with a future. Angola’s 
water resources form one of the largest hydrographic basins on the African continent and can 
contribute significantly to the country’s economic and social development.
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4.1. SEGMENTATION PROFILE  
Banco Keve’s sales network underwent a major overhaul, with 
new measures and procedures to respond to customers in the 
extraordinary context of the global Covid-19 pandemic. To make 
this possible, the Bank invested in alternative operating models 
to continue to provide services to individual, institutional 
and corporate customers efficiently and without significant 
interruptions.

In order to streamline and improve its banking products and 
services, and to better assist its customers, Banco Keve’s 
sales area has been divided into three segments (DGE - Large 
Enterprise Division, DRC - Sales Network Division and DPR - 
Private Banking Division) that work with different customers, 
fostering a closer relationship with them.

The main segmentation criteria are as follows:

Large Enterprise Division
• Corporate groups or companies (starting at a certain sales 

level);

• Groups of corporate state entities, associations, foundations 
and public institutes;

Sales Network Division
• Retail banking – individual customers;

• Small and medium-sized enterprises whose characteristics 
do not match the Large Enterprise Division;

Private Banking Division
• Private individual customers (freelance professionals, 

entrepreneurs and top private).

Under this organisational model, Banco Keve’s 2020 turnover 
was AOA 229.1 billion, up 6% year-over-year.

4.2. LARGE ENTERPRISES
The year 2020 brought new challenges to the segment in 
relations with corporate customers, particularly due to the 
difficult circumstances experienced by the country and the world 
because of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. However, throughout 
2020, the depreciation of the kwanza, the restrictions imposed 
by the Covid-19 pandemic and the low price of oil due to weak 
production required meticulous management of the foreign 
currency supply. This fact, coupled with new rules for the payment 
of imports, caused many companies to begin experiencing 
liquidity difficulties in domestic currency.

In 2020, the number of customers in this segment grew 7% 
compared to 2019, for a total of 14,856. In terms of customer 
resources, the large enterprise segment totalled AOA 44,697 
million in 2020, down AOA 898.7 million from the previous year.

The large enterprise segment currently accounts for 36% of all 
customer funds, down 3% over the course of 2020 (39% in 2019). 

At the end of 2020, total demand deposits maintained by the 
DGE (AOA 26,248 million) accounted for around 59% of the 
segment’s total deposits, up 5% year-over-year. Term deposits 
totalled AOA 18,449 million, down AOA 2,038 year-over-year, 
primarily due to improved access to currencies over the course 
of 2020 which, together with the devaluation of the kwanza, 
required a greater allocation of kwanzas to imports in lieu of 
savings.

Customer resources Credit Turnover

105 232 917 229 055 417

123 822 499

2020 Turnover

T
h

o
u

sa
n

d
s 

A
O

A

40%

12%

48%

DRC

DGE

DPR

57 582 650  
45 595 107 44 697 030

 125 133 315

 

116 619 857

 

123 822 499

2018 2019 2020

Total DepositsDGE

DGE Deposits
(Thousand AOA)

  
33 313 953

 25 107 806

24 268 697

20 487 301

26 247 834

18 449 196

2018 2019 2020

Deposits/Large Enterprises
(Thousand AOA)

Demand deposit Term deposit



47

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

With regard to resources by currency, deposits in domestic 
currency for the large enterprise segment totalled AOA 29,719 
million, representing a weight of 66% (70% in 2019). Even so, 
deposits in domestic currency were down AOA 2,234 million 
year-over-year in 2020.

The decline in this segment’s deposits in domestic currency was 
due to the current economic circumstances, reflected by a lack 
of currency in the domestic market. The devaluation of domestic 
currency over the year and economic hardships associated with 
the pandemic were the main reasons for this decline.

4.3. SALES AND PRIVATE NETWORK
The sales network segment, due to scope, continued to make 
small and medium-sized enterprises and individual customers 
highly important throughout 2020. However, the Sales Network 
Division (DRC) was down in absolute terms by AOA 4,148 million 
year-over-year, with total deposits on the order of AOA 53,172 
million. 

The private segment has continued to rise in recent years, 
reaching a total of AOA 25,952 million in 2020.

The sales network had a total of 225,270 customers in 2020, 
accounting for 99% of the Bank’s total customers. The private 
segment, because of its characteristics, is much more limited 
in terms of customers (around 320), although its power and 
volume of deposits make it highly important.

In terms of different types of deposits, demand deposits are the 
most common in the sales network, totalling AOA 39,809 million. 
Demand deposits in this segment were down around 8% year-
over-year, while term deposits had the same trend, down 4% 

year-over-year. This performance in term deposits reflects the 
difficulties customers have experienced due to a lack of liquidity 
for savings because of the country’s economic situation.

In the private segment, demand deposits have the greatest 
weight, totalling AOA 15,903 million. This amount accounts for 
61% of deposits in the private segment, clearly demonstrating the 
greater need for the immediate provision of customer resources.

Domestic currency continues to be more common in deposits at 
Banco Keve as well as in the sales network segment. Around 84% 
of the sales network’s deposits are in domestic currency, totalling 
AOA 44,507 million in 2020. 

 

2018 2019 2020

Total Large EnterprisesDomestic Currency

Deposits in domestic currency/Large Enterprises
(Thousand AOA)

49 859 254

31 952 668 29 718 974

57 582 650
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125 133 315 116 619 857 123 822 499
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Total DepositsDRC

Network Deposits
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116 619 857
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Private Deposits
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2018 2019 2020

Network Deposits
(Thousand AOA)

Demand Deposit Term Deposit

42 378 098 43 351 621
39 808 573

13 364 004
13 773 703 13 969 842
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Demand Deposit Term Deposit

2 271 431 3 092 905

9 127 433 10 610 381
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In the private segment, deposits in domestic currency totalled 
76%, up around 116% compared to 2019. This was primarily 
due to the strong component of indexed deposits comprising 
private segment resources. Foreign currency saw growth of 73% 
year-over-year, due to the exchange rate fluctuation over the 
course of 2020.

4.4. ELECTRONIC BANKING AND                   
         DELIVERY CHANNELS

DELIVERY CHANNELS

Branches
The Bank has 60 commercial units comprised of a network 
of branches, business centres and private banking. We have 
locations in every province and provide services to more than 
227,118 customers. A large number of these units are located in 
the province of Luanda.

The bank has a policy of continuously opening commercial units 
which, in turn, are managed based on an assessment of the 
business potential of specific customers or areas.

Automated Teller Machines (ATMs)
At the end of 2020, the Bank had a total of 127 ATMs, up only 
5.8% over 2019 (+7 ATMs). The bank’s ATMs are distributed over 
25 municipalities, representing a market share of -39% (9th place) 
compared to a total of 3,148 ATMs registered in the banking 
system.

2018 2019 2020 Var.

N.º of ATM 118 120 127 5,8%

N.º of Municipalities 41 41 25 -39%

Only 116 of the registered 127 ATMs are active, representing an 
activity rate on the order of 91.3%. In general terms, the nation’s 
banking system had a total of 3,148 automated teller machines 
in 2020, with an activity rate of 96.3%. Growth was 0.1% over the 
number of automated teller machines registered in 2019 (3,125). 
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Automatic Payment Terminals (APTs)
In 2020, the Bank saw a reduction of -9% in the number of APTs, 
resulting in a total of 1,038 payment terminals (1,136 in 2020). 
The level of activity was around 55% (measured by the ratio of 
active versus registered APTs), below the activity level of the 
banking system for all of 2020 (the level of activity of the banking 
system was 67% at the end of 2020).

Debit (Multicaixa) and VISA cards
 With regard to debit cards (Multicaixa), the bank had a total of 
90,777 valid cards issued, of which only 65,972 were active in 
status (70% of activity). An analysis of the ratio of active debit 
cards versus valid cards shows that the Bank’s average was the 
same as that of the network (down -7%) over the course of 2020.

The national network had a total of 6,790,966 valid debit 
cards, of which 5,064,270 are active. These amounts show that 
network cards had an activity rate of 75% in 2020.
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The transition to complete integration was successfully 
completed in 2020, allowing customers to access all VISA card 
transactions and their associated terms and conditions (e.g. 
credit limit, payment method and expiry date) via Ikeve.

The transition to complete integration was successfully 
completed in 2020, allowing customers to access all VISA card 
transactions and their associated terms and conditions (e.g. 
credit limit, payment method and expiry date) via Ikeve.

Internet Banking (ikeve) and Keve SMS
There were 21,064 Internet banking contracts signed in 2020, 
including 5,851 for companies and 15,213 for individuals. 
Transactions by individuals and companies were up 27% 
compared to 2019.

ELECTRONIC BANKING STATISTICS

2017 2018 2019 2020 Var. 19/18

HomeBanking

N.º of Contracts 1/

Companies 2.918 5.197 729 5.851 703%

Individuals 43.153 10.314 15.844 15.213 -4%

Total 46.071 15.511 16.573 21.064 27%

N.º of Transactions 3.109 17.602 47.040 10.034 -79%

Keve SMS

N.º of Contracts 1/ 41.856 10.498 137.890 145.739 6%

Keve Tablet

Contract N.º 9.753 4.564 24.498 2.051 -92%

1/ Contracts in force on the 31st of December 2020

With regard to Keve SMS, there were 145,739 contracts signed 
in 2020, up 6% over 2019. The number of Keve Tablet contracts 
signed was 2,051 in December 2020 (annual decrease of 92%).
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SERVICES PROVIDED BY iKEVE AND KEVE

iKeve Keve SMS Keve Mobile

• Equity • Consultations: • Equity

• Balance Consultation • Simple Integrated Position • Balance Consultation

• Cheque request • Complete Integrated Position • Cheque request

• Account-to-account transfers • Account-to-account Transfers • Account-to-account transfers

• Interbank transfers • Interbank transfers

• Maturity schedule • Maturity schedule

• Simple Integrated Position • Simple Integrated Position

• Complete Integrated Position • Complete Integrated Position

• Accounts • Accounts

• Customise • Withdrawal without Card

• Messages • Payments for Services

• Electronic Documents • Payments by Reference

• Debit Authorisations • Exchange

• Credit cards • Financing Simulation

• Withdrawal without Card • Establishment of Savings

• Financing Simulation

• File Manager

• Payments for Services

• Payments by Reference

• Foreign Currency

• Establishment of Savings



CORN. 
ONE OF ANGOLA’S GREAT RICHES.
Considered Angola’s “gold”, maize is in great demand for final consumption, 
livestock and processing industries. Its cultivation in Angola benefits from the 
great agricultural potential for grain production and is fundamental for balancing 
the balance of payments, helping to boost and diversify the domestic supply of 
this grain.



• RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY AND ORGANIZATION

• CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY RISK

• LIQUIDITY RISK

• MARKET RISK

• OPERATIONAL RISK

• COMPLIANCE RISK

RISK MANAGEMENT

5
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5.1. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY AND         
         ORGANIZATION
The 2020 financial year demonstrated the paramount 
importance of financial institutions in properly managing risks, 
and was marked by consolidation and soundness in the Bank’s 
risk management system and the reporting of all information 
requested under the supervisory authority’s New Regulatory 
Package. In addition, a detailed action plan was prepared 
describing measures to be implemented to comply with rules on 
regulatory own funds.

Risk management at Banco Keve is based on constantly identifying 
and analysing exposure to different risks (credit risk, market risk, 
liquidity risk, operational risk and others), and putting together a 
detailed action plan describing the measures to be implemented 
to comply with rules on regulatory own funds.

The Board of Directors and Executive Committee, as the Bank’s 
governing boards, have the responsibility for and shared 
understanding of business risks and the degree of risk tolerance 
or appetite. At the Executive Committee, the Risk Office (GRI) is 

overseen by one Executive Director, without direct responsibility 
for the commercial divisions.

It is through this intervening structure of the Bank’s governance 
that a framework and robust control mechanisms are 
established for the full exercise and with its own competences, 
under its supervision, to guarantee structures, with control and 
processes that aim to ensure and monitor, from a perspective 
of current and strategic management, the risk of the Bank’s 
activity.

The Bank has a centralised and independent structural unit 
for analysing and controlling risk, in accordance with best 
international practices, with the Risk Office (GRI) responsible for 
monitoring all global risks. 

Following are the various structural bodies involved in the 
comprehensive management of capital and risks, and their 
respective responsibilities, by three lines of defence.

The functional scheme of these lines of defence is as follows:

The model is also characterised by three effective lines of 
defence for risk management and control, which significantly 
improves the notification, control and management of risks, 
clarifying essential rules and responsibilities in this regard to 
constantly monitor risk management initiatives.

• Board of Directors and Executive Committee: establishes 
the risk appetite and strategy, and approves the framework, 
methodologies, policies, processes and responsibilities in 
relation to risk management:

• Monthly management information, detailed in the 
Liabilities and Assets Management Committee;

• Meetings of the Credit Committee;

• Monitoring of credit risk exposure and concentration of the 
credit portfolio;

• Monthly monitoring of the stock of provisions, shown in the 
monthly Financial Report;

•  Board of Auditors: oversees institutional administration, 
ensuring the reliability of accounting records, among others.

RISK MANAGEMENT CYCLE AND POLICY

The Bank’s Risk Management Policy has a conservative profile to 
safeguard long-term institutional solvency and sustainability, 
and to follow commonly accepted risk management practices, 
including recommendations from regulatory bodies.

This policy is based on the following set of structural principles:

• Conservatism: the Bank’s goal is to adequately and prudently 
manage the portfolio of risks to which it is exposed, using 
stricter assumptions to ensure that sufficient capital is 
allocated to each risk to cover losses from extremely adverse 
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scenarios, thereby preserving the Bank’s financial value and 
capital;

• Independence:  the degree of risk exposure should be 
assessed and monitored by an organisational structure 
which is independent from other such structures at the Bank 
which assume risks, although the latter should still assess 
and monitor as well, within the scope of their powers and 
duties;

• Review: since the Bank’s working environment is constantly 
changing, the Risk Management Policy should be periodically 
reviewed to adapt it to new characteristics and to incorporate 
new information and methodologies, whether imposed 
by supervisory authorities or by the institution’s goals for 
systematic improvement;

• Cooperation: the ultimate goal of risk management is to 
create conditions that improve decision-making capacity at 
the Bank’s various structural units, in order to minimise the 
impact of adverse events on its results. As such, all Divisions 
and Offices should cooperate in this process;

• Integration: risk management should be part of the Bank’s 
daily routine, as well as planning its strategy and goals.

IDENTIFICATION AND EVALUATION OF KEY RISK CATEGORIES

The mission of Banco Keve’s Risk Office is to ensure the continuous, 
sound operation of the Bank’s risk management system, by 
developing and fostering a culture of effective risk management in 
all of its organisational units.

Along these lines, the Risk Office does the following:

The Risk Office adheres to the management cycle for all relevant 
risks to the Bank’s business, supported by the most appropriate 
processes and tools, in accordance with the Bank’s risk profile 
and guidelines from Angolan regulatory authorities and key 
domestic entities, thereby ensuring that the risk strategy is 
fulfilled and supports the functioning of the system of limits in 
place.

5.2. CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY RISK
Pursuant to Notice no. 03/2016 of 22 June on risk governance, 
financial institutions should have risk management functions, 
policies and processes to identify, assess, monitor, control and 
provide information on credit risk.

As such, Banco Keve’s credit risk management process is 
characterised by four cycles. The cycles follow guidance from 
Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) in Notice no. 9/2016 of 16 
May establishing prudential limits for major risks. This notice 
was followed by the publication of Instruction no. 12/2016 of 
August concerning the calculation and regulatory own funds 
requirements for credit risk and counterparty credit risk, and 
Instruction no. 13/2016 of 8 August concerning the provision 
of information on the regulatory own funds requirement for 
credit risk and counterparty credit risk, both regulating the 
technical specificities and sharing of information for calculating 
requirements. Finally, Instruction no. 03/2017 of 30 January 
determined the provision of information on prudential limits 
for major risks.

According to Notice 2/2013, credit risk is the risk of non-
fulfilment of contractually established financial commitments 
by a borrower or a counterparty in the transactions.

Credit processes are primarily monitored, analysed and 
managed by the Credit Division, with some involvement of the 
Credit Monitoring, Collections and Recovery Office (GMR), in 
cases of default. In structural terms, this function is activated 
and addressed by the Credit Committee twice per month.

ANALYSIS ON THE ADEQUACY AND EFFECTIVENESS OF 
THE CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
Individual and corporate credit transactions are approved 
following the principles and procedures of the Bank’s credit 
regulations, approved by Service Order - CRD/0044.

The credit decision-making process includes both the individual 
and corporate segments, with four underlying levels of decision-
making according to the nature of the transaction, its amount, 

Identification

Assessment

Risk
Response

Monitoring
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its term, the exposure of the customer/business group and 
the degree of risk, as laid out in the Credit Committees and 
Commission Regulations – EFU/0345.

In the wake of directives from the regulatory authority on risk 
monitoring and prudential oversight, together with other 
global risk management needs, a framework was developed 
and approved by Service Order - 210/2016 for the monthly 
monitoring and oversight of credit risk, with overall information 
on the customer credit portfolio from several standpoints, and 
information on portfolio quality, concentration and profitability.

In this regard, the credit portfolio’s performance is analysed 
regularly to establish monitoring mechanisms tailored to 
changes in the risk levels of certain customers and their respective 
transactions, foreseeing potential situations of difficulty and 
implementing preventive measures for risks in progress.

Problem loans, provision coverage ratios, write-offs and 
recoveries are also analysed monthly. Within the scope of credit 
risk control activities, a number of different reports are produced 
and distributed to the Executive Committee::

• Analysis of developments in overdue loans

• Analysis of developments in customer loan portfolio

• Control of concentration limits

5.3. LIQUIDITY RISK
As described in point 3.9 of Instruction no. 19/2016 of 30 
August, liquidity risk is defined as the institution’s inability to 
fulfil its responsibilities when they become enforceable.

Liquidity management at the Bank is the responsibility of the 
Trading Room, combined with the monitoring process assigned 

to GRI. In structural terms, liquidity management is monitored 
by the Assets and Liabilities Management Committee on a 
monthly basis. In this committee, liquidity is monitored via 
schedules of cumulative gaps and contingencies, the financing 
structure of borrowed capital and the residual maturities of 
assets and liabilities.

Similarly, changes in the Bank’s liquidity are analysed weekly 
by the Bank, together with monthly and fortnightly reporting 
to Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA). This entails an analysis by 
currency and by maturity gap schedules, allowing any disparities 
to be quickly found, together with the dynamic management 
of their hedging policies. This information is broken down by 
different sources of financing, permanent monitoring of any 
levels of concentration, as well as the different assets.

This process is reinforced from a control standpoint by BNA 
regulatory indicators, namely the liquidity schedules in Instruction 
no. 19/2016, also ensuring compliance with observation and 
liquidity ratios in terms of capital adequacy rules.

Risk management is the responsibility of GRI, which has a 
balance sheet management application which can project 
balance sheet cash flows to keep closer tabs on liquidity 
management reports.

ANALYSIS ON THE ADEQUACY AND EFFECTIVENESS OF THE 
MARKET AND LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
Market risk is monitored by GRI, as well as being analysed 
in Assets and Liabilities Management Committee meetings, 
which are held monthly. Limits with regard to the management 
of market risk are proposed by DMF within the scope of the 
Trading Room strategic plan, which includes policies for own 
portfolio management, per the Trading Room Competency Limit 
Regulations, approved by Service Order - POD/0071/2015 and 
Service Order - 210/2016.

Weekly committees are also held to strengthen the bank’s 
liquidity and monitor it in a timely manner.

5.4. MARKET RISK
Pursuant to article 3 (15) of Notice no. 07/2016 on Risk 
Governance, Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) defines market 
risk as risk originating from adverse changes in the prices of 
bonds, shares or merchandise, including exchange and interest 
rate risk. Market risk is monitored by GRI, as well as being 
analysed in Assets and Liabilities Management Committee 
meetings, which are held monthly.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
In article 3(15)(a) of Notice no. 07/2016 on Risk Governance, 
foreign exchange risk is defined as risk originating from changes 
in exchange rates resulting from exchange positions from 
financial instruments denominated in other currencies.

Managing foreign exchange risk is the responsibility of GRI. 
In structural terms, foreign exchange risk management is 
handled by the Liabilities and Assets Management Committee, 
which meets monthly. Within the scope of this committee, 
the monitoring of foreign exchange risk includes an analysis 
of trends in exchange rates, an analysis of financial assets and 
liabilities in foreign and domestic currencies, and the foreign 
exchange position.

In addition, the Trading Room prepares a daily Financial 
Dashboard which calculates and reports to the Executive 
Committee on the balance sheet by currency, position ratios 
and exchange exposure.
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INTEREST RATE RISK
RIn article 3(15)(b) of Notice no. 07/2016 on Risk Governance, 
interest rate risk is defined as movements in interest rates 
resulting from mismatches in the amount, maturities or refixing 
periods of interest rates observed in financial instruments with 
interest receivable and payable.

Interest rate risk management is monitored by GRI. In structural 
terms, interest rate risk management is handled by the Liabilities 
and Assets Management Committee, which meets monthly. In 
this regard, interest rate risk monitoring includes an analysis of 
changes in interest rates and accumulated repricing gaps. 

The Bank also monitors structural interest rate risk based on 
sensitivity analyses of the financial margin and prudential equity 
vis-à-vis variations in interest rate curves. This assessment is 
done based on the gap analysis technique, according to which all 
assets and liabilities sensitive to interest rate fluctuations and not 
associated with trading portfolios are distributed according to their 
maturities. Likewise, the Trading Room of the Financial Markets 
Division (DMF) prepares a Quarterly Interest Rate Report, where 
the gaps between borrowing and deposit rates are analysed.

INTEREST RATE IMPACT ON REGULATORY OWN FUNDS 
AND FINANCIAL MARGIN
Regarding the impact of interest rates on regulatory own funds 
and financial margin, Banco Keve continuously evaluates its degree 
of exposure to interest rate risk in the banking portfolio and – in 
the event of a potential shock with a decline of 20% (twenty per 
cent) or more in the institution’s regulatory own funds within one 
working day – notifies Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA). 

The Bank’s exposure to interest rate risk is mitigated by reducing 
gaps between time buckets in relation to interest rate sensitive 
items.

5.5. OPERATIONAL RISK
Pursuant to Notice no. 07/2016 of 22 June on risk governance, 
financial institutions should have risk management functions, 
policies and processes to identify, assess, monitor, control and 
provide information on operational risk.

Along these lines, Banco Keve’s operational risk management 
process is characterised by four cycles. The cycles follow guidance 
from Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) in Instruction no. 28/2016 
of 16 November concerning operational risk governance.

In parallel with the above, the Risk Office has developed 
various activities aimed at materialising the operational 
risk management function, i.e. as the unit responsible for 
monitoring operational risk, GRI uses specific tools for the 
timely monitoring of risks found, actions taken, those in charge 
and the current situation, together with the performance of key 
risk indicators (KRIs) and records of losses or failures.

In 2019, to materialise its role in the area of operational risk, 
Banco Keve used the following operational risk management 
tools, per the BNA requirement laid out in point 3.2 of Instruction 
no. 28/2016 of 16 November on operational risk governance:

Operational risk is defined as the risk arising from the inadequacy 
of internal processes, people or systems, the potential occurrence 
of internal and external fraud, as well as external events. It 
includes information systems and compliance risk. There are 
underlying operational risks in any activity carried out; it is not 
limited to certain areas of the Bank (for further detail, see Notice 
no. 2/2013 of 19 April). 

In accordance with Service Orders no. 0236/2017 and 300/2017, 
operational risk management is the responsibility of GRI; the level 
of monitoring is described in the Operational Risk Management 
System (SGRO), which includes implementing, supervising 
and developing a recording and reporting tool for operational 
risk management events. In addition, there is a set of key risk 
indicators (KRIs) to monitor changes in risk factors against 
established limits to consolidate the matrix of risks and controls. 

All employees are responsible for managing and controlling 
operational risks in their sphere of activity. The Bank’s Risk Office 
is in charge of identifying, assessing and monitoring operational 
risks associated with the Bank’s activity.

The methodology implemented for recording and reporting 
events, conceived to prioritize operational risk management 
at every level of the hierarchical structure, provides immediate 
information on the respective hierarchy of all events which have 
occurred, and the corresponding measures taken.

Database for
Recording losses

All employees should notify GRI of any operating losses 
occurring in their respective areas. Loss events are 
subsequently analysed by GRI technicians and monitored 
by Process Owners who, if so deemed, will activate 
mitigation measures based on these events. The database 
of operating loss events will reflect the level of risk within 
the Bank.

Key Risk Indicators (KRI’s)

Indicators for regularly monitoring the level of risk in 
processes against predefined limits should be identified 
and monitored. Whenever a KRI exceeds its limit, based on 
an assessment by the Process Owner, suitable mitigation 
measures should be proposed and process control should 
be strengthened. The Risk Office will coordinate the KRI 
monitoring process.
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LOSS EVENT DATABASE:
Below is a flowchart for the process for managing operational 
risk events:

In accordance with the above flowchart, the process for collating 
losses is one of the tools used for managing operational risk. 
As a means of controlling the Operational Risk Management 
Model, the recording of operational risk loss events should 
include information on events which have occurred, driving the 
processes of identifying and monitoring operational risk.

5.6. COMPLIANCE RISK

KEY DEVELOPMENTS IN 2020
• Assessment of the Risk of Money Laundering, Terrorist 

Financing and Sanctions

Due to the pandemic, the process of completing the Bank’s 
proposed risk assessment last year experienced some delays. 
It is currently in its final phase, led by the consulting firm 
KPMG Angola – Audit, Tax, Advisory, S.A. Achieving this goal 
is particularly relevant and important under the current 
circumstances, not only because the international financial 
crisis has heightened concerns among financial institutions 
in mitigating compliance, operational and reputation risks, 
but also because of the regulatory challenges imposed on the 
nation’s financial sector, namely Law no. 5/20 of 27 January, 
combined with Notice no. 14/20 of 22 June and Instruction no. 
20/20.

• E-Learning on the Prevention of Money Laundering, Terrorist 
Financing and Sanctions

Preparing a training initiative on the prevention of money 
laundering, terrorist financing and sanctions is part of the 
obligation of ongoing training under regulations handed down 
by the competent authorities. In 2020, training via e-learning 
was chosen for all of the Bank’s employees covering theory, 
exercises, post-training knowledge evaluation and certificates 
for those who passed. 

For the Board of Directors and Executive Committee, an on-site 
workshop was prepared on this subject, also to be led by KPMG 
Angola – Audit, Tax, Advisory, S.A.

• Automated transaction filter

A new tool was acquired last year, an AML/TF solution developed 
by ASSECO to filter customers and transactions, which is being 
integrated with Accuity’s list of international sanctions to 
automate the process. DSI continues to work on and follow this 
process, with the need to evaluate potential modules of this tool 
to meet other needs involving the execution of tasks allocated 
to GCO:

a)  Description and functioning of the Office
The Compliance Office’s main mission is to work with other 
areas to ensure the adequacy, soundness and functioning of 
the institution’s Internal Control System, seeking to mitigate 
compliance risks in accordance with the complexity of the 
business, as well as disseminate a culture of control to comply 
with existing internal and external laws and regulations. It also 
aims to raise awareness on the prevention of activities and 
conduct which may entail compliance risks to the image of the 
institution, such as money laundering, terrorist financing and 
the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction.

The Compliance Office is divided into the following two types of 
compliance risk:

• Regulatory compliance; and

• AML/TF – Anti-money laundering and terrorist financing.

b)  Regulatory compliance
Given the legislative and regulatory changes, the Compliance 
Office keeps the institution updated on such changes through 
daily consultations of the websites of banking sector supervisory 
authorities, searches in the LexLink tool providing various types 
of information on laws and regulations, and its subscription 
to Angola’s Imprensa Nacional to keep track of laws and rules 
published in the Official Gazette (Diário da República). 

After surveying and identifying legislative and regulatory 
amendments, the Compliance Office prepares a summary of 
the norm, identifies the areas which it impacts, and provides 
guidance for drawing up, updating and monitoring the 
implementation or elimination of the internal norm. 

As part of the bank’s obligation to provide information, 
mandatory reports are prepared and sent at the required 
frequency to supervisory authorities via CONTIF, SSIF or email. 

In this vein, the Compliance Office monitors the sending of 
these reports through a table with a description of the type 
of report, frequency, channel, area in charge, designation and 
number of the norm establishing the obligation. Evidence of 
these submissions at this stage is still obtained via emails 
with printscreens or emails sent with the knowledge of the 
Compliance Office.

Each month, the Compliance Office prepares an activity report, 
whose information is compiled quarterly by the Planning and 
Control Office and forwarded to the managing board. The 
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Compliance Office is also responsible for sending an annual self-
assessment questionnaire to Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA), 
pursuant to Instruction no. 20/20, and a Cash Transaction 
Statement (DTN) report to the Financial Intelligence Unit (UIF).

Last year, the Compliance Office implemented a Compliance 
Audit whose purpose is to acutely monitor internal and external 
regulations with regard to the Bank.

c) Customer transaction monitoring
The account monitoring process has a risk-based approach 
to troubleshoot, manage and mitigate the risk of money 
laundering and potential fraud. It is currently being reviewed by 
KPMG Angola – Audit, Tax, Advisory, S.A., as part of the process of 
assessing the risk of money laundering, terrorist financing and 
sanctions, in order to identify any shortcomings and strengthen 
control.

d)  Analysis and investigation
The suspicious transaction analysis and investigation module 
has been configured for anti-money laundering/terrorist 
financing technical analysts, focusing on KYC – Know Your 
Customer and KYT – Know Your Transaction which, following an 
alert generated by the ARGUS application, creates an individual 
process including various measures to gauge the reason for the 
alert and to determine if it is a positive alert or false alarm. Once 
the enquires are complete, they are forwarded to the AML/TF 
supervisor, who may request a reassessment of the process by 
the technical analyst, or submit it for a decision of the AML/
TF Officer, within the scope of money laundering, terrorist 
financing and the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, 
with any suspicious transactions reported to the Financial 
Intelligence Unit (UIF).



DIAMONDS. 
ONE OF ANGOLA’S GREAT RICHES.
Diamond exploration in Angola, which is over a century old, has made the country one of the 
world’s biggest producers in the sector, currently producing about 8 million carats of diamonds 
per year. The modernisation of Angola’s geological-mining activities will open new paths for 
Angolan diamonds, attracting new investment and generating direct and indirect employment.
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6.1. PROFILE OF HUMAN CAPITAL
Despite the 2020 pandemic, the Bank’s strategy of sustainably 
developing and growing the institution’s human resources saw a 
slight uptick from 576 to 582 employees. Note, however, that the 
number of employees remained unchanged in 2018 and 2019.

CONTRACT STATUS 
Of the 582 employees belonging to Banco Keve’s staff at the end 
of December 2020, 529 were permanent staff with open-ended 
employment agreements, as shown in the following graph.

DISTRIBUTION BY GENDER
Currently, the Bank’s employees are 58% male and 42% female. 
The institution intends to bridge the gap in this data. When 
comparing the distribution by gender in 2019 and 2020, one 
can see that there is still room for improvement.

Employees by Gender 2018 2019 2020

Male 330 333 336

Female 246 243 246

Total Employees 576 576 582

DISTRIBUTION BY AGE GROUP AND MARITAL STATUS
With regard to the age range, a concentration exists in the age 
group of 24-34 years. The average age was 35 in 2020, as in the 
previous year. 35% of the bank’s employees were married, and 
65% were unmarried.

2018 2019 2020

<24 years 14 9 7

24 and 34 years 330 318 282

35 and 44 years 192 198 237

45 and 54 years 38 48 48

55 and 64 years 1 2 7

> 65 years 1 1 1

Total Employees 576 576 582

Changes in Human Capital

2019 576

2020 582

2018 576

2018 2019 2020

531

36
19

551

2 122

529

8 3
45

Open-ended employment agreement Fixed-term employment agreement

Independent workersTraineeship agreement

2018 2019 2020

2020

Male

Female

Male Female

330

246

333

243

336

246 42%

58%

Unmarried

Married

2020

2018

35%

65%

35

33

Average Age Marital Status
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CALCULATION OF SENIORITY
There was a slight rise in staff seniority in 2020 (employees 
serving for more than five years) compared to the data from 
2019.

EDUCATION
Over the last three years, a significant increase can be seen in 
staff with graduate degrees, together with a reduction in those 
with university and high school education, demonstrating 
higher academic qualifications among staff in general, as 
shown in the following graph.

6.2. RECRUITMENT, TURNOVER AND 
         PROMOTION
Banco Keve actively recruited in 2020, together with 
collecting and managing CVs via email, LinkedIn searches 
and recommendations. There were 28 interviews conducted, 
selection tests for applicants and interviews of a more technical 
nature with the heads of divisions, resulting in the hiring of 20 
employees: 13 trainees, 2 administrative staff and 5 technicians 
with specific experience and qualifications.

With regard to internal mobility (internal recruitment), three 
employees were transferred from other provinces to the Luanda 
Province, 11 employees from DRC to the other divisions of 
Central Services, one employee from the Credit Division to 
accounting and one employee from the Internal Auditing Office 
to the Risk Office. 

However, one should note that the recruitment of trained senior 
technicians is essential for the control, supervisory and support 
centre units, guaranteeing the quality of work produced and 
levels of expertise with a higher degree of standards. 

With regard to appointments, there were 18 professional 
promotions.

2020 APPOINTMENTS

Supervisor 1

Assistant supervisor 2

Treasurer 2

Assistant manager 2

Manager 1

Administrator 8

Departement Head 1

Secretary of the Board of Directors 1

6.3. TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT OF    
         HUMAN CAPITAL
Training at the time of hiring an employee is aimed at providing 
new staff in trainee status with organisational socialisation and an 
initial contact with the company at various levels, particularly with 
regard to restricted areas. 

Along these lines, trainees receive information on Internal 
Regulations, the (K) Manual, Organisational Culture and the Code 
of Conduct, formal guidelines on trainee experiences and practical 
training to perform daily activities in the Division to which they 
belong. 

The Bank contributes towards the qualification of its staff, 
promoting training, primarily in matters involving their respective 
area, together with issues governed by Banco Nacional de Angola 
(BNA).

Education

2018 2019 2020

9 9

Master’s

9

Basic
education

30

Bachelor’s and
postgraduate

High school

57

University
attendance

288 280 281

179
197

205

65 60

35 30

2020

2019

2018

> 5 years Up to 5 years

338

244

335

241

264

312
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Training and development of Human Capital
The Bank has developed various training activities both in 
and outside of those planned, aimed at qualifying its staff to 
enhance their personal and professional development and to 
achieve the institution’s goals for the year.

Five training sessions were taught to a wide variety of functional 
units at Banco Keve, in particular training on money laundering 
and terrorist financing.

TRAINING COMPLETED

Year
Nº of Training 

Initiatives
Nº of

Participants
Amount invested 

(AOA)

2018 39 715 63.203.637,72

2019 27 670 54.406.180,07

2020 5 745 4.290.522,00

6.4. LEGAL EMPLOYMENT RELATIONSHIP
Notwithstanding the limitations and constraints of 2020, the 
banking sector continued to grow. For this reason, staff mobility 
existed between institutions in the sector.

6.5. LOANS TO EMPLOYEES
Loans to employees are part of a set of perks and benefits 
which the Bank offers its employees in compliance with the 
corresponding Salary and Benefits Policy.

In addition to being considered benefits, they also have a positive 
influence in retaining staff, enhancing their lives and boosting 
their personal fulfilment and satisfaction through work.

2020 LOANS TO EMPLOYEES

Consumption 86% 166

Automobile 2% 3

Salary Loan 12% 24

20 12

11

20

15

10

5

0

Disciplinary
Dismissal

(Justified Grounds)

Employee 
Decision

Mutual
Agreement

Job
Abandonment

2018

2019
2020

4
7

5

18 19

3
1

12%

2%

86%

Consumption Automobile Salary Loan
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6.6. DISTRIBUTION OF HUMAN CAPITAL BY CATEGORIES

Distribution of human capital by categories

Structural Unit Abbreviation In Charge Category Total Employees

Executive Committee Advisor ACE ANTÓNIO DIREITINHO Executive Committee Advisor 1

Executive Secretariat SCR JEULINDA CIPRIANO Executive Secretary 7

Internal Auditing Office GAI ANTÓNIO JOÃO CAMBUTA Manager 8

Compliance Office GCO HELENA ISABEL LUCAS DE MORAIS Manager 7

Legal and Litigation Division DJC ARLINDO ASSUNÇÃO DE SOUSA VIEGAS NARCISO Manager 10

Planning and Control Office GPC FILIPE MIGUEL SIMAS DUARTE Manager 4

Exchange Control Office GCC WALDIR DE JESUS CAMPOS GOMES Department Head 9

Risk Office GRI PAULA CRISTINA C. L. DE PAULA DA SILVA Manager 3

Electronic Banking Division DBE CLÁUDIO CARLOS TEIXEIRA DA SILVA Department Head 9

Assets and Security Division DPS BRUNO MIGUEL DA SILVA BARRADAS Assistant Manager 56

Accounting Division DCO WILSON ALFREDO GONÇALVES MANUEL Manager 14

Credit Division DCR MÁRIO JEREMIAS NICODEMOS Manager 13

Credit Monitoring, Collections and Recovery Office GMR LEOPOLDINO DE SOUSA E SILVA Manager 8

Large Enterprise Division DGE TELMA LILIANA RIBEIRO MORESO SAMPAIO Manager 24

Marketing Division DMK MANUEL MARIA MAGALHAES AMARAL Manager 6

Financial Markets Division DMF HENRIQUE NDALU COSTA BATALHA Manager 24

Operations Division DOP JULIO MANUEL JOÃO Manager 18

Quality and Organisation Division DQO GISELA BARROS BERMUDES ANAPAZ Manager 6

Sales Network Division DRC FERNANDO PEDRO SANTOS COSTA / MARIA INÊS SANTANA Manager 326

Human Resources Division DRH ALCINA MARIA GABRIEL Manager 12

Information Systems Division DSI TATIANA F.DE C. ROSA F.FERREIRA Assistant manager 9

International and Investment Banking Division DIB CÉSAR DE ALMEIDA BETTENCOURT Assistant manager 1

Private Banking Division DPR PALMIRA DE FÁTIMA WEBBER Manager 7
22 582

*Board of Directors and Executive Committee not counted



SUGAR CANE. 
ONE OF ANGOLA’S GREAT RICHES.
Revitalisation of sugar production is one of the objectives of Angola’s new diversified and creative 
economy. With an adequate climate and abundant water resources, our country has the natural con-
ditions for the cultivation of sugar cane. As a food staple, sugar has shown great resilience and is an 
attractive investment. Its uses for other purposes, such as fuels, strengthen the product’s potential.
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7.1. FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

ASSETS
Wrapping up yet another financial year, Banco Keve had total 
assets of AOA 172.2 billion at the end of 2020. This amount was 
down AOA 4.1 billion (-2.3%) year-over-year.

This reduction in assets is primarily due to (i) the decrease in 
the securities portfolio recorded under the item “Investments at 
amortised cost”, which was down AOA 23.2 billion (-34.1%) due 
to the securities’ maturity and recording of impairment losses 

for the change in country risk by the main rating agencies, and 
(ii) the decrease in the item “Tangible assets” which, in absolute 
terms, fell AOA 1.6 billion (-10%) due to the implementation of 
IAS 29 and the recording of impairments. In short, these two 
items account for about 35% of the reduction in Assets in 2020.

It should be noted that the stock of impairments generally 
resulting from the difference between gross and net credit 
amounted to AOA 43.7 billion, due to higher impairments 
throughout 2020.

AOA Billion 2018 2019 2020 Δ%

Amount Weight Amount Weight Amount Weight

Cash and cash on hand at Central Banks 17,0 10,6% 19,3 11% 19,8 12% 3%

Cash at other Credit Institutions 10,6 6,7% 12,0 7% 12,0 7% 0%

Investments at Central Banks and Other Credit Institutions 6,0 3,8% 6,1 3% 13,9 8% 128%

Financial Assets at Fair Value (results and other comprehensive income) 0,1 0,1% 0,1 0% 0,1 0% 0%

Investments at Amortised Cost 63,7 40,0% 68,0 39% 44,8 26% -34%

Net Loans (net of impairment) 49,7 31,2% 51,3 29% 61,5 36% 20%

Tangible and Intangible Assets 9,8 6,2% 16,7 9% 15,6 9% -7%

Other Assets 2,4 1,5% 2,6 1% 4,4 3% 69%

Assets 159,4 176,2 172,2 -2,3%

In terms of their breakdown, Banco Keve’s assets are 
comprised predominantly of the items “Customer credit net of 
impairments” with a weight of 36%, followed by the securities 
portfolio, which is recorded under the item “Investments at 
amortised cost” with a weight of 26%.

LOANS
In 2020, gross loans totalled around AOA 105.2 billion which, 
minus impairments, totalled AOA 61.5 billion in net credit. This 
credit volume represents growth of 20% when compared to the 
same period in 2019.

The majority of credit was granted to the corporate segment, 
which accounts for 85% of performing loans, totalling AOA 63.8 
billion.

Cash and Cash on Hand at Central Banks

Cash at Other Credit Institutions

Investments at Central Banks and Other Credit Institutions

Financial Assets at Fair Value

(results and other comprehensive income)

Investments at Amortised Cost

Customer Credit Net of Impairments

Tangible and Intangible Assets

Other Assets

9%

3% 12%

7%

8%

26%

0%

36%



69

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Credit net of impairments totalled AOA 61.5 billion in 2020, up 
20% over 2019. Note that the Bank made efforts to reinforce its 
credit impairment stock by an additional AOA 7.0 billion, for a 
total of AOA 43.7 billion (+19%).

In 2020, the volume of overdue loans totalled AOA 29.9 billion, 
up AOA 4.4 billion between 2019 and 2020 (+17%). Given these 
levels of default, the ratio of overdue loans against total gross 
loans reached 28%, down slightly by 0.6% year-over-year.

The transformation ratio went from 73% in 2019 to 82% in 
2020, up 9% year-over-year. This performance is primarily due 
to the higher volume of credit granted, which exceeded growth 
in resources.

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
At the end of 2020, the Bank had total liabilities of AOA 141.0 
billion and equity of AOA 31.2 billion. Liabilities are primarily 
comprised of resources, of which 91% are allocated to the item 
“Customer resources and other loans”.

Over the year, liabilities decreased by AOA 5.7 billion (-4.0%), 
primarily due to a reduction in the balance of the item 
“Resources from central banks and other credit institutions” on 
the order of AOA 9.8 billion (-61%). This reduction was because 
the bank had little recourse to loans from the interbank money 
market to offset the decrease in customer resources.

AOA Billion 2018 2019 2020 Var.%

Performing Loans 50,7 62,5 75,3 21%

Corporate 42,8 53,3 63,8 20%

Private Individuals 7,7 8,5 8,6 1%

Public business sector 0,1 0,5 0,0 -100%

Interest receivable 0,1 0,1 2,9 2339%

Overdue Loans 21,2 25,5 29,9 17%

Gross Loans 71,9 88,0 105,2 20%

Credit Impairments 22,2 36,7 43,7 19%

Net Loans 49,7 51,3 61,5 20%

2018 2019 2020 Δ%

AOA Billion Amount Weight Amount Weight Amount Weight

Liabilities 139,1 87,3% 146,8 83,3% 141,0 81,9% -4,0%

Resources at Central 
Banks and Other 
Credit Institutions

3,4 2,1% 16,2 11% 6,4 4% -61%

Customer Resources 
and Other Loans

128,4 80,5% 120,6 82% 128,1 87% 6%

Provisions 3,4 2,2% 3,9 3% 4,1 3% 5%

Current Tax Liabilities 0,0 0,0% 0,1 0% 0,0 0% -100%

Subordinated 
Liabilities

0,0 0,0% 0,0 0% 0,0 0% 0%

Other Liabilities 3,9 2,5% 6,0 4% 2,4 2% -60%

Equity 20,3 12,8% 29,5 16,7% 31,2 18,1% 5,8%

Liabilities and Equity 159,4 176,2 172,2 -2,3%

71,9

88,0

105,2

2018 2019 2020

22,2

49,7 51,3

36,7

61,5

43,7

Net credit Credit impairments Gross credit

Credit (Billion AOA)

Billion
 AOA

Gross credit Resources Transformation ratio

2018 2019 2020

%
150
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0
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-100
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0
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73%
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Equity was up AOA 1.7 billion (+6%) in 2020, totalling AOA 
31.2 billion. This growth in equity was due to the distribution 
of results from the previous year, totalling AOA 2.7 billion, even 
though the current year result decreased to AOA 1.7 billion 
(-37% vs. 2019).

CUSTOMER RESOURCES AND OTHER LOANS
In 2020, Banco Keve’s resources were up around AOA 7.5 billion, 
for a total of AOA 128.1 billion. This amount was up 6% year-
over-year, justified by the high number of transactions abroad 
pending activation.

The majority of these resources are in the form of demand 
deposits, accounting for 64%, with the remaining 33% in 
the form of term deposits. In terms of resources by currency, 
deposits in domestic currency continue to account for the 
majority at AOA 93.9 billion, up 2% over 2019.

AOA Billion 2018 Weight 2019 Weight 2020 Weight Δ %

Demand Deposits 78,2 61% 71,6 59% 82,0 64% 15%

Term Deposits 47,7 37% 45,1 37% 41,9 33% -7%

Other Loans 3,2 3% 4,0 3% 4,3 3% 7%

Total Resources 129,2 100% 120,6 100% 128,1 100% 6%

   Domestic currency 110,0 85% 92,1 76% 93,9 73% 2%

Of which indexed 21,9 17% 21,0 17% 6,2 5% -70%

   Foreign currency 19,2 15% 28,5 24% 34,3 27% 20%

Total Resources 129,2 100% 120,6 100% 128,1 100% 6%

RESULTS AND PROFITABILITY

Banco Keve’s net income was AOA 1.7 billion at the end of 2020, 
down 37% from the result obtained in 2019. This lower profit 
was due, on the one hand, to a decrease in Total operating 
income from a lower supplementary margin than in 2019 and, 
on the other hand, to “Staff and other administrative costs”, 
which were 13% higher.

INCOME STATEMENT

2018 2019 2020 2020-2019

AOA Billion ABS Δ %

Interest and similar income 12,6 12,8 17,4 4,6 36%

Interest expenses and similar
charges

-3,6 -3,5 -4,5 0,1 28%

Net Interest Income 9,0 9,3 12,9 0,3 39%

Net fees and commissions
income

6,8 5,5 4,7 -0,8 -15%

Net gains / (losses) arising from
financial assets at amortized
Cost

0,8 1,5 2,4 0,9 60%

Net gains / (losses) arising from
Foreign Exchange Transactions

18,8 18,3 12,2 -6,2 -33%

Net gains / (losses) from assets
alienation

0,0 1,0 -0,5 -1,5 -147%

Other operating income -1,0 -0,4 -1,6 -1,2 276%

Total Operating Income 34,3 35,1 30,1 -5,1 -14%

Staff and other administrative
costs

14,2 15,7 17,7 2,1 13%

Other provisions 0,1 0,1 0,4 0,3 230%

Loans impairement 15,1 16,5 8,2 -8,4 -51%

Impairments for other
financial assets

0,1 0,0 2,2 2,2 100%

Profit/loss before tax 4,7 2,8 1,6 -1,2 -43%

Current income tax -0,1 -0,1 0,1 -0,2 -199%

Net Income 4,6 2,7 1,7 -1,0 -37%

Operating cashflow 20,1 19,5 12,4 -7,1 -36%

Resources at Central Banks

and Other Credit Institutions

Customer resources 

and other loans

Provisions

Current Tax Liabilities

Subordinated Liabilities

Other Liabilities

Equity

4%

87%

3% 2%
0%0%

18.1%
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The financial margin was AOA 12.9 billion, up around 39% over 
2019. This increase was due to the 36% rise in “Interest and 
similar income” and the 28% increase in “interest expenses and 
similar charges”.

With regard to “interest expenses and similar charges”, the 
growth in income is primarily due to loan interest which grew 
in value by around 57%. The increase in “interest expenses and 
similar charges” impacted the amount of associated financial 
costs, which were up around 35%.

In analysing the Total Operating Income, one can see a decrease 
compared to the numbers from 2019, with a decline of 14%. 
Banking income totalled AOA 30.1 billion, with the largest 
portion allocated to the supplementary margin, which totalled 
AOA 17.2 billion (25.9 billion in 2019). The supplementary 
margin’s performance was primarily due to exchange revenues 
of AOA 12.2 billion.

Return On Average Equity (ROAE) and Return On Average Assets 
(ROAA), were 5.6% and 1.0% in 2020, respectively. The decline in 
both indicators was primarily due to the lower net profit.

STAFF AND OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS
Total Operating Costs increased 13% from AOA 15.7 billion in 
2019 to AOA 17.7 billion in 2020. This was primarily due to 
higher costs of third-party supplies and services (+5%), staff 
costs (+6%) and amortisation (+117%).

The higher costs of third-party supplies and services was due to 
the increase in security, upkeep and repair services. The increase 
in amortisation was due to the normal process of fixed asset 
amortisation.

The 6% growth in staff expenses was due to the higher cost of 
health insurance, together with costs associated with the Social 
Security Fund.
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2020 Income Statement

12,9

17,2 30,1

-17,7

-10,3

0,11,6 1,7

Total Operating Income
(AOA Billion)

Total operating incomeNet interest income Supplementary margin

2018 2019 2020
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2018 2019 2020
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The cost-to-income ratio rose 14% to 59% in 2020. This increase 
compared to 2019 was primarily because the decrease in 
banking income was greater than the growth in structural costs 
(+14%).

7.2. PROPOSAL FOR THE ALLOCATION OF 
        PROFITS

SETTLEMENT OF SHARE CAPITAL AND RETAINED 
EARNINGS

Among other quantitative impacts, Banco Keve, S.A.’s application 
of IAS 29 - Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 
resulted in negative retained earnings of AOA 7,481,210,492.45.

Since the capital accounts can only be moved with the consent 
of the Bank’s shareholders, and since this amount entails a 
negative reserve, a General Meeting of Shareholders called 
for this purpose proposed the final settlement of “Retained 
earnings”, in the amount of AOA 7,481,210,492.45, by means 
of transfer to the item “Other reserves”. Once this is done, 
the “Other reserves” account will have a balance of AOA 
2,205,570,728.58.

RESULT FOR THE YEAR
Pursuant to legal and statutory provisions, the need to maintain 
a solid base of equity to address the Bank’s strategic goals and 
sustained growth, the Board of Directors proposes that the net 
profit for the year 2020 of AOA 1,707,128,700.41 be allocated 
as follows:

Legal Reserve 20%: AOA 340,825,740.08

Other Reserves 80%: AOA 1,363,302,960.33

AOA Billion 2018 2019 2020 Δ %

Staff expenses 7,4 8,6 9,1 6%

Other operational costs
(suppliers and services)

5,9 6,1 6,4 5%

Amortizations and
Depreciations

0,9 1,0 2,1 117%

Operational costs 14,2 15,7 17,7 12%

Loans impairement 15,2 16,5 8,1 -51%

Total cost 29,5 32,2 25,7 -20%

If we add the costs associated with reinforcing credit 
impairments, Banco Keve’s total cost in 2020 was AOA 25.8 
billion, down 20% year-over-year.

Operational Costs
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Staff expenses

Third-party supplies and services

Operational costs
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GINGUBA. 
ONE OF ANGOLA’S GREAT RICHES.
Called the “peanut of the gods”, Angola’s ginguba is especially delicious and appreciated. 
Its domestic and foreign demand has always been high, but in today’s world, with the 
demand for wholesome, sustainable food, there is a new opportunity to step up the 
production and exporting of this product. With its high energy and nutritional value, 
ginguba is ready to breathe new life into our economy.
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1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ON 31 DECEMBER OF 2020 AND 2019

BALANCE SHEETS ON 31 DECEMBER OF 2020 AND 2019 
(Amounts expressed in thousand kwanzas)

31-12-2020

ASSETS Notes
Gross 

 Assets
Amortisation 

and impairment
Net 

assets 31-12-2019

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 4 19 827 668 - 19 827 668 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 5 12 031 188 (20 065) 12 011 123 11 998 808

Investments at central banks and other credit 
institutions

6 13 937 374 (29 868) 13 907 506 6 122 650

Financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss

7 - - - -

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

8 117 711 - 117 711 96 195

Investments at amortised cost 9 48 031 052 (3 263 710) 44 767 342 68 034 889

Loans to customers 10 105 232 917 (43 715 601) 61 517 316 51 285 052

Non-current assets held for sale 11 - - - -

Other tangible assets 12 24 940 199 (10 274 138) 14 666 061 16 292 426

Intangible assets 13 1 097 954 (136 240) 961 714 424 304

Other assets 15 4 538 132 (129 766) 4 408 366 2 628 628

Total Assets 229 754 194 (57 569 387) 172 184 807 176 205 621

continuation

BALANCE SHEETS ON 31 DECEMBER OF 2020 AND 2019 
(Amounts expressed in thousand kwanzas)

31-12-2020

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Notes
Gross
Assets

Amortisation 
and impairment

Net
assets 31-12-2019

LIABILITIES

Resources of central banks and other credit 
institutions

16 6 374 015 16 168 539

Customer resources and other loans 17 128 132 018 120 639 912

Provisions and impairment 18 4 130 872 3 923 813

Current tax liabilities 14 - 125 113

Subordinated liabilities 19 - -

Other liabilities 20 2 350 498 5 857 969

Total Liabilities 140 987 403 146 715 346

EQUITY

Share capital 21 24 052 706 24 052 706

Other reserves and retained earnings 21 5 568 769 2 866 247

Treasury Shares 21 (131 200) (131 200)

Net profit/loss for the year 1 707 129 2 702 522

Total Equity 31 197 404 29 490 275

Total Equity and Liabilities 172 184 807 176 205 621

The attached notes are an integral part to these financial statements.
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INCOME STATEMENTS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDING 31 DECEMBER OF 2020 AND 2019
(Amounts expressed in thousand kwanzas)

Notes 31-12-2020 31-12-2019

Interest and similar income 22 17 352 401 12 765 029

Interest and similar charges 22 (4 456 612) (3 491 511)

Net interest income 12 895 788 9 273 518

Income from services and commissions 23 4 870 619 5 589 332

Charges with services and commissions 23 (170 005) (81 910)

Income from investments at amortised cost 24 2 365 507 1 474 244

Foreign exchange earnings 25 12 175 264 18 305 517

Income from disposal of other assets 26 (466 136) 998 122

Other operating income 27 (1 605 171) (426 779)

Total operating income 30 065 865 35 132 044

Staff expenses 28 (9 113 830) (8 601 297)

Third-party supplies and services 29 (6 411 193) (6 068 337)

Depreciation and amortisation for the year 12 e 13 (2 142 849) (987 364)

Impairment for loans to customers net of reversals and recoveries 18 (8 159 634) (16 668 505)

Impairment for other financial assets net of reversals and recoveries 18 (2 205 952) -

Impairment for other assets net of reversals and write-offs 18 (427 839) -

Income of continuing operations before taxes 1 604 567 2 806 542

Taxes on results Current 14 102 561 (104 019)

Comprehensive income for the year 1 707 129 2 702 522

Average number of ordinary shares issued 5 000 000 5 000 000

Basic earnings per share (in kwanzas) 0,34 0,54

Diluted earnings per share (in kwanzas) 0,34 0,54

The attached notes are an integral part to these financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDING 31 DECEMBER OF 2020 AND 2019
(Amounts expressed in thousand kwanzas)

Other reserves and retained earnings

Share capital Treasury Shares
Reserve for

adjustment of equity Legal reserve Other reserves Retained earnings
Net profit/loss for 

the year Total Equity

Balances on 31 December 2017 - before IFRS 9 4 000 000 - - 2 433 962 8 041 771 (255 418) 2 075 515 16 295 830

Impairment from the implementation of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Note 3.4):

Cash on hand at other credit institutions (Note 5) - - - - - (14 468) - (14 468)

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions (Note 6) - - - - - (111 663) - (111 663)

Investments at amortised cost (Note 9) - - - - - (842 108) - (842 108)

- - - - - (968 239) - (968 239)

Balances on 01 January 2018 - after IFRS 9 4 000 000 - - 2 433 962 8 041 771 (1 223 657) 2 075 515 15 327 591

Application of result from the year 2017 - - - 415 103 1 660 412 - (2 075 515) -

Increase in share capital 6 000 000 - - - (6 000 000) - - -

Effects of accounting policy adjustments - - - - - 416 381 - 416 381

Comprehensive profit/loss for the year - - - - - - 4 603 486 4 603 486

6 000 000 - - 415 103 (4 339 588) 416 381 2 527 971 5 019 867

Balances on 31 December 2018 10 000 000 - - 2 849 065 3 702 183 (807 276) 4 603 486 20 347 458

Application of result from the year 2018 - - - 920 697 3 682 789 - (4 603 486) -

Adjustment of equity - - 14 052 706 (7 481 210) 6 571 496

Acquisitions of treasury shares (131 200) (131 200)

Comprehensive profit/loss for the year - - - - - - 2 702 522 2 702 522

Balances on 31 December 2019 10 000 000 (131 200) 14 052 706 3 769 762 7 384 972 (8 288 486) 2 702 522 29 490 276

Application of result from the year 2019 - - - 540 504 2 162 018 - (2 702 522) -

Comprehensive profit/loss for the year - - - - - - 1 707 129 1 707 129

Balances on 31 December 2020 10 000 000 (131 200) 14 052 706 4 210 266 9 546 989 (8 288 486) 1 707 129 31 197 404

The attached notes are an integral part to these financial statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEARS ENDING 31 DECEMBER OF 2020 AND 2019
(Amounts expressed in thousand kwanzas)

31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Cash flows of operational activities

Interest, commissions and other comparable income received 18 354 361 17 675 122

Interest, commissions and other comparable costs paid (3 573 421) (4 376 815)

Payments to employees and suppliers (14 669 634) (11 478 365)

Other results (426 779) (200 830)

Cash flows before changes to operating assets and liabilities (315 473) 1 619 113

(Increases) / decreases in operating assets:

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions 75 540 (3 905 706)

Non-current assets held for sale - (31 553)

Investments at amortised cost 4 308 762 4 549 915

Loans to customers 1 598 486 2 475 892

Other assets 236 072 (863 767)

Net flow from operating assets 6 218 861 2 224 782

Increases / (decreases) in operating liabilities:

   Resources of central banks and other credit institutions 12 788 009 6 138 260

   Customer resources and other loans (7 731 375) 3 342 113

   Other liabilities 2 073 296 (13 003)

continuation

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEARS ENDING 31 DECEMBER OF 2020 AND 2019
(Amounts expressed in thousand kwanzas)

31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Net flow from operating liabilities 7 129 929 9 467 371

Cash net of operating activities before income tax 13 033 317 13 311 265

      Cash net of operating activities 13 033 317 13 311 265

Cash flows from investment activities

   Acquisitions of other tangible assets, net of disposals 983 762 1 209 805

   Acquisitions of intangible assets, net of disposals 241 218 55 128

      Cash net of investment activities 1 224 981 1 264 933

Cash flows from financing activities

   Acquisitions of treasury shares, net of disposals (131 200) -

      Cash net of financing activities (131 200) -

Change in cash and cash equivalents 14 127 098 14 576 198

         Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the financial year 26 321 589 22 927 671

         Effects exchange variation in cash and cash equivalents (10 422 072) (11 182 280)

30 026 615 26 321 589

Payment system credits 1 311 374 1 280 584

Impairment for cash on hand at other credit institutions (Note 5) (16 511) (16 511)

         Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 31 321 477 27 585 662

The attached notes are an integral part to these financial statements.
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2. INTRODUCTION
Banco Keve, S.A. (hereinafter “Banco Keve” or “Bank”) is a privately held bank with its registered office 
at Av. Ho Chi Minh, Empreendimento Comandante Gika Garden Towers 11º e 12º Andar Maianga-
Alvalade, municipality of Luanda. It was established on 19 September 2003. Its business activities 
began on 1 October 2003. Via a public deed from August 2018, the Bank adopted the business 
abbreviation “BKeve”.

The Bank’s purpose is to perform banking activities as permitted by law, including the obtaining of 
third-party resources through deposits and in other forms, which it invests with its own funds in the 
granting of loans, deposits at Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA), investments in credit institutions and 
purchases of securities and other assets. It also provides banking services and carries out a number of 
different types of foreign currency transactions.

The Bank was established with share capital of 456,000 thousand kwanzas (equivalent to $5,700,000 
at the time), represented by 570,000 registered shares of 800 kwanzas each, fully subscribed to and 
paid up in cash.

In 2006, the Bank had a capital increase to 800,000 thousand kwanzas (equivalent to $10,000,000 at 
the time), with the increase of 344,000 thousand kwanzas fully paid up in cash, and with share capital 
represented by 1,000,000 registered shares of 800 kwanzas each.

In 2007, the Bank had a capital increase to 4,000,000 thousand kwanzas (equivalent to $50,000,000 
at the time), including 2,400,000 thousand kwanzas in cash contributions and 800,000 thousand 
kwanzas through the incorporation of reserves, to be represented by 5,000,000 registered shares of 
800 kwanzas each.

On 21 February 2018, Banco Nacional de Angola (BNA) published Notice no. 02/2018 establishing 
minimum capital of 7,500,000 thousand kwanzas. As such, in 2018, the Bank increased its capital to 
10,000,000 thousand kwanzas (equivalent to $47,057,495 at the time) by incorporating 6,000,000 
thousand kwanzas in reserves into its share capital, represented by 5,000,000 registered shares of 
2,000 kwanzas each.

3. BASIS OF PRESENTATION, SUMMARY OF MAIN ACCOUNTING  
     POLICIES AND MAIN ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS USED IN      
     PREPARING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The Bank’s financial statements have been prepared based on a going concern basis, in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IAS/IFRS”), pursuant to Banco Nacional de 
Angola (BNA) Notice no. 05/2019 of 23 August as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and with the interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretation 
Committee (“IFRIC”).

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified by the 
application of fair value for financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair value through profit or loss 
and financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. Financial and non-financial 
assets and liabilities are recorded at amortised cost or historic cost.

The Bank’s financial statements on 31 December 2020 and 2019 are expressed in thousands of 
kwanzas. Assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies have been converted into domestic 
currency, based on the average reference exchange rate published by Banco Nacional de Angola on 
these dates.

31-12-2020 31-12-2019

1 USD 649,911 482,227

1 EUR 796,726 540,817

Preparation of the financial statements according to the IFRS requires the Board of Directors, with 
the opinion of the Executive Committee, to make judgements, estimates and suppositions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the amounts of assets, liabilities, income and costs. The 
associated estimates and suppositions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered reasonable according to the circumstances and form the basis for the judgements about 
the amounts of assets and liabilities whose valuation is not evident through other sources. Real results 
may differ from the estimates. Issues requiring a greater degree of judgement and/or complexity, or 
whose suppositions and estimates are considered significant, are described in Note 3.6.
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3.2. STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND REVISIONS ENTERING INTO FORCE
        DURING THE YEAR
The following standards, interpretations, amendments and revisions became mandatory, for the first 
time, in the year beginning on 1 January 2020:

a) Amendment to references to Conceptual Framework in IFRS standards: Corresponds to 
amendments to various standards (IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 6, IFRS 14, IAS 1, IAS 8, IAS 34, IAS 37, IAS 38, 
IFRIC 12, IFRIC 19, IFRIC 20, IFRIC 22 and SIC 32) as regards references to the Conceptual Framework 
revised in March 2018. The revised Conceptual Framework includes new definitions of assets and 
liabilities and new guidelines on measurement, derecognition, presentation and disclosure.

b) Amendment to IFRS 3 – “Definition of business”: Corresponds to amendments to the definition of 
business, aimed at clarifying the identification of business acquisition or of acquisition of a group 
of assets. The revised definition also clarifies the meaning of a business output as the provision of 
goods or services to customers. The changes include examples to identify a business acquisition.

c) Amendment to IAS 1 and IAS 8 – “Definition of material”: Corresponds to amendments to clarify 
the definition of material in IAS 1. The definition of material in IAS 8 now makes reference to IAS 
1. The amendment changes the definition of material in other standards to ensure consistency. 
Information is material if by its omission, misstatement or concealment it could reasonably 
be expected to influence the decisions of primary users of financial statements based on the 
financial statements.

d) Amendment to IFRS 16 standards – “Covid-19-related rent concessions”: provides an optional 
practical expedient by which lessees are exempt from analysing whether rent concessions 
(typically rent suspensions or reductions) related to the Covid-19 pandemic correspond to 
contractual modifications. It applies to the years beginning on 1 June 2020 and after.

There were no significant effects on the Bank’s financial statements for the year ending 31 December 
2020 due to the adoption of the above-mentioned new standards, interpretations, amendments and 
revisions. 

3.3. STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS, AMENDMENTS AND REVISIONS ENTERING INTO FORCE
         IN FUTURE YEARS
The following accounting standards and interpretations will apply, on a mandatory basis, in future 
financial years:

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective as of the approval date of the Bank’s 
financial statements are described below. The Bank plans to adopt these standards, if applicable, 
when they become effective.

a) IFRS 17 – “Insurance contracts”: this standard establishes, for insurance contracts within its 
scope, principles for their recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure. This standard 
replaces standard IFRS 4 – “Insurance contracts”. It applies to the years beginning on 1 January 
2021 and after.

b) Amendment to standard IAS 1 – “Classification of liabilities as current and non-current”: Clarifies 
the classification of liabilities as current or non-current by analysing the contractual conditions 
existing on the reporting date. It applies to the years beginning on 1 January 2022 and after.

c) Amendments to IFRS 3: updating of reference to 2018 conceptual framework; additional 
requirements for analysing obligations in accordance with IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 on the acquisition 
date; precise clarification that contingent assets are not recognised in a business combination. It 
applies to the years beginning on 1 January 2022 and after.

d) Amendment to IAS 16: prohibition on deducting from the cost of a tangible asset income related 
to the sale of products before the asset is available for use. It applies to the years beginning on 1 
January 2022 and after.

e) Amendment to standard IAS 37: clarification that contractual performance costs correspond to 
costs directly related to the contract. It applies to the years beginning on 1 January 2022 and after.

f) 2018-2020 annual improvements: essentially correspond to amendments to four standards (IFRS 
1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41). It applies to the years beginning on 1 January 2022 and after.

g) Amendment to IFRS 4 – “Insurance contracts”: Corresponds to the amendment to standard IFRS 4 
which prolongs the deferral of IFRS 9 to years beginning on 1 January 2023 and after.
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h) Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 - Phase 2 - reform of interest rate benchmarks (IBOR 
Reform): Corresponds to additional amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, issued on 27 August 
2020, related to the second phase of the benchmark interest rate reform project (known as 
“IBOR reform”), concerning changes to benchmark interest rates and the impacts at the level of 
modifications to financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, hedge accounting and 
disclosures for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2021. 

The Bank does not expect any materially relevant impacts from the above amendments, new 
interpretations or new standards.

3.4. IMPACTS OF ADOPTING INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARD 9 
         (“IFRS 9”) ON 1 JANUARY 2018
No deferred tax assets were recorded from the impacts of the transition, insofar as the Bank incurred 
tax losses in recent years, and there are no business plans or studies supporting the future use of 
these deferred taxes in future years. 

3.5. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
3.5.1. Accrual accounting
The Bank employs accrual accounting principles. Income and costs are recognised according to the 
transactions’ term, and are recorded as they are generated, regardless of their time of receipt or 
payment.

3.5.2. Foreign Currency Transactions
The Bank’s financial statements on 31 December 2020 and 2019 are expressed in thousands of 
kwanza. Assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies have been converted into domestic 
currency, based on the average reference exchange rates published by Banco Nacional de Angola 
on these dates.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency and currency of presentation are 
recorded in accordance with the multi-currency system, whereby each transaction is recorded on 
the basis of the currencies of denomination. Costs and income calculated in the different currencies 
are converted into kwanza at the exchange rate on the date of their recognition.
 
Costs and revenues related to exchange differences, whether actual or potential, are recorded in 
the income statement of the financial year in which they occur (Note 25). 

3.5.3.  Financial Instruments – IFRS 9
The Bank’s Board of Directors determines the classification of its investments at the time of initial 
recognition and subsequent measurement. 

A financial asset or liability is initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issuance, except in the case of items recorded at fair value through 
profit or loss, whose transaction costs are immediately recognised as expenses for the year.

a) Financial assets

Classification, initial recognition and subsequent measurement

At the time of their initial recognition, financial assets may be classified into the following 
categories: (i) investments at amortised cost; (ii) financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, and 
(iii) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. On 31 December 2020, financial assets 
were classified in the category of financial investments at amortised cost and financial assets at 
fair value through other comprehensive income.
Financial assets are classified bearing in mind the (i) Bank’s business model for managing the 
financial asset, and (ii) the characteristics of the financial asset’s contractual flows.

 
Business Model Assessment
The Bank assesses its business model in which financial instruments are managed at the portfolio 
level, since this approach most adequately reflects how financial assets are managed and how 
information is provided to the managing boards.

This analysis took the following factors into account:

•  The portfolio’s goals, policies and operability; 

•  An assessment of risks impacting the business model’s performance, and how risks are managed; 

• The timing, volume and frequency of sales in previous periods, and their underlying reason, 
together with expectations for future sales;

• The means of evaluating and reporting the portfolio’s performance to the Bank’s managing 
boards; and 

• The remuneration of business managers.
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Assessment as to whether contractual cash flows only correspond to the receipt of principal and 
interest (SPPI – Solely Payments of Principal and Interest).

Under this assessment, principal corresponds to the financial asset’s fair value at the time of 
initial recognition and interest against the monetary time value for the credit risk associated 
with the amount due during a given period of time.

For instruments whose receipt of contractual cash flows only corresponds to principal and 
interest, the instrument’s original contractual terms were considered. The Bank analysed 
situations where contractual terms may have modified the amount and frequency of cash flows 
so as to fail to meet SPPI requirements.

• Investments at amortised cost 

Classification

A financial asset is classified in the category of “Investments at amortised cost” when it meets 
all of the following conditions: (i) the contractual cash flows correspond only to principal and 
interest payments for the amount due (SPPI) and occur on specific dates, and (ii) it is held under 
a business model aimed at collecting contractual cash flows.

This category includes the items “Investments at amortised cost” (Note 9) and “Loans to 
Customers” (Note 10).
  
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Debt securities are recognised on their trading date, which corresponds to the date on which the 
Bank acquired the securities. Loans to customers are recognised on the date on which the funds 
are made available to the counterparty.

Financial investments at amortised cost are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction 
costs, then subsequently measured at amortised cost. From the time of their initial recognition, 
they are subject to impairment losses for expected credit losses, which are recorded as offsetting 
entries to the items “Impairment for loans to customers net of reversals and recoveries” (Note 18) 
and “Impairment for other assets net of reversals and write-offs” (Note 18).

Interest from financial assets at amortised cost is recorded under the item “Interest and similar 
income” (Note 22).

• Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Classification

A financial asset is classified in the category of “Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income” when it meets the following conditions: (i) the contractual cash flows 
correspond only to principal and interest payments for the amount due (SPPI) and occur on specific 
dates, and (ii) it is held under a business model aimed at collecting cash flows and/or its sale.

In addition, at the time of initial recognition of a capital instrument not held for trading, nor 
contingent consideration recognised by a buyer in a business combination subject to IFRS 3, 
the Bank may choose to irrevocably classify it in the category of “Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive income”. This option is used on a case-by-case, investment-by-
investment basis, and is only available to financial instruments falling within the definition of 
“capital instruments” in IAS 32.

On 31 December 2020, the financial assets classified under the category of “Financial assets at 
fair value through other comprehensive income” (Note 8) are for EMIS – Empresa Interbancária 
de Serviços, S.A.R.L.’s holdings in Gestcall – Gestão de Serviços de Atendimento and in Sagripek.

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Capital instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially recognised 
at fair value plus transaction costs, then subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in these 
financial assets’ fair value are recorded as an offsetting entry to other comprehensive income 
under the item “Other reserves”.

No impairment is recognised for capital instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, whose accumulated gains or losses are recorded in changes in fair value transferred to 
“Retained earnings” at the time of their derecognition.

Reclassification between categories of financial assets

Financial assets are not reclassified to other categories unless their business model has been changed.

The reclassification applies on a forward-looking basis beginning on the reclassification date, 
without re-expressing any previously recognised gains, losses or interest. Nevertheless, financial 
assets are reclassified at fair value on the reclassification date.
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The reclassification of investments in capital instruments, measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, is not permitted.

b) Loans to Customers 

Valuation

Credit and receivables include loans granted by the Bank to customers and to credit institutions.

Credit and receivables are initially recorded at fair value. In general, the initial fair value 
corresponds to the transaction amount including commissions, fees and other costs or income 
associated with the credit transactions.

Loans and accounts receivable are subsequently valued at amortised cost, based on the effective 
interest rate method, and subject to impairment tests.

Interest and fees associated with credit transactions are accrued over the transactions’ lifetime 
as an offsetting entry in results, regardless of when they are charged or paid. Other fees such 
as financial service fees for a loan, commitment fees for loan origination and other costs and 
income associated with credit transactions are recorded under the item of results when they are 
charged.

Guarantees provided

Liabilities for guarantees provided and documentary credit for importing are recorded under off-
balance-sheet items for the amount at risk, with flows from interests, fees and other income 
recorded in results over the transactions’ lifetime.

Write-off of interest

The Bank writes off interest in arrears for more than 90 days, and does not recognise interest 
between this date and the date on which the customer remedies the situation.

c) Debt securities

Treasury bonds issued in domestic currency indexed to the United States dollar exchange rate and 
treasury bonds issued in foreign currency are subject to currency revaluation. As such, the result 
of the currency revaluation of the securities’ nominal value is reflected in the income statement 
for the year in which it occurs under the item “Foreign exchange earnings” (Note 25), with the 
discount and accrued interest reflected under the item “Interest and similar income” (Note 22).

Non-adjustable treasury bonds in domestic currency are issued with coupon rates predefined by 
maturity. The accrued interest is reflected under the item “Interest and similar income” (Note 22).

Treasury bills are issued at a discount and recorded at their acquisition cost. The difference 
between this and the nominal value, which constitutes the Bank’s return, is recognised in the 
accounts as income from the purchase date through the maturity date of these securities under 
the item “Interest and similar income” (Note 22). 

Third-party security purchase transactions with resale agreement

In 2020, the Bank performed temporary liquidity lending transactions in the inter-bank market 
with Banco Nacional de Angola. In these transactions, the Bank invests resources and receives 
treasury bonds as a guarantee. These transactions have an underlying agreement for the 
securities’ resale on a future date at a price previously agreed to between the parties.

Securities purchased with a resale agreement are not recorded in the securities portfolio. Funds 
provided are recorded, on the settlement date, in assets in the item “Liquidity lending – Third-
party security purchase transactions with resale agreement”, with interest accrued in the same 
item.

Income from third-party security purchase transactions with resale agreements corresponds to 
the difference between the resale amount and the purchase amount of the securities. Income is 
recognised according to the accrual accounting principle over the transactions’ term in the item 
“Interest and similar income” (Note 22).

d) Financial liabilities

A financial instrument is classified as a financial liability when there is a contractual obligation 
of a settlement to be carried out through the handover of money or another financial asset, 
regardless of its legal form.

Non-derivative financial liabilities include resources from credit institutions and customers, and 
loans. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost. 
The associated transaction costs are part of the effective interest rate. The interest recognised 
through the effective interest rate method is recognised in the financial margin (Note 22).

The amortised cost of a financial liability is the amount at which it is initially recognised, minus 
receipts of capital, plus or minus accumulated amortisation using the effective interest rate 



84

Notes to the Financial Statements at 31 December 2020 and 2019 (Amounts in thousands of Kwanzas - mAOA, unless expressly indicated otherwise)

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

method resulting from the difference between the initially recognised value and the amount at 
maturity.

e) Indexed deposits

Customer term deposits in domestic currency indexed to the United States dollar (USD) exchange 
rate are subject to currency revaluation. As such, the result of the currency revaluation of the 
deposits’ nominal value is reflected in the income statement for the year in which it occurs under 
the item “Foreign exchange earnings” (Note 25), with accrued interest reflected under the item 
“Interest and similar charges” (Note 22).

f) Impairment

The Bank determines expected credit losses for each financial asset according to the deteriorating 
credit risk from the time of its initial recognition. For this purpose, transactions are classified into 
the following three stages:

• Stage 1: this stage includes transactions with no significant rise in credit risk from the time 
of initial recognition. Impairment losses associated with transactions classified in this stage 
correspond to expected credit losses resulting from a default event potentially occurring 
within 12 months following the reporting date (12-month expected losses);

• Stage 2: this stage includes transactions with a significant rise in credit risk from the time 
of initial recognition, but not in a situation of impairment. Impairment losses associated 
with transactions classified in this stage correspond to expected credit losses resulting from 
default events potentially occurring over the transactions’ expected residual lifetime (lifetime 
expected credit losses); 

• Stage 3: this stage includes transactions in a situation of impairment. The impairment losses 
associated with transactions classified in this stage correspond to lifetime expected credit 
losses.

With regard to cash on hand, investments and securities, an analysis is done for expected losses, 
using the following assumptions: 

• For the balances of “Cash and cash on hand at central banks”, the loss given default (LGD) is 
considered zero, with no estimated impairment; 

• For the balances of “Cash on hand at other credit institutions”, the entity’s rating (or, when 
not available, the rating of the country where it is headquartered) is checked. Based on a 
study by Moody’s entitled “Sovereign default and recovery rates, 1983-2019”, the probability 
of default (PD) is considered for companies with the entity’s rating, along with the loss given 
default (LGD) associated with sovereign default events having occurred, as indicated in the 
same study (60%); 

• The procedure is detailed in Annex I of Directive 13/DSB/DRO/2019, considering a PD of 1/12 
(one twelfth) of the 12-month PD given the rating of the counterparty (or the country where 
the counterparty is headquartered, if it has no rating) and a 60% LGD for all counterparties 
without a significant rise in credit risk;

• With regard to the balances of “Investments at amortised cost”, Angolan government debt 
securities in domestic currency, a probability of default (PD) for sovereign debt is considered 
from Moody’s “Sovereign default and recovery rates, 1983-2019” along with the Loss Given 
Default (LGD) associated with sovereign default events having occurred, as indicated in the 
same study (60%), in accordance with Directive 13/DSB/DRO/2019.

In 2020, the credit rating of Angolan government debt was downgraded on one occasion. The 
Bank’s understanding of the impact of this matter is that this lower rating did not result in a 
significant increase in credit risk, per the requirements of IFRS 9, for the debt securities issued 
by the Angolan government, insofar as there were no major changes to the macroeconomic 
indicators or yield of these securities vis-à-vis the date of their origination or acquisition by the 
Bank. As such, Angolan government debt securities remain classified at stage 1 impairment. 
Even so, as a result of the downgrading of the Republic of Angola in 2020, the probability of 
default (PD) used by the Bank for financial instruments associated with it went from 2.62% on 
31 December 2019 to 11.33% on 31 December 2020 (Note 9), with a significant impact on the 
income statement (Note 18).

The procedure is detailed and Annex I of Directive 13/DSB/DRO/2019.

In the specific case of impairment losses for domestic government debt in domestic and foreign 
currency (measured at amortised cost), the following criteria should be considered:

• 12-month probability of default (“PD”) for the rating of Angola published in the Moody’s 
study applicable to the year in question;
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• Loss given default (“LGD”) associated with sovereign default events having occurred, as 
indicated in the same study.

Financial assets undergo periodic impairment tests. Any impairment losses found are recorded 
as an offsetting entry against the income statement. In the event of a reduction to the estimated 
loss in future periods, the initially recorded impairment is also reversed as an offsetting entry to 
results. For this purpose, and in accordance with IFRS 9, the Bank analyses the portfolio of loans 
to customers, guarantees provided and documentary credit for importing.

In 2019, the Bank implemented a new impairment model based on the principles of IFRS 9, which 
take credit risk into account. In this way, the Bank determines expected credit losses for each 
transaction according to the deteriorating credit risk from the time of its initial recognition.

A significant rise in risk is determined by the following criteria: a) deterioration of internal rating 
by two or more levels since the transaction was granted; b) the customer has an internal rating 
of high, very high or maximum; c) the customer’s financial statements have losses in the past 
three years; and d) the customer’s financial statements have a decrease in year-over-year sales 
exceeding 25%.

Definition of loans with default status

Loans/customers are classified as having a default status under any of the following 
circumstances:

I) Loan with principal or interest past due for more than 90 days;

II) Unauthorised overdrafts or use of credit lines above the approved limit;

III) Transaction in the form of a secured current account used above the agreed amount, i.e. the 
balance due exceeds 100% of the authorised credit limit; and 

IV) Customers in bankruptcy or liquidation status.

Definition of loans with “signs of impairment”

Loans/customers are considered as showing signs of impairment under any of the following 
circumstances:

a) Existence of at least one transaction with past-due principal, i.e. a payment of principal which 

is due and unpaid for at least 30 days;

b) Existence of unauthorised overdrafts at the Bank within the past 12 months;

c) Existence of at least one restructured loan agreement due to customer financial difficulties 
within the past 12 months; 

d) Existence of credit write-offs at the Bank within the past 12 months, whether involving 
portions of principal or interest;

e) Major decrease in average balances – decrease exceeding 75% of average balances over the 
last six months; 

f) Existence of secured accounts exceeding 95% of agreed amount, on a continuous basis, within 
the past 12 months;

g) Customers with bounced cheques at the Bank; 

h) Existence of records, within the past 12 months, on the list of customers in recovery proceedings, 
or any other pre-litigation efforts.

i) Existence of records, within the past five years, on the list of customers in litigation proceedings;

j) Situations of default by the debtor vis-à-vis the financial system, using the Credit Risk 
Information Database (CIRC);

k) Other situations demonstrating concrete financial difficulties of the debtor;

l) Existence of preferential claims in the case of insolvency;

m) Payments by means of promissory notes; and

n) Contractual agreement with a decrease exceeding 20% of the real guarantee amount, when 
resulting in a financing/guarantee ratio of more than 80%.

Individual analysis

The Bank regularly evaluates, from an individual standpoint, whether there is objective evidence 
for impairment in its loan portfolio. Impairment losses in financial assets at amortised cost 
lower the book value of these assets, as an offsetting entry against results, and are subsequently 
reversed against results if, in a later period, the amount of the estimated loss decreases.
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In the initial impairment calculation phase, the Bank separates its loan portfolio based on overall 
customer exposure (credit amount and off-balance sheet) into two blocks: i) major exposure and 
ii) minor exposure.

Major exposures are broken down in terms of signs of customer impairment, based on the actual 
customer risk, namely the actual risk of the transaction and the customer history in terms of the 
internal rating and number of days of default. As such, customers with major exposure can have 
one of the following classifications:

a) with objective signs of impairment;

b) without objective signs of impairment; and

c) with major rise in risk.

Major exposures are subject to an individual analysis with a view to determining the impairment 
rate. If for a given loan there is no objective evidence of impairment on an individual basis, this 
loan is included in a group of loans with similar credit risk characteristics and consequently the 
impairment is attributed on a collective basis.

Collective Analysis

Minor exposures are combined into groups of credit exposures with similar credit risk 
characteristics, which are assessed from a collective standpoint. This segmentation is based on 
characteristics of the customers and the transactions, together with the existence of collateral 
associated with these transactions.

Calculating the collective impairment or expected loss over an asset’s lifetime will consider a 
collection of macroeconomic scenarios in which amounts for different situations (optimistic, 
pessimistic and baseline) will be determined for each risk factor and applied to the portfolio 
according to their likelihood of occurrence.

Within the scope of adopting IFRS 9 in 2018, the Bank implemented a model for calculating and 
recording credit risk impairment, which is dependent on improvements to the databases which 
support it, mainly in terms of scheduling restructured credit transactions and recording and 
evaluating guarantees received.

3.5.4. Non-current assets held for sale
The Bank records assets received in lieu of payment under the item “Non-current assets held for 
sale”, following the recovery of loans in default, when allocated for subsequent disposal.

These assets are recorded at their assessed amount or loan amount due, minus specific provisions 
established, whichever is lower.

Assets recorded under this item are not amortised, and are valued at their carrying amount or 
estimated net realizable value, minus costs incurred from the sale, whichever is lower. The 
revaluation amount of these assets is determined based on periodic assessments done by expert 
independent appraisers. 

Whenever the value resulting from these assessments (net of sales costs) is lower than their 
recorded amount, impairment losses are recorded under the item “Impairment of other assets net 
of reversals and recoveries”.

If these assets have not been disposed of within the legal time period of two years (subject to 
extension by BNA authorisation), a new assessment is done to determine their updated market 
value, for the purpose of establishing the corresponding impairment.

3.5.5. Other tangible assets
Other tangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost, minus accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses. The cost includes expenses that are directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the assets, and essential for their commissioning.
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Subsequent costs are recognised as a separate asset only if it is likely that they will result in future 
economic benefits for the Bank. Maintenance and repair expenses are recognised as a cost as they 
are incurred in accordance with accrual accounting principles (Note 29). Depreciation is calculated 
over the estimated useful life of the assets, which is the period during which the assets are expected 
to be available for use. The estimated years of useful life for the Bank’s main categories of tangible 
assets are as follows:

Years of useful life

Real estate for own use (buildings) 25 to 50

Works at rented buildings 4 to 50

Equipment

Computer equipment 3 to 8

Furniture and materials 6 to 10

Transport equipment 4

Machines and tools 3 to 10

Interior fixtures 3 to 25

Security equipment 6 to 8

Other equipment 4 to 8

In accordance with IAS 36 – Asset impairment, when an asset shows signs of impairment, its 
recoverable amount should be estimated, with an impairment loss recognised whenever an 
asset’s net value exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income 
statement.

3.5.6. Intangible assets
Intangible assets primarily correspond to software.

Intangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost, minus accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses.

Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis for the assets’ estimated useful life, which on 
average corresponds to 3 to 5 years.

Software maintenance expenses are recorded as a cost in the year in which they are incurred. The 
development of computer applications which are expected to generate future economic benefits 
after one year are recognised and recorded as intangible assets.

3.5.7. Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies
Pursuant to IAS 29 – Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies (“IAS 29”), when 
hyperinflation exists, financial institutions should consider the monthly effects of changes in the 
purchasing power of domestic currency, by applying the Consumer Price index to the balances of 
capital, reserves and retained earnings. The financial statements of an entity whose functional 
currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy must be expressed in terms of the current 
measurement unit on the balance sheet date. Hyperinflation is indicated by the characteristics of a 
country’s economic environment which include, but are not limited to, the following:

• The population in general prefers to keep its wealth in non-monetary assets or in relatively 
stable foreign currency. Amounts in local currency are immediately invested in order to maintain 
purchasing power;

• The population in general sees monetary quantities in terms of stable foreign currency. Prices 
can be quoted in that currency;

• Credit sales and purchases are made at prices which offset the expected loss in purchasing 
power during the credit period, even when this period is short;

• Interest rates, salaries and prices are linked to a price index; and 

• The cumulative inflation rate during the last 3 years is close to or exceeds 100%.

The amount resulting from the monetary adjustment must be reflected monthly as a debit to the 
account “Result in net monetary position” in the income statement, as an offsetting entry to the 
increased balances in equity, except for the item “Share capital”, which should be classified under a 
specific item (“Revaluation reserves”), which may only be utilised for a subsequent capital increase.

On 9 April 2019, the Angolan Association of Banks (“ABANC”) requested a technical analysis 
from the leading auditing firms for clarifications on Angola’s classification as a hyperinflationary 
economy on 30 June 2019 and in the years ending 31 December 2017 and 2018.

The conclusion of these auditing firms was that IAS 29 would not apply in Angola in 2019.
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This is in view of item 38 of the standard, which states that: when an economy ceases to be 
hyperinflationary and an entity discontinues the preparation and presentation of financial 
statements prepared in accordance with this standard, it shall treat the amounts expressed in the 
measuring unit current at the end of the previous reporting period as the basis for the carrying 
amounts in its subsequent financial statements. In order to mitigate the upholding of the qualified 
opinion due to disagreement, Banco Keve (Board of Directors) decided to re-express the effect of IAS 
29 in the financial statements.

BNA interacts with the IFRS Foundation to ensure the proper international recognition of the 
process of fully adopting the IAS/IFRS.

Within this principle of fully adopting the IAS/IFRS, BNA has instructed domestic banks, via 
communication no. 5429/DSB/18 of 10 December, to study the impact of applying IAS 29 - Financial 
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies to the accounts for the year 2018. Subsequently, via 
communication no. 681/DSB/19 of 1 July, BNA again instructed domestic banks to study the 
quantitative impacts of the adoption of this standard. 

The “Impact Assessment of the Application of IAS 29 – Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies”, without a history in Angola and other countries most closely related to it, entailed 
expensive, time-consuming work for the adoption of well-defined and structured criteria, given the 
underlying complexity.

Banco Keve did the following to comply with BNA guidelines: (i) Identification and analysis of items 
subject to the standard; (ii) Simulation via updating account balances, taking IAS 29 assumptions 
and methodologies into account; this work was completed, with reporting, at the end of 2018.

The main impacts of these detailed adjustments were on the item “Other fixed assets”. 

As a result of the technical analysis by the leading auditing firms, following the extended consultation 
launched by the ABANC, these auditors no longer considered Angola a hyperinflationary economy 
as of 1 January 2019. However, for banks not applying the impact of IAS 29 in the year 2018, the 
opinion on the year 2019 would contain a qualified opinion due to a lack of comparability.

3.5.8. Income taxes  
Current tax

The current tax is calculated based on the taxable income for the year, which may differ from the 
accounting profit due to adjustments to taxable income resulting from costs or income which are not 
considered for tax purposes or which are only considered in other accounting periods.

Deferred taxes 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities correspond to the tax amount recoverable or payable in future 
periods, resulting from temporary deductible or taxable differences between the balance sheet 
value of assets and liabilities and their tax base, as used to determine the taxable income. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recorded for all temporary taxable differences, while deferred tax assets 
are only recognised up to the likely amount of future taxable profits allowing the use of the 
corresponding temporary deductible differences or reporting of tax losses.

Current and deferred taxes are reflected in the income statement, except for taxes related to 
transactions directly recorded under equity (e.g. potential results of securities classified in the 
fair value through other comprehensive income portfolio). In addition, deferred tax assets are not 
recognised in cases in which their recoverability is questionable due to other situations, including 
issues related to the interpretation of prevailing tax legislation.

On 31 December 2020, the Bank had tax losses for the year 2020, with a certification from the 
General Tax Authority with regard to the future recovery of this amount, and recorded a deferred 
tax asset accordingly.

Industrial tax

The Bank is subject to Industrial Tax, and is considered a “Major Taxpayer” under the general scheme 
at a tax rate of 35% (30% in 2019), as amended under Law no. 26/20 of 20 July.

The Industrial Tax is calculated based on the tax result for the year, which may differ from the 
accounting result due to adjustments under the terms of the Industrial Tax Code.
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The new Industrial Tax Code passed by Law no. 19/14 of 22 October entered into force on 1 
January 2015, by which income subject to Capital Gains Tax (“IAC”) is deductible for the purposes 
of determining taxable income, and with IAC not constituting a cost acceptable for tax purposes 
(Note 14).

In addition, because of the relevance of recent amendments to the Industrial Tax Code under 
Law no. 26/20 of 20 July, it is important to note that income and costs resulting from unrealised 
favourable and unfavourable exchange variations (see articles 13 and 14 [c] of the Industrial Tax 
Code), as well as costs from impairment losses on guaranteed loans, except for the part not covered 
(see article 45 [4] the same code), are no longer considered relevant for tax purposes.

According to the Industrial Tax Code, taxpayers whose activity falls under the supervisory powers 
of Banco Nacional de Angola, as is the case of Banco Keve, must, by the end of August of each year, 
make a provisional payment of the Industrial Tax for that year. The tax to be paid is calculated on 
the basis of 2% on the result derived from financial intermediation operations, calculated in the 
first six months of the previous tax year, excluding income subject to IAC, unless a tax loss was 
calculated in the previous year (in which case no provisional payment is due).

Tax losses assessed in a given year, as provided for in Article 48 of the Industrial Tax Code, may be 
deducted from the taxable income of the following five years (previously 3 years, as previously 
worded).

According to legislation in force, industrial and other tax returns may be subject to review and 
correction by the tax authorities for five years following their submission. The Board of Directors 
believes that any corrections that may result from such reviews will not be significant as regards 
the attached financial statements.

The reconciliation between taxable income and accounting income is shown in Note 14.

Capital Gains Tax (“IAC”)

Presidential Legislative Decree no. 5/11 of 30 December introduced various legislative amendments 
to the Capital Gains Tax Code, and was subsequently amended by Presidential Legislative Decree no. 
2/14 of 20 October. IAC generally applies to income from the Bank’s financial investments, namely 
income from investments and securities. 

The rate ranges from 5% (for income from debt securities traded on regulated markets with a maturity 
of three or more years) to 15%.

According to the last formal memorandum of understanding from the General Tax Authority to the 
Angolan Bank Association (“ABANC”), although income from the exchange revaluation of government 
debt securities issued in foreign currency is subject to IAC, it should be subject to industrial tax until 
Banco Nacional de Angola withholds this tax for the income in question.

A letter from Banco Nacional de Angola to the ABANC dated 26 September 2013 reiterated that 
interest from treasury bonds, treasury bills and central bank securities is only subject to IAC for 
securities issued after 1 January 2013.

Urban Property Tax (“IPU”) and Property Tax (“IP”)

(i) IPU on ownership and on rent (in effect until 7 August 2020)

In 2020, the IPU was in effect until 7 August, followed by the entry into force of the new IP Code 
on this date, applicable to the ownership of properties, rent and the transfer of real estate for 
consideration.

In this context, until 8 August 2020, IPU was due, at a rate of 0.5%, on the asset value of the Bank’s 
own real estate intended for the development of the Bank’s normal activity (over 5,000 thousand 
kwanzas), being considered as taxable value the higher between the appraised value of the real 
estate (asset value) and the acquisition value.

In the case of properties being leased, when the tenant is not a person with organised accounting, 
the Bank, in the capacity of landlord, was obliged to settle and pay IPU, at the rate of 15%, in 
reference to rent received in the previous year, in the months of January and July of the year in 
question.

(ii) Property Tax on ownership and on rent (in effect beginning 8 August 2020)

The new IP Code entered into effect on 8 August 2020, passed by Law no. 20/20 of 9 July, establishing 
three tiers of rates for urban properties (0.1%, 5 thousand kwanzas and 0.5% above 5,000 thousand 
kwanzas, for properties with a property value of up to 5,000 thousand kwanzas, between 5,000 
thousand kwanzas and 6,000 thousand kwanzas and above 6,000 thousand kwanzas, respectively) 
and specific rates applicable to land for construction (0.6%) and rural properties (sum of hectares).
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In the case of properties being leased, when the tenant is not a person with organised accounting, 
the new IP Code passed by Law no. 20/20 of 9 July had no changes to the rule previously in force.

Stamp Duty

Stamp Duty generally applies to all acts, contracts, documents, securities, transactions and others 
shown in the table attached to the Stamp Duty Code, or in special laws, occurring in the national 
territory.

In accordance with the Stamp Duty Code, approved by Presidential Legislative Decree no. 3/14, of 
21 October, the Bank is responsible for paying and remitting to the State Stamp Duty due by its 
Customers on most banking operations, such as financing and collection of interest on financing, 
and the Bank must pay the tax, in accordance with the rates established in the Stamp Duty Table.

Value added tax (VAT)

The Value Added Tax (VAT) Code passed by Law no. 7/19 (“Law 7/19”), published in the Official Gazette 
(Diário da República) of 24 April 2019 and amended by Law no. 17/19 of 13 August, introduced a new 
consumption tax into Angolan legislation, which entered into force on 1 October 2019. In fact, VAT 
revoked and replaced the Consumption Tax in legally force up until that time. 

The Bank, as a taxpayer enrolled in the Major Taxpayers’ Division, has been subject to the general 
scheme of this tax, on a mandatory basis, since the entry into force of VAT, being obliged to comply 
with all of the reporting obligations and rules provided for in this regard.

As a rule, fees and expenses charged for services provided by the Bank (in replacement of Stamp Duty) 
are subject to VAT at the rate of 14%. Other financial intermediation transactions are exempt from 
VAT, namely interest from financing transactions, which will continue to be subject to Stamp Duty, 
when due.

In this sense, as the Bank is a taxpayer that carries out both taxed and exempt VAT operations, it 
also has restrictions on the right to deduct the VAT paid to suppliers, so the Bank deducts the tax 
by applying the methods provided for in current legislation - except for VAT on expenses expressly 
excluded from the right to deduct.

Each month, the Bank is obliged to comply with VAT-related obligations, namely: (i) submission to 
the General Tax Authority (AGT) of a periodic return, with the respective attachments, in which the 
VAT amount payable to the State (or applicable credit) is determined; (ii) payment of the tax amount 
before the last working day of the month following that of the transactions’ performance; and (iii) 
other reporting obligations, such as SAF-T(AO) files for billing and acquisitions of goods and services.
According to legislation in force, periodic VAT returns may be subject to review and correction by the 
tax authorities for five years following their submission.

Special Contribution on Invisible Current Exchange Transactions

The Special Contribution on Invisible Current Exchange Transactions (CEOCIC) applies, at a rate of 10%, 
to transfers under contracts for the provision of management or foreign technical assistance services, 
governed by the Regulations on the Contracting of Management or Foreign Technical Assistance 
Services passed by Presidential Decree no. 273/11 of 27 October (as amended by Presidential Decree 
no. 123/13 of 28 August).

Other taxes

The Bank is also subject to indirect taxes, such as customs duties and other fees.

3.5.9.  Provisions and contingencies
A provision is established when there exists a present (legal or constructive) obligation resulting 
from past events for which the future outflow of resources is likely, when this may be reliably 
determined. The amount of the provision corresponds to the best estimate of the amount to be 
disbursed in order to settle the liability on the balance sheet date.

When the future outflow of resources is unlikely, it becomes a contingent liability, subsequently 
disclosed according to the requirements of IAS 37 – “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets”.

Provisions are revised at the end of each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the best estimate, 
whilst being reversed in the income statement in the proportion of the payments that are unlikely. 
Provisions are derecognised through their use for the obligations for which they were initially 
established, or in cases in which they are no longer observed.
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3.5.10. Recognition of income from services and commissions
Income resulting from services and commissions is recognised in accordance with the following 
criteria:

• When it is obtained as the services are provided, it is recognised in the income statement in the 
period to which it relates; and 

• When it results from a provision of services, it is recognised when the service in question is 
completed.

3.5.11. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to the Bank’s 
shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation, excluding the 
average number of treasury shares held by the Bank.

If the earnings per share are altered as a result of an issue at a premium or discount, by another 
event that changes the potential number of ordinary shares, or by changes in accounting policies, 
the calculation of earnings per share for all of the periods shown is adjusted retrospectively.

3.5.12. Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of preparing the cash flow statement, the Bank considers all balances under the 
items “Cash and cash equivalents at central banks” and “Cash on hand at other credit institutions”, 
including the item “Payment system credits”, as “Cash on hand at the end of the period” (Notes 4 
and 5).

3.6. MAIN ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS USED IN PREPARING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The International Financial Reporting Standards establish a series of accounting procedures, whereby 
the Board of Directors must make judgements and estimates in order to decide which accounting 
approach is most appropriate.

The main accounting estimates and judgements used for the accounting principles described in this 
Note are aimed at facilitating an understanding of their application and how they affect the results 
reported by the Bank, and its respective disclosures. 

A description of the main accounting policies used by the Bank is presented in Note 3.5 to the financial 
statements.

With regard to the results disclosed by the Bank, since there are alternative accounting procedures in 
many situations, the results could be different if the Bank had chosen another approach. The Board of 
Directors considers that the choices made are appropriate and that the financial statements truly and 
accurately present the Bank’s financial position and the income from its operations in all materially 
relevant aspects.

Financial Instruments – IFRS 9

Classification and measurement
The classification and measurement of financial assets depends on the results of the SPPI test (analysis 
of characteristics of contractual cash flows, to conclude whether they correspond solely to principal 
and interest payments against the amount due) and defining a business model for managing these 
cash flows.

The Bank determines a business model based on how the financial asset groups are managed 
together to achieve a specific business goal. This evaluation requires judgements, insofar as the 
following aspects must be considered, among others: how the assets’ performance is assessed; risks 
affecting the assets’ performance and how these risks are managed; and the means of compensating 
the assets’ managers.

The Bank monitors financial assets measured at amortised cost and at fair value through other 
comprehensive income which are derecognised prior to their maturity, to understand the underlying 
reasons for their disposal and gauge whether they are consistent with the goal of the assets’ business 
model. 

This monitoring is part of the Bank’s continuous oversight process for the business model of financial 
assets in the portfolio, to determine whether this model is suitable and, if not, if it has been modified 
with a subsequent forward-looking change to these financial assets’ classification.

Impairment losses in financial assets at amortised cost
The determination of impairment losses for financial instruments involves judgements and estimates 
on the following aspects, among others:
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Significant rise in credit risk
Impairment losses correspond to the expected losses in the event of default over a 12-month 
time frame for assets in stage 1 impairment, and to the expected losses considering the likelihood 
of default at any time before the financial instrument’s maturity date for stage 2 and 3 assets. An 
asset is classified as stage 2 whenever there is a significant rise in credit risk from the time of its 
initial recognition. When assessing a significant rise in credit risk, the Bank considers qualitative and 
quantitative information which is reasonable and sustainable.

In view of Note 3.5.3 f), in accordance with the Bank’s accounting policy for assessing significant 
rises in credit risk and based on the macroeconomic analyses carried out, the Bank believes that 
the requirements of standard IFRS 9 have not been met with regard to the Angolan government’s 
significant increase in credit risk in the wake of its downgraded credit rating in 2020. Therefore, the 
methodology for calculating expected credit losses on the portfolio of financial assets at amortised 
cost follows the procedures established in the IFRS 9 Standard for stage 1 financial instruments, as 
described in that Note. 

Loss given default
This corresponds to an estimated loss in a default scenario. It is based on the difference between 
contractual cash flows and those which the Bank expects to receive from cash flows managed by the 
customer’s business or from credit collateral. Among other aspects, loss given default is estimated 
based on different recovery scenarios, historical information, costs involved in the recovery process 
and the estimated value of collateral associated with the credit transaction.

Income tax
The Bank determines income tax based on the rules of tax legislation in force. However, tax legislation 
is sometimes not sufficiently clear and objective, resulting in different interpretations. In such case, the 
amounts recorded result from the best understanding of the Bank’s managing boards on the proper 
framework of its transactions which, nonetheless, is subject to questioning by the tax authorities.

Tax authorities have the option of reviewing the Bank’s calculation of taxable income for a period of 
up to five years. In this way, it is possible that there will be corrections to the taxable income, primarily 
resulting from different interpretations of tax legislation which, due to their probability, the Board of 
Directors believes will have no materially relevant effect on the financial statements.

In 2020, the Industrial Tax Code was revised through the publication of Law no. 26/20 of 20 July, 
changing certain circumstances which were in effect on 31 December 2019, namely:

 1. The non-acceptance, for tax purposes, of impairment on guaranteed loans; and 

 2. The non-taxation of potential exchange variations in the year. 

The Bank has implemented the amendments to the Industrial Tax Code according to its best 
understanding of such amendments, but has not implemented the amendments regarding (ii) above 
as they are under discussion between the Angolan Banks Association (“ABANC”) and the General Tax 
Authority (“AGT”). In this way, any changes in this regard will be reflected in the financial statements 
following clarifications from ABANC and AGT.

Going concern principle 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, since the Board of Directors 
believes that the Bank has the means and capacity to continue operations into the foreseeable future. 
Along these lines, with a view to equipping the Bank with resources needed to conduct its business 
and ensure its continued operations, the Board of Directors will propose the measures deemed 
appropriate, namely a capital increase, to the General Meeting of Shareholders.
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4. CASH AND CASH ON HAND AT CENTRAL BANKS 
On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Cash and cash on hand at central banks” had the following 
breakdown:

2020 2019

Cash

Domestic notes and currencies 4 222 744 3 725 839

Foreign notes and currencies

In United States dollars (USD) 500 098 329 384

In other currencies 534 73 235 094

5 257 579 4 290 316

Cash on hand at Banco Nacional de Angola

In domestic currency 12 663 835 13 034 300

In United States dollars (USD) 1 906 254 1 998 053

14 570 089 15 032 353

19 827 668 19 322 669

Demand deposits in domestic and foreign currency at Banco Nacional de Angola are aimed at 
complying with provisions in force for mandatory reserves, and are not remunerated.

On 31 December 2020, mandatory reserves are determined pursuant to Instruction no. 16/2020 of 2 
October and Directive no. 04/DMA/DRO/2020 of 6 October.

On 31 December 2019, mandatory reserves are determined pursuant to Instruction no. 17/2019 of 24 
October and Directive no. 08/DMA/DRO/2019 of 24 October. 

Mandatory reserves are made up of domestic and foreign currency, according to the respective 
denomination of the liabilities which constitute their basis for computation.

On 31 December 2020, the requirement to maintain minimum reserves on demand deposits at BNA 
was calculated by applying the ratios summarised in the following table:

Domestic Currency Foreign Currency

Fees on Assessment Basis

Central Government, Local Governments 
and Municipal Administrations

Daily Clearance 22% 100%

Other Sectors Weekly Clearance 22% 17%

On 31 December 2020, up to 80% of assets representing the amount of credit disbursement in 
domestic currency granted to projects in the sectors of agriculture, livestock, forestry and fisheries can 
be subtracted from the requirement in domestic currency, provided that their residual maturity is 24 
months or more, together with all credit granted for the production of essential goods having supply 
deficits in domestic production, raw materials and the investments needed for their production, 
including investments for the acquisition of technology, machinery and equipment pursuant to Notice 
no. 10/2020 of 1 April on the granting of credit to the real economy, regardless of the residual maturity.

According to Instruction no. 16/2020 of 02 October (which revoked Instruction no. 17/2019 of 24 
October), in force since 02 October 2020, combined with Directive no. 04/DMA/2020 of 06 October, 
the minimum required reserves may be constituted at 2% with the amounts deposited with the 
National Bank of Angola and 80% in treasury bonds in foreign currency.
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5. CASH ON HAND AT OTHER CREDIT INSTITUTIONS 
At 31 December 2020 and 2019, this item had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Cash on hand at domestic credit institutions

National Banks 791 153 500 794

791 153 500 794

Cash on hand at credit institutions abroad

Foreign Banks 7 881 630 9 646 670

Other entities 2 077 914 556 481

9 959 544 10 203 151

Payment system credits 1 280 491 1 311 374

12 031 188 12 015 319

Impairment for cash on hand at other credit institutions (Note 18) (20 065) (16 511)

12 011 123 11 998 808

In 2020 and 2019, “Cash on hand at other credit institutions” was not remunerated.

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Cash on hand at domestic credit institutions” includes a 
deposit at Banco BAI serving as collateral for transactions performed with VISA cards of Banco Keve 
customers. Banco BAI acts as an intermediary between Banco Keve and VISA.

The detail by currency of the item “Cash on hand at other credit institutions abroad” had the following 
breakdown:

2020 2019

Cash on hand at credit institutions abroad

Expressed in euros (EUR) 6 478 178 6 937 866

Expressed in United States dollars (USD) 3 464 189 3 207 532

Expressed in South African rand (ZAR) 5 947 1 733

Expressed in pound sterling (GBP) 4 191 3 460

Expressed in Namibian dollars (NAD) 7 039 52 560

9 959 544 10 203 151

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the balance of the item “Payment system credits” was 1 280 491 
thousand kwanzas and 1 311 374 thousand kwanzas, respectively. The item “Payment system credits” 
includes cheques received at the Bank for clearing in the first working days of 2021 and 2020.
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6. INVESTMENTS AT CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHER CREDIT
     INSTITUTIONS

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, this item had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Investments at domestic credit institutions

National Banks 3 337 600 1 737 100

3 337 600 1 737 100

Income receivable 14 201 7 867

3 351 801 1 744 967

Investments at credit institutions abroad

Deposits

Foreign Banks 10 571 063 3 687 750

10 571 063 3 687 750

Income receivable 629 438 819

10 571 692 4 126 569

Collateral transactions from letters of credit

Foreign Banks 13 881 280 981

13 881 280 981

13 937 374 6 152 517

Impairment for investments at other credit institutions (Note 18) (29 868) (29 868)

13 907 506 6 122 650

On 31 December 2020, the item “Investments at domestic credit institutions – Banco Nacional de 
Angola” corresponds to an own security sale transaction with repurchase agreement (repo) with a 
2-month maturity remunerated at 6.59%.

The investment in Banco Sol, S.A. corresponds to an investment bearing interest at a rate of 10% in 
domestic currency in the amount of 2,000,000 thousand kwanzas.

The detail by currency of “Investments at credit institutions abroad” had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Investments at credit institutions abroad:

Expressed in United States dollars (USD) 9 344 105 3 125 300

Expressed in euros (EUR) 1 226 958 562 450

10 571 063 3 687 750

On 31 December 2020, the balance of “Investments at credit institutions abroad – Byblos Bank Europe, 
S.A.” corresponded to seven investments remunerated at an average interest rate of 0.10%, in foreign 
currency (USD), in the total amount of 9,344,105 thousand kwanzas. 

In addition, this item also corresponded to a non-remunerated investment in foreign currency (EUR) in 
the amount of 1,226,958 thousand kwanzas.

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, “Collateral transactions from letters of credit” correspond to 
transactions serving as collateral for letter of credit transactions, per specific counterparty instructions.
On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the residual maturity of “Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions”, including income receivable and excluding impairment, had the following 
breakdown:

2020 2019

Up to 15 days 2 015 526 -

15 to 30 days 1 299 838 1 744 967

1 to 3 months 10 622 010 4 407 550

13 937 374 6 152 517

Changes in impairment for investments at central banks and other credit institutions are analysed in 
Note 18.
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7. AND 8. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT  
    OR LOSS AND FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH   
    OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
The items “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” and “Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive income” are comprised of the following capital instruments:

HOLDINGS IN OTHER COMPANIES
% 

Holding Nº of Securities Kind Valuation Method

EMIS - Empresa Interbancária de Serviços 2,77% 112 454 Ordinary Acquisition cost(i)

Gestcall - Gestão de Serviços de Atendimento 15,00% 1 500 Ordinary Acquisition cost(i)

Sagripek 5,00% 80 Ordinary Acquisition cost(i)

(i) Standard IFRS 9 states that, under limited circumstances, the acquisition cost may be a suitable 
estimate of fair value. As such, the Bank’s financial holdings have been valued at acquisition cost, 
insofar as the Board of Directors believes that this entails a reasonable and prudent estimate of fair 
value, per the policy described in Note 3.5.3.

IFRS 9 offers alternatives for classifying and measuring these holdings, since this involves a capital 
instrument falling outside of the scope of SPPI given that the cash flows generated do not correspond 
solely to principal and interest. In view of this, capital instruments would be classified and measured 
at fair value through profit or loss. Even so, IFRS 9 provides an alternative under which the Bank may, 
irrevocably at the time of initial recognition, choose to classify and measure the capital instruments at 
fair value through other comprehensive income. Based on this alternative, the Bank chose to recognise 
these holdings under the item “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income”.

These items on 31 December 2020 and 2019 include the following financial holdings:

2020 2019

Shares

EMIS - Empresa Interbancária de Serviços

Capital 112 454 90 938

Supplementary contributions - -

112 454 90 938

Gestcall - Gestão de Serviços de Atendimento 3 090 3 090

Sagripek 2 167 2 167

117 711 96 195

EMIS – Empresa Interbancária de Serviços, S.A.R.L. (EMIS), in which the Bank has a 2.77% stake, was 
established in Angola to manage electronic payments and supplementary services. In the wake of 
EMIS’ 27th General Meeting of Shareholders dated 20 May 2016, approval was given for the Bank’s 
inclusion in EMIS’ memorandum of association, thereby acquiring the stake in the company. 

In addition, the amounts for the issue premium and supplementary capital contributions were also 
provided to EMIS.

The increase in the holding which occurred in 2020 resulted from the sale of some shares held by BNA 
to the remaining company shareholders.
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9. INVESTMENTS AT AMORTISED COST
These headings break down as follows:

        2020          2019

Interest rate Book value Interest rate Book value

Treasury bills 18,12% 7 303 738 15,99% 517 488

7 303 738 517 488

Treasury bonds

In domestic currency

Indexed to USD (1) 5,00% 9 849 035 7,04% 52 386 073

Non-adjustable 14,93% 23 989 921 12,30% 11 212 899

33 838 956 63 598 972

In foreign currency (USD) 5,00% 5 348 768 5,00% 3 968 728

5 348 768 3 968 728

46 491 462 68 085 188

Income receivable 1 539 590 1 011 013

1 539 590 1 011 013

Total Gross 48 031 052 69 096 201

Impairment (Note 18) (3 263 710) (1 061 312)

44 767 342 68 034 889

(1) Nominal value indexed to the United States dollar.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Treasury bills” corresponds to treasury bills issued by 
the Angolan State in Angolan currency, with a residual maturity of less than one year and whose 
average rate of return is 18.12% and 15.99%, respectively.

In 2020, the Bank believed that the heightened public debt rating increase did not correspond a 
significant rise in credit risk and subsequent worsening of the impairment stage. In this way, the 
Bank kept the impairment calculation for these securities at stage 1, with a respective 12-month 
probability of default (“PD”) tied to the rating published by the rating agency Moody’s (Note 3.5.3.). 

The decrease in the book value of “Treasury bonds indexed to USD” between 2020 and 2019 was 
primarily due to a significant part of the portfolio of treasury bonds indexed to USD falling due in 
2020. The Bank did not acquire new bonds indexed to USD in 2020. 

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Non-adjustable treasury bonds” corresponds to treasury 
bonds in domestic currency totalling 23,989,921 thousand kwanzas and 11,212,899 thousand 
kwanzas, respectively. The bonds acquired in 2020 were acquired at a discount, with an average 
discount rate of approximately 13%, issued in this year with an average maturity of 2022 and a 
maximum maturity of 2023, and with a coupon rate of 16%.
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On 31 December 2020 and 2019, “Investments at amortised cost” had the following breakdown, 
excluding interest receivable and impairment, in accordance with residual maturities:

Up to 1 month From 1 to 3 months From 3 to 6 months From 6 months to 1 year From 1 to 3 years From 3 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

Treasury bills 3 169445 799 448 - 3 334 845 - - - 7 303 738

Treasury bonds in domestic currency - - - - 9 849 035 - - 9 849 035

Indexed to the United States dollar exchange rate - 145 194 331 627 3 541 446 19 310 685 660 967 - 23 989 921

Not indexed - - - - 4 412 896 935 872 - 5 348 768

Treasury bonds in foreign currency 3 169 445 944 642 331 627 6 876 291 33 572 616 1 596 839 - 46 491 462

Balance on 31 December 2020 - - - 517 488 - - - 517 488

Treasury bills - - - - 17 996 408 27 554 946 6 834 719 52 386 073

Treasury bonds in domestic currency - - - - 8 579 153 1 215 028 1 418 718 11 212 899

Indexed to the United States dollar exchange rate - - - - - - 3 968 728 3 968 728

Not indexed - - - 517 488 26 575 561 28 769 974 12 222 165 68 085 188

Treasury bonds in foreign currency - - - - - 2 095 442 444 394 2 539 836

Balance on 31 December 2019 - 2 748 630 6 299 841 7 841 226 42 654 187 3 225 087 816 073 63 585 045

The change in impairment in “Investments at amortised cost” is analysed in Note 18.
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10. LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
As described in Note 3.5.3.f), in 2019 the Bank deployed a computer tool defining the methodology to 
be used for determining impairment losses in the loan portfolio, for the purpose of complying with the 
requirements of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments – Classification and Measurement (“IFRS 9”).

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Loans to customers” had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Outstanding credit

Domestic currency

Corporate 60 912 534 51 156 370

Private Individuals 6 661 770 5 404 348

Credit cards 1 422 036 1 422 340

Corporate public sector - 220 117

Income receivable 2 880 748 3 431 500

71 877 088 61 634 675

Foreign currency

Corporate 2 861 281 3 747 128

Private Individuals 537 396 415 751

Income receivable 23 645 99 251

3 422 322 4 262 130

Total outstanding credit 75 299 410 65 896 804

2020 2019

Past-due credit

Domestic currency

Corporate 28 570 279 21 139 157

Private Individuals 593 694 380 265

Credit cards 1 370 -

Corporate public sector 256 -

Income receivable 113 669 135 401

29 279 270 21 654 823

Foreign currency

Corporate public sector 620 918 460 715

Corporate 23 990 -

Private Individuals 6 414 5 106

Income receivable 2 915 -

654 237 465 821

Total past-due credit 29 933 507 22 120 644

Total gross lending 105 232 917 88 017 448

Impairment for loans (Note 18) (43 715 601) (36 732 396)

Total net lending 61 517 316 51 285 052

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Past-due credit” totalled 29,933,507 thousand kwanzas 
and 22,120,644 thousand kwanzas, respectively. 

continuation
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On 31 December 2020 and 2019, loans to customers accrued interest at an average annual rate 
of 21.61% and 22.28%, respectively, for credit granted in domestic currency, and 13.14% and 11%, 
respectively, for credit granted in foreign currency. The majority of credit in foreign currency is in 
United States dollars.

As disclosed in Note 31, on 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Bank had credit transactions totalling 
30,486,174 thousand kwanzas and 35,255,300 thousand kwanzas, respectively, with related parties. 
Despite the capital increase of 6,000,000 thousand kwanzas in 2018 (Note 21), the Bank’s exposure 
to these transactions exceeds the limits for major risks stipulated in Banco Nacional de Angola Notice 
no. 09/2016.

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the loan portfolio, including income receivable, had the following 
structure by residual maturity:

2020 2019

In domestic currency

From 1 to 3 months 7 994 322 3 332 782

From 3 to 6 months 14 719 608 4 131 855

From 6 months to 1 year 2 945 243 8 547 763

More than 1 year 44 795 879 50 778 272

Credit cards 1 422 036 1 450 368

Past-due 29 279 270 5 939 575

101 156 358 74 180 613

In foreign currency

From 1 to 3 months 32 942 243 152

From 3 to 6 months 159 292 -

From 6 months to 1 year - -

More than 1 year 3 230 088 5 609 968

Past-due 654 237 7 983 714

4 076 559 13 836 835

105 232 917 88 017 448

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the loan portfolio, including income receivable, has the following 
structure by business sector:

2020 2019

Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment

Manufacturing 30 626 141 (2 492 283) 28 199 165 (834 454)

Services 29 638 650 (14 155 636) 16 691 814 (9 113 390)

Commerce 13 337 883 (7 798 000) 13 978 448 (9 224 568)

Private Individuals 9 327 400 (1 439 379) 6 867 367 (1 614 063)

Agriculture 6 166 129 (4 963 452) 5 972 993 (4 492 431)

Sports 4 970 103 (4 970 103) 4 968 757 (4 471 881)

Civil construction 3 340 796 (2 475 429) 4 411 336 (2 497 512)

Fisheries 2 799 917 (1 548 690) 1 990 720 (808 777)

Hospitality and tourism 2 134 980 (1 652 356) 2 037 360 (1 464 518)

Real estate 2 021 876 (2 021 776) 2 021 876 (2 011 767)

Education 579 040 (140 441) 658 735 (111 635)

Agribusiness 239 592 (31 841) 162 726 (79 741)

Health care 25 996 (13 387) 31 533 (7 438)

Telecommunications 14 614 (12 745) 5 770 (220)

Poultry industry 9 800 (83) 18 847 -

105 232 917 (43 715 601) 88 017 448 (36 732 396)

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the loan portfolio, including income receivable, had the following 
structure by domicile:

2020 2019

Resident 104 926 904 87 690 392

Non-resident 306 013 327 056

105 232 917 88 017 448
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The detail of the loan portfolio by segment and by transaction year is as follows:

Loans to companies Loans to individuals Corporate public sector Total

Year of granting
Number of

transactions Amount Impairment
Number of

transactions Amount Impairment
Number of

transactions Amount Impairment
Number of

transactions Amount Impairment

2013 and prior 150 11 714 979 (9 869 582) 992 1 445 517 (322 314) 1 620 918 (438 712) 1 143 13 781 414 (10 630 608) (4 829 700)

2014 61 2 841 070 (1 141 191) 353 481 354 (78 004) - - - 414 3 322 424 (1 219 195)

2015 44 6 034 827 (1 041 851) 487 791 902 (300 304) 1 18 (1) 532 6 826 747 (1 342 157)

2016 81 11 219 652 (10 211 362) 752 530 618 (127 151) 1 83 (76) 834 11 750 353 (10 338 590)

2017 86 7 271 936 (4 359 334) 754 650 218 (150 086) - - - 840 7 922 154 (4 509 420)

2018 141 3 084 004 (402 272) 2 147 1 763 305 (113 822) 1 156 (140) 2 289 4 847 465 (516 234)

2019 34 25 903 239 (6 113 975) 665 1 688 886 (159 511) - - - 699 27 592 125 (6 273 485)

2020 47 27 270 781 (8 711 049) 595 1 919 454 (174 864) - - - 642 29 190 235 (8 885 913)

Total 644 95 340 488 (41 850 616) 6 745 9 271 254 (1 426 056) 4 621 175 (438 929) 7 393 105 232 917 (43 715 601)

Loans to companies Loans to individuals Corporate public sector Total

Year of granting
Number of

transactions Amount Impairment
Number of

transactions Amount Impairment
Number of

transactions Amount Impairment
Number of

transactions Amount Impairment

2012 and prior 65 11 160 495 (4 423 100) 184 1 320 199 (250 148) 2 404 639 (156 452) 251 12 885 333 (4 829 700)

2013 18 1 572 347 (937 300) 36 135 727 (6 821) - - - 54 1 708 074 (944 121)

2014 26 6 843 321 (2 623 348) 137 469 903 (79 487) - - - 163 7 313 224 (2 702 835)

2015 16 4 731 808 (1 042 424) 273 892 739 (56 287) - - - 289 5 624 547 (1 098 711)

2016 34 14 767 311 (9 830 468) 440 647 918 (98 762) - - - 474 15 415 229 (9 929 230)

2017 93 11 028 874 (1 930 231) 2 627 1 462 064 (256 368) 1 40 223 (6 214) 2 721 12 531 161 (2 192 813)

2018 221 13 329 094 (256 317) 1 710 1 508 871 (221 612) 1 24 529 (2 659) 1 932 14 862 494 (480 588)

2019 117 14 922 579 (11 566 701) 2 354 2 678 867 (2 984 587) 1 75 941 (3 110) 17 677 386 (14 554 398)

Total 653 78 355 829 (32 609 889) 10 951 9 116 288 (3 954 072) 13 545 332 (168 435) 11 617 88 017 448 (36 732 396)
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The amount of credit transactions granted in 2020 in relation to loans to companies includes 
transactions restructured during the year.

As described in Note 3.5.3.f), in 2019, the Bank implemented a model for calculating and recording 
credit risk impairment, which is dependent on improvements to the databases which support 

it, mainly in terms of scheduling restructured credit transactions and recording and evaluating 
guarantees received.

The detail of the amount of gross credit exposure, including interest receivable, and of the amount 
of impairment by type of impairment analysis, is as follows:The distribution of the loan portfolio 

Loans to companies Loans to individuals Corporate public sector Credit cards Total

2020 Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment

Individual analysis 80 695 177 (40 383 323) 1 020 943 (344 206) 620 918 (438 712) - - 82 337 038 (41 166 241)

Collective analysis 14 645 311 (1 467 293) 6 826 905 (1 080 359) 256 (217) 1 423 406 (1 490) 22 895 878 (2 549 360)

95 340 488 (41 850 616) 7 847 848 (1 424 566) 621 175 (438 929) 1 423 406 (1 490) 105 232 917 (43 715 601)

Loans to companies Loans to individuals Corporate public sector Credit cards Total

2019 Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment Total exposure Impairment

Individual analysis 47 321 164 (31 074 546) 5 821 263 (2 663 330) 106 108 (39 698) - - 53 248 534 (33 777 574)

Collective analysis 29 584 296 (1 511 967) 3 295 025 (1 290 741) 439 224 (128 736) 1 450 368 (23 377) 34 768 914 (2 954 822)

76 905 460 (32 586 513) 9 116 288 (3 954 071) 545 332 (168 434) 1 450 368 (23 377) 88 017 448 (36 732 396)
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measured by degrees of internal risk is as follows:

2020

None
(A)

Very low
(B)

Low
(C)

Moderate
(D)

High
(E)

Very high
(F)

Loss
(G) Total

Loans to companies 2 916 272 45 764 829 7 099 187 5 721 471 1 748 675 105 464 31 984 590 95 340 488

Loans to individuals 61 309 6 060 750 139 462 59 153 84 434 163 324 1 279 416 7 847 848

Corporate public sector - - 18 - - - 621 157 621 175

Credit cards 1 363 977 49 404 4 420 5 605 - - - 1 423 406

4 341 558 51 874 983 7 243 087 5 786 229 1 833 109 268 788 33 885 163 105 232 917

2019

None
(A)

Very low
(B)

Low
(C)

Moderate
(D)

High
(E)

Very high
(F)

Loss
(G) Total

Loans to companies 33 993 531 9 447 521 133 10 943 323 3 843 792 18 545 646 9 048 588 76 905 460

Loans to individuals 7 292 493 21 136 76 149 143 152 114 809 1 437 975 30 575 9 116 288

Corporate public sector 395 511 6 879 2 411 2 049 17 933 120 539 9 545 332

Credit cards 1 444 995 2 753 450 - 2 172 - - 1 450 369

43 126 529 40 215 600 143 11 088 524 3 978 706 20 104 160 9 079 172 88 017 449

With regard to the fair value of properties received in lieu of payment or execution; the history of 
properties received in lieu of payment or execution is residual.

The Bank deployed new software in 2019 to calculate impairment (Note 3.5.3 f)). However, this 
software was still in the improvement phase as of 31 December 2020, causing some system limitations. 
As such, the methodological tool could not be fully deployed for determining impairment losses for 
credit granted prior to closing out the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2020. In 
addition, in view of the above, there is still a collection of information requiring investment for further 
validation, since this information would be used as a basis for the disclosures required by Instruction 
no. 5/2016 of 8 August. As such, it was not possible to disclose the following information required by 
Instruction no. 5/2016 of 8 August, published by Banco Nacional de Angola:

• Table IV – Detail of loan portfolio restructured by restructuring measure;

• Table V – Inputs and outputs to the restructured loan portfolio;

• Table VI – Detail of the fair value of underlying guarantees of the loan portfolio for the segments 
of companies, real estate construction/development and housing;

•  Table VII – Financing/guarantee ratio for the segments of companies, real estate construction/
development and housing;

• Table X – Disclosure of risk factors associated with impairment model by segment.
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12. OTHER TANGIBLE ASSETS
The item “Other tangible assets” had the following changes in 2020:

31.12.2019 Amortisation 31.12.2020 

Gross Assets
Accumulated 
depreciation Net assets Increases Transfers

Write offs,
disposals and other for the year Write-offs Gross Assets

Accumulated 
depreciation Net assets

Real Estate

In own use 9 200 731 (3 612 679) 5 588 052 - - 9 223 (743 553) (352 947) 9 209 954 (4 709 179) 4 500 775

Works at rented properties 4 525 636 (996 036) 3 529 601 28 513 - (659 934) (190 797) 119 555 3 894 215 (1 067 278) 2 826 937

13 726 368 (4 608 715) 9 117 653 28 513 - (650 711) (934 350) (233 392) 13 104 169 (5 776 457) 7 327 712

Equipment

Computer equipment 2 784 595 (1 592 502) 1 192 093 267 734 - - (570 349) - 3 052 329 (2 162 851) 889 478

Furniture and materials 1 242 466 (646 176) 596 290 6 517 (14 795) - (180 926) 9 273 1 234 188 (817 829) 416 359

Transport equipment 626 068 (301 098) 324 970 503 500 32 500 - (198 638) (8 455) 1 162 068 (508 191) 653 877

Machines and tools 398 363 (263 211) 135 153 3 952 (16 435) - (53 623) (302) 385 880 (317 136) 68 744

Interior fixtures 460 418 (267 734) 192 684 388 - - (57 528) - 460 806 (325 262) 135 544

Security equipment 346 121 (139 223) 206 898 137 752 - - (57 076) - 483 873 (196 299) 287 574

5 858 032 (3 209 945) 2 648 087 919 843 1 270 - (1 118 140) 516 6 779 145 (4 327 568) 2 451 577

Fixed assets in progress 4 388 068 - 4 388 068 388 178 - - - - 4 776 246 - 4 776 246

4 388 068 - 4 388 068 388 178 - - - - 4 776 246 - 4 776 246

Other fixed assets 267 387 (128 768) 138 619 14 522 (1 270) (41 345) 280 639 (170 113) 110 526

267 387 (128 768) 138 619 14 522 (1 270) - (41 345) - 280 639 (170 113) 110 526

24 239 854 (7 947 428) 16 292 426 1 351 056 - (650 711) (2 093 835) (232 876) 24 940 199 (10 274 138) 14 666 061
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The Bank acquired in financial year 2019 a property from related entities in the amount of 1,850,000 
thousand kwanzas, which is used within the scope of its activity, but for which and due to bureaucratic 
issues, the Bank has not yet been able to register the respective ownership.

On 31 December 2020, the balance of the item “Fixed assets in progress” was primarily comprised 
of one first-floor unit of the registered office building of Garden Towers acquired for the amount of 
1,850,000 thousand kwanzas (the property described in the above paragraph), and one pavilion in the 

Retail Park acquired for the amount of 866,672 thousand kwanzas. These properties were acquired 
by signing a payment-in-kind agreement for credit default for the purpose of expanding the facilities. 
In addition, this item also includes investments made to expand the Bank, namely through works to 
improve its network of branches. 

The item “Other tangible assets” had the following changes in 2019:

31.12.2018 Amortisation 31.12.2019 

Gross Assets
Accumulated 
depreciation Net assets Increases Transfers

Write offs,
disposals and other for the year Write-offs Gross Assets

Accumulated 
depreciation Net assets

Real Estate

In own use 3 877 996 (1 286 723) 2 591 273 5 400 679 (77 944) (263 910) 38 036 9 200 731 (3 612 679) 5 588 052

Works at rented properties 1 822 631 (320 570) 1 502 061 2 860 789 (157 784) (75 841) 32 352 4 525 636 (996 036) 3 529 601

5 700 627 (1 607 293) 4 093 335 8 261 468 - (235 728) (339 751) 70 388 13 726 368 (4 608 715) 9 117 653

Equipment

Computer equipment 1 523 938 (663 216) 860 722 1 260 657 (321 160) 2 784 595 (1 592 502) 1 192 093

Furniture and materials 452 903 (211 592) 241 311 799 063 (9 500) (80 579) 1 242 466 (646 176) 596 290

Transport equipment 328 458 (126 742) 201 716 297 610 (91 646) 626 068 (301 098) 324 970

Machines and tools 160 695 (94 700) 65 995 237 669 (27 188) 999 398 363 (263 211) 135 153

Interior fixtures 190 179 (100 235) 89 944 260 739 9 500 (31 255) (999) 460 418 (267 734) 192 684

Security equipment 207 395 (51 411) 155 984 138 726 (30 415) 346 121 (139 223) 206 898

2 863 567 (1 247 895) 1 615 671 2 994 465 - - (582 243) - 5 858 032 (3 209 945) 2 648 087

Fixed assets in progress 3 905 537 - 3 905 537 482 531 - - - - 4 388 068 - 4 388 068

3 905 537 - 3 905 537 482 531 - - - - 4 388 068 - 4 388 068

Other fixed assets 114 033 (48 539) 65 494 153 354 - - (20 874) - 267 387 (128 768) 138 619

114 033 (48 539) 65 494 153 354 - - (20 874) - 267 387 (128 768) 138 619

12 583 764 (2 903 727) 9 680 037 11 891 818 - (235 728) (942 869) 70 388 24 239 854 (7 947 428) 16 292 426
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On 31 December 2019, the item “Fixed assets in progress” primarily entailed investments to expand 
the Bank’s network of branches.

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The item “Intangible assets” had the following changes in 2020 and 2019:

31.12.2019 Amortisation 31.12.2020

Gross Assets Accumulated depreciation Net assets Increases for the year Gross Assets Accumulated depreciation Net assets

Software 252 734 (75 844) 176 890 - (48 906) 252 734 (124 750) 127 984

Multi-annual costs 12 139 (11 382) 757 - (108) 12 139 (11 490) 649

Intangible assets in progress 246 657 - 246 657 586 424 - 833 081 - 833 081

Other 0 - 0 - - - - -

511 530 (87 226) 424 304 586 424 (49 014) 1 097 954 (136 240) 961 714

31.12.2018 Amortisation 31.12.2019

Gross Assets Accumulated depreciation Net assets Increases for the year Gross Assets Accumulated depreciation Net assets

Software 56 011 (16 965) 39 047 196 723 (44 396) 252 734 (75 844) 176 890

Multi-annual costs 4 520 (4 170) 350 7 619 (99) 12 139 (11 382) 757

Intangible assets in progress 127 652 - 127 652 119 005 246 657 - 246 657

Other 0 - 0 0 - 0 - 0

188 184 (21 135) 167 049 323 346 (44 496) 511 530 (87 226) 424 304
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During the year ending 31 December 2020, the item “Intangible assets in progress” increased by 
586,424 thousand kwanzas due to the investment in the tool SAP S/4HANA ERP. The investment in 
this ERP tool has not been fully paid up in the year ending 31 December 2020.

14. CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
The bank is subject to industrial tax, and is considered a “Group A” taxpayer.

The current tax for the year ending 31 December 2020 was calculated pursuant to Law no. 26/20 of 20 
July, with the applicable tax rate being 35% (30% in 2019). 

Tax returns are subject to review and correction by the tax authorities during a period of 5 years, and 
due to different interpretations of tax legislation, could result in corrections to the taxable profits 
relating to the 2015 to 2019 financial years. However, it is not foreseeable that any corrections will be 
made to these financial years and, if they do occur, no significant impacts are expected to the financial 
statements.

Tax losses assessed in a certain year, as provided for in Article 48, paragraph 1 of Law no. 26/20 of 20 
July, may be deducted from the taxable profits of the subsequent five years.

Current tax assets and liabilities recognised on the balance sheet on 31 December 2020 and 2019 had 
the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Current tax liabilities

 Special Banking Transaction Contribution - -

 Tax on profit/loss for the year - 125 113

- 125 113

The estimated taxes for the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

2020 2019

Result before taxes and other fees 1 604 567 2 806 541

Income from government debt securities or equivalent subject
to Capital Gains Tax (IAC)

(5 868 654) (5 564 134)

Costs not accepted for tax purposes:

Entertainment expenses 6 609 57 041

Other 1 617 790 641 994

Taxable profit (2 639 688) (2 058 558)

Nominal tax rate 35% 30%

Industrial tax on profit/loss for the year - -

No tax payable was calculated for the year 2020.

Income taxes are reflected in the income statement, except when their underlying transactions have 
been reflected in other equity categories. In such case, the corresponding tax is also reflected as an 
offsetting entry against equity, without affecting the result for the year.

Income from government debt securities resulting from treasury bonds and treasury bills issued 
by the Angolan State, up to 31 December 2012, whose issue is regulated by the Direct Public Debt 
Framework Law (Law no. 16/02 of 5 December), and by Regulatory Decrees no. 51/03 and no. 52/03 
of 8 July, are exempt from all taxes. This is supplemented by the provisions of article 23 (1c) of the 
Industrial Tax Code (Law no. 18/92 of 3 July), in force until 31 December 2014, which expressly states 
that returns from any Angolan government debt securities are not considered income for the purposes 
of determining the Industrial Tax payable.

The cost calculated with the liquidation of the Capital Investment Tax is excluded from the costs 
accepted for tax purposes, as provided for in article 48 of Law no. 26/20 of 20 July.

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Bank had no amount due for income tax, as a result of its negative 
taxable profits in the current year. In this context, on 31 December 2020, the Bank had deferred tax 
assets on tax losses in the amount of 102,561 thousand kwanzas for having a certification from the 
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General Tax Authority on the future recoverability of this amount (Note 15).The reconciliation between 
the nominal tax rate and the 2020 tax charge, together with the reconciliation between the tax 
cost/income and product of the accounting profit through the nominal tax rate, has the following 
breakdown:

2020 2019

Tax rate Amount Tax rate Amount

Profit before tax 1 604 567 2 806 541

Tax calculated based on nominal tax rate 35,00% 561 599 30,00% 841 962

Income from government debt securities or
equivalent subject to Capital Gains Tax (IAC)

-365,75% (5 868 654) -198,26% (5 564 134)

Costs not accepted for tax purposes:

Entertainment expenses 0,41% 6 609 2,03% 57 041

Other 100,82% 1 617 790 22,87% 641 994

Tax payable/recoverable 0,00% - 0,00% -

15. OTHER ASSETS
The item “Other assets” is made up as follows: 

2020 2019

Prepaid expenses 920 115 307 820

Taxes recoverable 688 058 305 303

State sector 472 582 1 216 984

Other advances 391 523 234 314

Corporate sector 249 583 249 583

Cash differences 170 288 136 485

Private Individuals 57 099 57 099

Office supplies 27 220 58 373

Artistic assets 18 558 18 558

Other 1 543 105 173 876

4 538 132 2 758 394

Impairment (Note 18) (129 766) (129 766)

4 408 366 2 628 628

The item “Prepaid expenses” includes deferred costs for rent and lease contracts, together with 
contracts for consulting projects with external entities. This item also includes deferred amounts paid 
for health, car, occupational accident, engineering risk and multi-risk insurance.

On 31 December 2020, the balance of the item “Taxes recoverable” includes a balance of 263,655 
thousand kwanzas for the Industrial Tax receivable by the Bank for a provisional payment in 2017 
and 2018, despite losses acceptable for tax purposes, together with a balance of 102,561 thousand 
kwanzas for a deferred tax asset on a tax loss from the year 2019 for which the Bank has a certification 
from the General Tax Authority on the future recoverability of this amount (Note 3.5.8.).
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On 31 December 2020, the item “State sector” includes amounts receivable from the Ministry of the 
Economy for soft loans under the Angola Invest project. 

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Corporate sector” included advances to suppliers.

On 31 December 2020, the item “Other” includes bank guarantees which have been executed and are 
in the process of being reclassified under the item “Loans to customers”.

16. RESOURCES OF CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHER CREDIT              
       INSTITUTIONS
On 31 December 2020 and 2019, this item had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Resources of other credit institutions 1 200 337 -

Banco de Investimento Rural (BIR) 1 000 247 -

Banco YETU - 10 635 616

Banco Nacional de Angola 4 173 431 5 532 922

Payment system obligations 6 374 015 16 168 539

16 168 539 2 586 710

On 31 December 2020, the Bank obtained financing in the amount of 1,200,000 thousand kwanzas 
from Banco de Investimento Rural (‘BIR’), as well as financing in the amount of 1,000,000 kwanzas 
from Banco YETU. Both were obtained for the purposes of short-term liquidity, with interest rates of 
10.25% and 9%, respectively, with maturities in January 2021.

On 31 December 2020, the item “Payment system obligations” includes the amount of 4,173,431 
thousand kwanzas for certified cheques pending submission for compensation, together with credit 
card usage. These balances were settled at the start of 2021.
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17. CUSTOMER RESOURCES AND OTHER LOANS
On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Customer resources and other loans” had the following 
breakdown:

2020 2019

Resident demand deposits

In domestic currency

Corporate 36 397 654 42 821 752

Private Individuals 26 977 917 13 380 168

In foreign currency

Corporate 12 227 628 11 106 855

Private Individuals 4 842 910 3 659 189

Non-resident demand deposits

In domestic currency

Corporate 904 947 192 869

Private Individuals 395 755 233 742

In foreign currency

Corporate 47 580 35 303

Private Individuals 164 519 122 454

Total demand deposits 81 958 910 71 552 333

2020 2019

Resident term deposits

In domestic currency

Corporate 14 418 965 6 679 445

Private Individuals 8 529 877 7 656 132

In foreign currency

Corporate 7 570 185 5 610 107

Private Individuals 5 142 933 4 117 899

Non-resident term deposits

In domestic currency

Corporate 4 849 11 824

Private Individuals 862 6 082

35 667 671 24 081 488

Indexed deposits 6 162 456 20 871 257

Interest payable 33 463 114 779

Total term deposits 41 863 590 45 067 524

Resident loans 144 030 144 031

Non-resident loans 4 165 488 3 876 024

4 309 518 4 020 055

Total deposits 128 132 018 120 639 912

continuation
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As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, customers’ demand deposits are not remunerated.

Deposits indexed to USD correspond to a financial investment with capital indexed to the United 
States dollar (USD), safeguarding the deposit from the depreciation of domestic currency, with capital 
reimbursed at the revaluation amount at the exchange rate on the maturity date, plus interest.

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, term deposits in foreign currency were remunerated at an average 
interest rate of 2.79% and 1.93%, respectively, while term deposits in domestic currency were 
remunerated at an average weighted interest rate of 12.02% and 8.86%, respectively.

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Non-resident loans” corresponds to financing in the initial 
amount of 10,000 thousand USD granted by Norsad Finance Limited, whose balances on these dates 
were 4,165,488 and 3,876,024 thousand kwanzas, respectively. This loan was granted with a five-year 
term and a maturity of 22 December 2022, and is remunerated at a variable interest rate indexed 
to the three-month Libor, plus an 8% spread. Interest is paid quarterly in arrears on 30 March, June, 
September and December of each year. On 31 December 2020, the amount of 5,485 thousand USD 
had been repaid. 

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, customer term deposits, including interest payable, had the following 
structure by currency and average interest rate:

2020 2019

Interest 
rate

Amount in 
currency

Amount in 
thousand 
kwanzas

Interest 
rate

Amount in 
currency

Amount in 
thousand 
kwanzas

In kwanzas 12,02% 22 954 553 8,86% 14 353 482

Indexed to the United States dollar 3,53% 6 195 919 1,50% 20 986 036

In United States dollars (USD) 2,62% 15 822 10 282 863 1,94% 15 619 7 532 048

In euros 3,49% 3 050 2 430 255 2,06% 4 060 2 195 958

41 863 590 45 067 524

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, “Term deposits”, including interest payable, had the following 
distribution by residual maturities:

2020 2019

Term deposits

Up to 3 months 19 587 321 18 198 505

From 3 to 6 months 9 868 099 3 017 683

From 6 months to 1 year 12 280 628 8 347 845

From 1 to 5 years 126 997 15 503 492

More than 5 years 545 -

41 863 590 45 067 524

Other loans 4 309 518 144 031

From 1 to 3 years - 3 876 024

From 3 to 5 years 4 309 518 4 020 055

46 173 108 49 087 580
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18. PROVISIONS AND IMPAIRMENT
The changes in the items “Provisions” and “Impairment” on 31 December 2020 and 2019 were as 
follows:

Balance 
31.12.2019 Credits Reversals Uses Transfers

Balance 
31.12.2020

Impairment for cash on hand at other credit institutions 
(Note 5)

16 511 3 554 - - - 20 065

Impairment for investments at central banks and other credit 
institutions (Note 6)

29 868 - - - - 29 868

Impairment for investments at amortised cost (Note 9) 1 061 312 2 202 398 - - - 3 263 710

Impairment for other tangible assets (Note 18) - 418 136 - - - 418 136

Impairment for other assets (Note 15) 129 766 - - - - 129 766

Impairment for other assets net of reversals and write-offs 1 237 457 2 624 088 - - - 3 861 545

Impairment for loans (Note 10) 36 732 396 8 362 941 - (979 073) (400 663) 43 715 601

Provisions for guarantees (Note 30) 3 870 599 - (203 307) - 400 663 4 067 955

Other provisions 53 214 9 703 - - - 62 917

Impairment and provisions for loans to customers 40 656 209 8 372 644 (203 307) (979 073) - 47 846 473

41 893 666 10 996 732 (203 307) (979 073) - 51 708 018

Balance 
31.12.2018 Credits Reversals Uses Transfers

Balance 
31.12.2019

Impairment for cash on hand at other credit institutions 
(Note 5)

16 511 - - - - 16 511

Impairment for investments at central banks and other credit 
institutions (Note 6)

29 868 - - - - 29 868

Impairment for investments at amortised cost (Note 9) 1 061 312 - - - - 1 061 312

Impairment for other assets (Note 15) - 129 766 - - - 129 766

Impairment for other assets net of reversals and write-offs 1 107 691 129 766 - - - 1 237 457

Impairment for loans (Note 10) 22 177 998 15 856 409 (1 302 011) - 36 732 396

Provisions for guarantees (Note 30) 3 188 269 682 330 - 3 870 599

Other provisions 244 509 - (191 295) - 53 214

Impairment and provisions for loans to customers 25 610 776 16 538 739 (191 295) (1 302 011) - 40 656 209

26 718 467 16 668 505 (191 295) (1 302 011) - 41 893 666

The balances of the items “Provisions for liabilities and other commitments” and “Provisions for 
general banking risks” are aimed at hedging duly identified contingencies arising from the Bank’s 
business, and are reviewed on each reporting date to reflect the best estimate of the amount and 
likelihood of payment.

The Bank is studying the possibility of providing a retirement supplement to its employees, and has an 
application in progress for a retirement pension plan.

The effective date of this liability and its amount remain unknown, by which there exists no 
corresponding legal or constructive obligation as of the approval date of these financial statements. 
For this reason, the Bank has chosen to derecognize the provision recorded in 2018.

20. OTHER LIABILITIES
 On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Other liabilities” had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Staff expenses 1 142 159 1 536 617

Suppliers 562 396 811 454

Obligations of a tax nature 497 048 181 762

Obligations of an administrative/commercial nature 138 709 49 314

Other liabilities 9 791 9 790

Resources tied to exchange transactions 395 3 269 032

2 350 498 5 857 969

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Staff expenses” includes a holiday bonus for the Bank’s 
employees in the amount of 250,840 thousand kwanzas and 241,658 thousand kwanzas, respectively. 
Pursuant to the General Labour Law, the amount of the holiday subsidy paid to employees in a particular 
year is a right acquired by them in the year immediately preceding. As a result, the Bank increased the 
holiday bonus for the year 2020, which was not settled until January 2021. This item also includes 
a provision for “Variable remuneration for performance” (RVD) in the amount of 751,396 thousand 
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kwanzas and 1,108,768 thousand kwanzas, respectively (Note 28). This variable remuneration will be 
settled in 2021 and 2020.

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the balance of the item “Resources linked to foreign exchange 
transactions” was 395 thousand kwanzas and 3,269,032 thousand kwanzas, respectively. This item 
includes amounts deposited by customers serving as collateral for settling import transactions, for the 
purposes of opening the respective documentary credit.

21. EQUITY
The changes in the items of “Equity” in the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019 had the following 
breakdown:

Other reserves and retained earnings

Share capital Treasury Shares
Reserve for

adjustment of equity Legal reserve Other reserves Retained earnings
Net profit/loss

for the year Total Equity

Balances on 31 December 2017 - before IFRS 9 4 000 000 - - 2 433 962 8 041 771 (255 418) 2 075 515 16 295 830

Impairment from the implementation of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (Note 3.4): - - - - - (14 468) - (14 468)

Cash on hand at other credit institutions (Note 5) - - - - - (111 663) - (111 663)

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions (Note 6) - - - - - (842 108) - (842 108)

Investments at amortised cost (Note 9) - - - (968 239) - (968 239)

Balances on 01 January 2018 - after IFRS 9 4 000 000 - - 2 433 962 8 041 771 (1 223 657) 2 075 515 15 327 591

Application of result from the year 2017 - - - 415 103 1 660 412 - (2 075 515) -

Increase in share capital 6 000 000 - - - (6 000 000) - - -

Effects of accounting policy adjustments - - - - - 416 381 - 416 381

Comprehensive profit/loss for the year - - - - - - 4 603 486 4 603 486

6 000 000 - - 415 103 (4 339 588) 416 381 2 527 971 5 019 867

Balances on 31 December 2018 10 000 000 - - 2 849 065 3 702 183 (807 276) 4 603 486 20 347 458

Application of result from the year 2018 - - - 920 697 3 682 789 - (4 603 486) -

Adjustment of equity - - 14 052 706 - - (7 481 210) - 6 571 496

Acquisitions of treasury shares - (131 200) - - - - (131 200)

Comprehensive profit/loss for the year - - - - - - 2 702 522 2 702 522

Balances on 31 December 2019 10 000 000 (131 200) 14 052 706 3 769 762 7 384 972 (8 288 486) 2 702 522 29 490 275

Application of result from the year 2019 - - - 540 504 2 162 018 - (2 702 522) -

Comprehensive profit/loss for the year - - - - - - 1 707 129 1 707 129

Balances on 31 December 2020 10 000 000 (131 200) 14 052 706 4 310 266 9 546 989 (8 288 486) 1 707 129 31 197 404
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Share Capital

In order to comply with the provisions of Article 3(1) of Notice No. 02/2018, of 21 February of Banco 
Nacional de Angola, the Bank approved, in an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 4 August 2018, 
the increase in share capital from 4,000,000 thousand kwanzas to 10,000,000 thousand kwanzas by 
incorporation of reserves. 

The Bank used international standard IAS 29 - “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” 
for non-monetary items until 31/12/2018, having adopted the following assumptions as monetary 
conversion factors:

• To update the balances of accounting items, the consumer price index (“CPI”) of Luanda was 
considered as a monetary conversion factor.

• The CPIs available between January 2009 and June 2019, as published by Banco Nacional de Angola 
(BNA), were taken into account.

• For monetary updates prior to 31 December 2008, the value of the first index published by BNA 
(January 2009) was used; for this reason, impacts prior to this date have not been estimated.

• As provided for in the standard, at the start of the first period of applying its requirements, equity 
components (except for retained earnings and any revaluation surplus) are re-expressed by applying 
a general price index as of the dates on which the components were established.

• Summary of items re-expressed and respective impacts by item:

d. Other tangible assets and intangible assets – 6,502,268.76 thousand kwanzas.

e. Non-current assets held for sale – 69,226.91 thousand kwanzas.

f.  Share capital – 14,052,706.16 thousand kwanzas.

g.  Retained earnings – 7,481,210.49 thousand kwanzas.

No new shares were issued, resulting in a nominal value of 2,000 kwanzas compared to 800 kwanzas 
in 2017.

Balances with related parties in the years 2020 and 2019 are shown in Note 31.

Shareholder structure

Tier% % Accumulated holding N.º of shareholders N.º of shares held Amount

Below 2% 28,13% 27 1 406 302 2 812 604 000

2%-5% 63,37% 21 3 168 511 6 337 022 000

Above 5% 8,50% 1 425 187 850 374 000

100% 49 5 000 000 10 000 000 000

Given the extensive size of Banco Keve’s shareholder structure on 31 December 2020, it is presented 
by tiers of holdings.

During the year ending 31 December 2020, the Bank’s shareholder structure did not undergo 
significant changes.

Other reserves and retained earnings

Legal reserve
Under prevailing legislation, the Bank must establish a legal reserve fund equal to the amount of 
its share capital. For this purpose, each year, a minimum of 10% of the previous year’s net profit is 
transferred to this reserve. 

This reserve can only be utilised to absorb accumulated losses once all the other reserves have been 
exhausted.

By unanimous decision of the General Meeting of Shareholders of 16 April 2020, the decision was 
made to transfer 20% of the 2019 net profit to the “Legal reserve” and 80% to “Other reserves”.
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22. FINANCIAL MARGIN
In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, this item had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Interest and similar income

Interest from loans to customers 10 828 004 6 892 392

Interest from treasury bonds indexed to USD 2 953 849 3 823 199

Interest from non-adjustable treasury bonds 2 302 439 1 512 166

Interest from investments at central banks and other credit institutions 656 024 308 503

Interest from treasury bills 612 084 228 769

17 352 401 12 765 029

Interest and similar charges

Interest from customer resources and other loans (2 508 091) (2 332 452)

Interest from resources of central banks and credit institutions (1 948 521) (1 159 059)

(4 456 612) (3 491 511)

12 895 788 9 273 518

Presidential Legislative Decree no. 2/14 was published in the Official Gazette (Diário da República) dated 
20 October 2016, passing the revision and republication of the Capital Gains Tax (“IAC”) Code. According 
to this decree, in addition to interest, any other income from government debt securities (treasury bills 
and treasury bonds) and private debt securities (bonds and other debt securities from companies) is 
taxed and recorded under the item “Other operating income” (Note 27).

In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Interest and similar income – loans 
to customers” includes the balance of interest received from credit transactions in the amount of 
10,828,004 thousand kwanzas and 6,892,392 thousand kwanzas, respectively. 

With regard to the item “Interest and similar income – interest from treasury bonds indexed to the 
United States dollar (USD)”, the decrease in the balance between the two periods is related to the falling 
due of a large part of the portfolio of treasury bonds indexed to USD in 2020.

In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Interest and similar income – interest from 
non-adjustable treasury bonds” includes the balance of interest received from treasury bonds.

In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Interest and similar income – customer 
resources and other loans” refers to remuneration paid by customer term deposits, together with 
interest associated with a loan in 2018 with Norsad Finance Limited (Note 17).

23. PROFITS AND CHARGES FROM SERVICES AND FEES
In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, this item had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Income from services and commissions

Commissions on credit transactions 2 518 013 2 548 993

Commissions on exchange transactions 643 156 1 516 381

Commissions on banking services 526 536 579 101

Commissions on securities transactions 175 156 85 183

Commissions on cards 13 202 53 671

Other income 994 557 806 002

4 870 619 5 589 332

Charges from services and commissions

Commissions for potential commitments or responsibilities (170 005) (81 910)

(170 005) (81 910)

4 700 614 5 507 422

“Commissions on credit transactions” in the years 2020 and 2019 primarily correspond to fees charged 
for the opening of credit lines.

In 2020 and 2019, the item “Commissions on foreign exchange transactions” corresponds to the 
commissions charged by the Bank on operations to issue payment orders abroad, with a negative 
variation due to the revision of the price list at the end of 2019 resulting from Notice no. 11/19 of the 
BNA of 26 November and reduction in the volume of operations.
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In the years 2020 and 2019, the item “Commissions on banking services” is primarily from income 
from fees related to amounts collected and electronic compensation. These fees are tied to the daily 
balances of electronic clearing houses, which are not settled until the next working day.

In the years 2020 and 2019, the item “Charges from services and commissions – commissions for 
potential commitments or responsibilities” includes fees related to guarantees received, fees for third-
party commitments, fees associated with banking services provided, and others.

24. INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS AT AMORTISED COST
In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Results from investments at amortised 
cost” corresponds to gains from the disposal of treasury bonds.

25. FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNINGS
In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, this item had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Income Costs Total Income Costs Total

Exchange revaluation and results 
from exchange transactions

6 879 880 (1 788 819) 5 091 061 3 192 303 (1 253 154) 1 939 149

Revaluation of indexed financial 
instruments

13 095 209 (6 011 006) 7 084 203 22 937 534 (6 571 166) 16 366 368

19 975 088 (7 799 825) 12 175 264 26 129 837 (7 824 320) 18 305 517

The item “Exchange revaluation and results from foreign exchange transactions” includes commissions 
received by the Bank in transactions to sell foreign currency to third parties. In accordance with 
Instruction no. 03/2014 of 3 April, financial institutions are authorised to practice effective exchange 
rates in each transaction for the sale of currency, i.e. the nominal exchange rate plus all fees and costs 
before taxes, up to a limit of 3% over the reference exchange rate for sale published by Banco Nacional 
de Angola.

The item “Revaluation of indexed financial instruments” includes income from exchange fluctuations 
in treasury bonds in domestic currency indexed to the United States dollar exchange rate (Note 9) and 
costs of customer deposits indexed to the United States dollar exchange rate (Note 17).

26. INCOME FROM DISPOSAL OF OTHER ASSETS
In the year ending 31 December 2020, this item totalled 466,136 thousand kwanzas due to a loss from 
the disposal of tangible assets.

27. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, this item had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Other operational income

Other operating income 289 103 272 755

Other operational costs

Direct and indirect taxes (1 757 198) (649 561)

Fines and penalties from the regulatory authority (70 867) (7 551)

Negotiation of credit (59 450) (42 422)

Other operating costs (6 759) 0

(1 605 171) (426 779)

In the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the item “Other operating income” refers essentially 
to foreign exchange income arising from transactions carried out daily using VISA cards. 

The item “Other operating costs – direct and indirect taxes” primarily corresponds to Capital Gains Tax 
(Note 3.5.8).

In the years 2020 and 2019, the item “Credit negotiations” refers to costs resulting from the 
renegotiation of loans through debt pardoning. 

In the year ending 31 December 2020, the balance of the item “Fines and penalties” was 70,867 
thousand kwanzas for proceedings brought by Banco Nacional de Angola primarily entailing 
management of the currency position.
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28. STAFF EXPENSES
 In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, this item had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Wages and salaries

Remuneration 5 450 954 4 933 681

 Variable remuneration for performance 886 094 1 117 909

Optional employer’s contributions 833 837 700 061

Mandatory employer’s contributions 568 691 462 023

Other costs 1 374 254 1 387 622

9 113 830 8 601 297

In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, the number of employees was 582 and 576, respectively.

This item also includes “Variable remuneration for performance” (RVD) payable in 2021 for the year 2020, in 
the amount of 886,094 thousand kwanzas. On 31 December 2019, this amount was 1,117,909 thousand 
kwanzas (Note 20).

In the year ending 31 December 2020, the item “Optional employer’s contributions” includes costs 
associated with entertainment expenses, health insurance and clinical services.

The amount of staff costs, including permanent workers and those on fixed-term contracts, had the 
following breakdown by professional category:

2020 2019

Senior management positions 5 602 363 5 287 304

Managerial positions 1 752 793 1 654 221

Specific positions 1 472 585 1 389 771

Administrative and other positions 286 089 270 000

9 113 830 8 601 297

29. THIRD-PARTY SUPPLIES AND SERVICES
In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, this item had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Communications 1 486 727 1 222 436

Computers 790 191 678 726

Security, maintenance and repairs 650 274 401 322

Rents and leases 592 111 621 135

Transport security 582 851 572 444

Publicity and advertising 557 092 606 288

Misc. supplies 539 443 474 204

Security and surveillance 489 442 343 156

Consulting 301 123 475 898

Other specialised services 114 211 160 232

Insurance 91 104 93 082

Water and power 38 467 33 207

Transportation, travel and accommodations 34 488 160 646

Other costs 143 669 225 560

6 411 193 6 068 337

In the year ending 31 December 2020, the item “Communications” had a major year-over-year change 
due to higher supplier prices in rate schedules associated with the Bank’s payment terminals.

In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, the balance of the item “Other costs” primarily 
includes amounts for shares paid to the Deposit Guarantee Fund and to the Angolan Association of 
Banks (“ABANC”).
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30. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ITEMS
In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, this item had the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Guarantees and other potential liabilities 

Guarantees and sureties provided 7 933 993 10 055 519

Documentary credit for importing 29 278 741 34 006 410

37 212 734 44 061 929

Third-party commitments

Irrevocable credit lines 1 714 045 248 143

Responsibilities for service provision

Deposit and custody of assets 7 822 406 8 691 740

46 749 186 53 001 812

In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, provisions established for liabilities for guarantees 
provided and documentary credit for importing totalled 4,067,955 thousand kwanzas and 3,870,599 
thousand kwanzas, respectively (Note 18).

Guarantees and sureties provided are banking transactions which do not entail the mobilisation of 
funds by the Bank, and are related to guarantees provided to support import transactions and to 
execute contractual agreements by the Bank’s customers. Guarantees provided represent amounts 
that may be enforceable in the future.

Open documentary credits are irrevocable commitments by the Bank on behalf of its customers to 
pay/order the payment of a given amount to a supplier of a good or service, within a stipulated time 
period, against the submission of documents for the merchandise’s shipment or service’s provision. 
Their irrevocable nature is due to the fact that they cannot be cancelled or changed without the 
express agreement of all parties involved.

The decrease in 2020 in the item “Documentary credit for importing” was due to the lower availability 
of foreign currencies for the importing of goods and merchandise.

Notwithstanding the particularities of these contingent liabilities and commitments, the assessment 
of these transactions obeys the same basic principles of any other commercial transaction, namely 
that of solvency, whether of the customer or the underlying business, with the Bank requiring these 
transactions to be duly collateralised when necessary.

Liabilities for the provision of services involving the “Deposit and custody of assets” involve third-party 
securities deposited at the Bank.

31. RELATED PARTIES
In accordance with IAS 24, the following are considered related parties to the Bank:

• Those having significant direct or indirect influence on the Bank’s financial policy and management 
– shareholders;

• Key members of the Bank’s management, including executive and non-executive members of the 
Board of Directors for this purpose;

• Companies where members of the Board of Directors have significant influence.
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The total amount of off-balance-sheet assets, liabilities and responsibilities in the year ending 31 
December 2020 in relation to shareholders, corporate board members, associated companies and 
collective undertakings where shareholders and corporate board members have significant influence 
had the following breakdown:

Shareholders

Members of 
the Board of 

Directors

Companies where members 
of the Board of Directors have 

significant influence
Total 

31-12-2020

Assets

Credit 163 221 374 098 29 948 855 30 486 174

163 221 374 098 29 948 855 30 486 174

Liabilities

Demand deposits (1 167 890) (468 586) (1 083 786) (2 720 262)

Term deposits (1 295 837) (560 942) (65 195) (1 921 973)

(2 463 727) (1 029 528) (1 148 981) (4 642 235)

Results

Interest and similar income 422 210 1 567 122 1 567 754

Interest and similar charges (90 769) (29 972) (378) (121 120)

(90 348) (29 762) 1 566 744 1 446 634

Off-balance sheet

Bank guarantees 127 409 324 256 14 436 268 14 887 933

Shareholders

Members of 
the Board of 

Directors

Companies where members 
of the Board of Directors have 

significant influence
Total 

31-12-2019

Assets

Credit 31 403 393 127 34 830 771 35 255 300

31 403 393 127 34 830 771 35 255 300

Liabilities

Demand deposits (587 172) (199 938) (277 116) (1 064 227)

Term deposits (739 672) (280 854) (280 640) (1 301 165)

(1 326 844) (480 792) (557 756) (2 365 392)

Results

Interest and similar income 1 304 1 714 4 570 426 4 573 443

Interest and similar charges (8 776) (8 261) (760 580) (777 617)

(7 472) (6 547) 3 809 846 3 795 826

Off-balance sheet

Bank guarantees - - 8 562 073 8 562 073

In the years ending 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Bank had loans with related parties totalling 
30,486,174 thousand kwanzas and 35,255,300 thousand kwanzas, respectively, together with 
documentary credit for importing and guarantees provided whose balances totalled 14,887,933 
thousand kwanzas and 8,562,073 thousand kwanzas, respectively.
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32. BALANCE SHEET BY CURRENCY

2020 2019

Domestic 
currency Indexed to foreign currency Foreign currency Total

Domestic
currency Indexed to foreign currency Foreign currency Total

ASSETS

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 19 827 668 16 886 579 - 2 941 089 19 827 668 16 760 253 - 2 562 416 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 12 011 123 2 051 579 - 9 959 544 12 011 123 1 507 105 - 10 491 703 11 998 808

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions 13 907 506 3 321 933 - 10 585 573 13 907 506 1 715 099 - 4 407 551 6 122 650

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 117 711 117 711 - (0) 117 711 96 195 - - 96 195

Investments at amortised cost 44 767 342 29 569 539 9 849 035 5 348 768 44 767 342 64 053 726 52 386 073 (48 404 910) 68 034 889

Loans to customers 61 517 316 58 274 566 - 3 242 750 61 517 316 44 025 568 - 7 259 484 51 285 052

Other tangible assets 14 666 061 14 666 061 - 0 14 666 061 16 292 426 - - 16 292 426

Intangible assets 961 714 961 714 - (0) 961 714 424 304 - - 424 304

Other assets 4 408 366 4 175 439 - 232 927 4 408 366 2 456 606 - 172 022 2 628 628

Total Assets 130 025 121 9 849 035 32 310 651 172 184 807 147 331 282 52 386 073 (23 511 733) 176 205 622

LIABILITIES

Resources of central banks and other credit institutions 6 374 015 6 217 720 - 156 295 6 374 015 16 065 412 - 103 127 16 168 539

Customer resources and other loans 128 132 018 87 630 826 6 195 919 34 305 273 128 132 018 71 126 042 20 986 036 28 527 834 120 639 912

Provisions 4 130 872 3 578 862 - 552 011 4 130 872 3 441 214 - 482 600 3 923 814

Current tax liabilities - - - - - 125 113 - - 125 113

Other liabilities 2 350 498 2 350 283 - 215 2 350 498 5 853 429 - 4 540 5 857 969

Total Liabilities 99 777 691 6 195 919 35 013 793 140 987 403 96 611 209 20 986 036 29 118 102 146 715 347

Net Assets/(Liabilities) 30 247 430 3 653 116 (2 703 142) 31 197 404 50 720 072 31 400 038 (52 629 835) 29 490 275

n/a – Items which changed after new requirements on the classification and measurement of financial assets under IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments.
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33. RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk management is a cornerstone of the Bank’s business, in line with corporate policy in effect. The risk 
management function is supported by a set of principles, strategies, policies, systems, processes, rules 
and procedures aimed at ensuring that the Bank’s medium- and long-term business performance is 
efficient and profitable through the effective use of assets and resources, proper management of the 
controls and risks associated with the business, and preventive and protective mechanisms against 
fraud and error, with a view to ensuring business continuity.

The Bank’s risk management revolves around constantly identifying and analysing exposure to different 
risks (credit, market, liquidity, operational and other risks), and executing strategies to leverage results 
vis-à-vis the risks to which it is exposed, bearing in mind pre-established, duly supervised restrictions.
Based on the Bank’s business, the risks considered materially relevant – and thus having greater efforts 
in terms of their identification, oversight, evaluation, monitoring and control – are as follows: 

• Credit risk;

• Liquidity risk;

• Market risk;

• Interest rate risk;

• Foreign exchange risk;

• Operational risk.

33.1. CREDIT RISK
Credit risk entails the risk of default by counterparties with which the Bank has open positions in 
financial instruments as a creditor. The Bank is equipped with a sound credit risk management 
structure, covering all phases of the process, from proposal approval to loan settlement, including 
monitoring and recovery.

• Banco Nacional de Angola establishes legislation on levels of regulatory equity to maintain proper 
levels of exposure to credit risk, namely:

• Notice no. 03/2016 of 28 April: establishes regulatory equity requirements for credit risk and 
counterparty credit risk;

• Instruction no. 12/2016 of 8 August: determines the calculation method and regulatory equity 
requirements for credit risk and counterparty credit risk;

• Instruction no. 13/2016 of 8 August: determines the provision of information on regulatory equity 
requirements for credit risk and counterparty credit risk.

The Bank classifies credit transactions by increasing degree of risk, in accordance with the risk levels 
referred to in Banco Nacional de Angola Notice no. 11/2014 of 10 December, as follows:

Level Risk

A Minimal risk

B Very low risk

C Low risk

D Moderate risk

E High risk

F Very high risk

G Maximum risk

The individual classification of the risk position considers the characteristics and risks of the transaction 
and the borrower, initially classified based on the following criteria employed by the Bank.

Transactions with the following characteristics are classified in risk level A:

i. Exposures assumed by the Angolan State, including its central and provincial administrations;

ii. Assumed by central banks or administrations of countries published by Banco Nacional de Angola 
(Instruction no. 01/2015 of 14 January), recording a lower level of risk;

iii. Exposures completely guaranteed by cash deposits established or issued by the Bank;

iv. Exposures completely guaranteed by securities or bonds issued by the Angolan State or Banco 
Nacional de Angola.

The remaining transactions not meeting the requirements for classification in risk level A, when not 
resulting from prior default, are classified in risk level B.
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Risk levels should be reviewed in the event of default, based on:

Level Risk

B Delay of 30 days or less

C Delay of more than 30 days and less than or equal to 60 days 

D Delay of more than 60 days and less than or equal to 90 days

E Delay of more than 90 days and less than or equal to 150 days 

F Delay of more than 150 days and less than or equal to 180 days 

G Delay exceeding 180 days

When a customer has several transactions classified at different risk levels, the final classification will 
be based on the most serious degree of risk.

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the maximum exposure to credit risk by financial instrument had 
the following breakdown:

2020 2019

Gross book 
value Impairment

Net book 
value

Gross book 
value Impairment

Net book 
value

Asset

Cash and cash on hand at central banks (Note 4) 19 827 668 - 19 827 668 19 322 669 - 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions (Note 5) 12 031 188 (20 065) 12 011 123 12 015 319 (16 511) 11 998 808

Investments at central banks and other credit institu-
tions (Note 6)

13 937 374 (29 868) 13 907 506 6 152 517 (29 868) 6 122 650

Financial assets at fair value through other compre-
hensive income (Note 8)

117 711 - 117 711 96 195 - 96 195

Investments at amortised cost (Note 9) 48 031 052 (3 263 710) 44 767 342 69 096 201 (1 061 312) 68 034 889

Customer loans (Note 10) 105 232 917
(43 715 

601)
61 517 316 88 017 448

(36 732 
396) 

51 285 052

Other assets (Note 15) 4 538 132 (129 766) 4 408 366 2 758 394 (129 766) 2 628 628

203 716 042
(47 159 

010)
156 557 032 197 458 744

(37 969 
852)

159 488 891

Off-balance sheet

Guarantees and sureties provided (Note 30) 7 933 993 (3 932 903) 4 001 090 10 055 519 (520 624) 9 534 894

Open documentary credit (Note 30) 29 278 741 (135 052) 29 143 689 34 006 410 (3 349 975) 30 656 435

37 212 734 (4 067 955) 33 144 779 44 061 929 (3 870 599) 40 191 330
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The creditworthiness of financial assets had the following breakdown on 31 December 2020 and 
2019:

2020

Origin
of rating

Rating 
level

Gross
exposure Impairment 

Net
exposure 

Cash and cash on hand at central banks
Internal 

rating None (A) 19 827 668 - 19 827 668

Cash on hand at other credit institutions
Internal 

rating Low (C) 12 031 188 (20 065) 12 011 123

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions

Internal 
rating Low (C) 13 937 374 (29 868) 13 907 506

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Internal 
rating None (A) 117 711 - 117 711

Investments at amortised cost 
Internal 

rating None (A) 48 031 052 (3 263 710) 44 767 342

Loans to customers
Internal 

rating None (A) 4 341 558 (2 237 313) 2 104 245

Very low (B) 51 874 983 (8 139 865) 43 735 118

Low (C) 7 243 087 (6 217 469) 1 025 618

Moderate (D) 5 786 229 (567 422) 5 218 807

High (E) 1 833 109 (129 224) 1 703 885

Very high (F) 268 789 (131 931) 136 858

Loss (G) 33 885 163 (26 292 377) 7 592 786

Other assets 
Internal 

rating None (A) 4 538 132 (129 766) 4 408 366

203 716 042 (47 159 010) 156 557 032

2019

Origin
of rating

Rating 
level

Gross
exposure Impairment 

Net
exposure 

Cash and cash on hand at central banks
Internal 

rating None (A) 19 322 669 - 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions
Internal 

rating Low (C) 12 015 319 (16 511) 11 998 808

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions

Internal 
rating Low (C) 6 152 517 (29 868) 6 122 650

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Internal 
rating None (A) 96 195 - 96 195

Investments at amortised cost 
Internal 

rating None (A) 69 096 201 (1 061 312) 68 034 889

Loans to customers
Internal 

rating None (A) 43 126 529 - 43 126 529

Very low (B) 40 215 (17 149) 23 066

Low (C) 600 143 (126 421) 473 722

Moderate (D) 11 088 524 (9 192 227) 1 896 297

High (E) 3 978 706 (1 358 907) 2 619 799

Very high (F) 20 104 160 (19 703 323) 400 837

Loss (G) 9 079 172 (6 334 368) 2 744 804

Other assets 
Internal 

rating None (A) 2 758 394 (129 766) 2 628 628

197 458 745 (37 969 852) 159 488 892
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At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the geographic concentration of exposure to credit risk has the 
following breakdown:

2020

Geographic region 

Angola
Other African 

countries Europe Other Total

Asset

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 
(Note 4)

19 827 668 - - - 19 827 668

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 
(Note 5)

791 153 2 077 914 5 965 443 - 8 834 511

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

3 335 815 - 10 571 691 - 13 907 506

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 8)

117 711 - - - 117 711

Investments at amortised cost (Note 9) 44 767 342 - - - 44 767 342

Customer loans (Note 10) 61 517 316 - - - 61 517 316

Other assets (Note 15) 4 408 365 - - - 4 408 365

134 765 370 2 077 914 16 537 134 - 153 380 419

Off-balance sheet

Guarantees and sureties provided (Note 30) 7 933 993 - - - 7 933 993

Open documentary credit (Note 30) 29 278 741 - - - 29 278 741

37 212 734 - - - 37 212 734

Total 171 978 104 2 077 914 16 537 134 - 190 593 153

2019

Geographic region 

Angola
Other African 

countries Europe Other Total

Asset

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 
(Note 4)

19 322 669 - - 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 
(Note 5)

500 794 556 480 10 941 533 - 11 998 808

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

1 744 967 - 4 377 683 - 6 122 650

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 7)

96 195 - - - 96 195

Investments at amortised cost (Note 8) 68 034 889 - - - 68 034 889

Customer loans (Note 10) 51 285 052 - - - 51 285 052

Other assets (Note 15) 2 628 628 - - - 2 628 628

143 613 195 556 480 15 319 216 0 159 488 891

Off-balance sheet

Guarantees and sureties provided (Note 30) 10 055 519 - - - 10 055 519

Open documentary credit (Note 30) 34 006 410 - - - 34 006 410

44 061 929 - - - 44 061 929

Total 187 675 124 556 480 15 319 216 - 203 550 820
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The Bank deployed new software in 2018 to calculate impairment. However, it was still in the 
improvement phase as of 31 December 2020, causing some system vulnerabilities, as mentioned in 
Note 10. As such, it was not possible to disclose a set of information required by Instruction no. 05/2016 
of 8 August, published by Banco Nacional de Angola, namely:

• Table XX – Composition of loans to customers;

• Table XXI – Composition of overdue loans without impairment;

• Table XXII– Composition of overdue loans with impairment;

• Table XXIII – Restructured credit;

• Table XXIV – Guarantees or other collateral executed under credit transactions.

33.2. LIQUIDITY RISK
The Bank is in charge of controlling and reporting on liquidity risk pursuant to Instruction no. 19/2016 
of 8 August and Instruction no. 26/2016 of 16 November, both published by Banco Nacional de Angola, 
entitled “Liquidity Risk” and “Liquidity Risk Governance”, respectively.

Liquidity risk reflects the Bank’s potential inability to meet its obligations, including those arising from 
binding guarantees, without affecting its daily operations or incurring significant losses.

To monetize surplus liquidity, the Bank makes investments with maturities of up to 12 months for 
its own portfolio, supplementing investments in the interbank money market, which contribute 
positively towards the Bank’s financial margin. These include investments in treasury bills and the 
acquisition of repurchase agreements (“repos”).
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Contractual cash flows in relation to capital had the following breakdown on 31 December 2020 and 
2019:

2020

Residual contractual terms

Cash Up to 1 month
From 1 to
3 months

From 3 to
6 months

From 6 months 
to 1 year

From 1 to
3 years

From 3 to
5 years 

More than
5 years Undetermined Total

Assets 

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 19 827 668 - - - - - - - - 19 827 668

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 12 031 188 - - - - - - - - 12 031 188

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions - 3 315 364 10 622 010 - - - - - - 13 937 374

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - - - - - - - - 117 711 117 711

Financial investments at amortised cost - 3 169 446 944 642 331 627 6 876 291 35 112 207 1 596 839 - - 48 031 052

Loans to customers - 9 028 951 420 349 14 878 899 2 945 244 15 377 195 26 115 591 6 533 181 29 933 507 105 232 917

Other assets - - - - - - - - 4 538 132 4 538 132

31 858 856 15 513 761 11 987 001 15 210 526 9 821 535 50 489 402 27 712 430 6 533 181 34 589 350 203 716 042

Liabilities

Resources of central banks and other credit institutions (4 173 431) - (2 200 584) - - - - - - (6 374 015)

Customer resources and other loans (81 958 909) - (19 587 321) (9 868 099) (12 280 628) (144 031) (4 165 488) (127 542) - (128 132 018)

(86 132 340) - (21 787 904) (9 868 099) (12 280 628) (144 031) (4 165 488) (127 542) - (134 506 033)

Liquidity gap (54 273 484) 15 513 761 (9 800 903) 5 342 428 (2 459 093) 50 345 371 23 546 942 6 405 639 34 589 350 69 210 009

Accumulated liquidity gap (54 273 484) (38 759 723) (48 560 627) (43 218 199) (45 677 292) 4 668 079 28 215 021 34 620 660 69 210 010 69 210 009
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33.3. MARKET RISK
Market risk is defined as the possibility of incurring financial losses from unexpected changes in the 
market values of exposures. These financial losses may be incurred by the impact of interest rate 
variations, exchange rate parities and the prices of shares and commodities. Market risk can be broken 
down into interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk.

33.3.1. Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is defined as the likelihood of negative impacts on the Bank’s results or capital due to 
adverse changes in interest rates.

Banco Nacional de Angola Notice no. 08/2016 of 22 June defines analytical and reporting requirements 
in relation to interest rate risk.

2019

Residual contractual terms

Cash Up to 1 month
From 1 to
3 months

From 3 to
6 months

From 6 months 
to 1 year

From 1 to
3 years

From 3 to
5 years 

More than
5 years Undetermined Total

Assets 

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 19 322 669 - - - - - - - - 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 12 015 319 - - - - - - - - 12 015 319

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions - 1 744 967 4 407 550 - - - - - - 6 152 517

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - - - - - - - - 96 195 96 195

Financial investments at amortised cost - - - - 517 488 27 586 574 28 769 974 12 222 165 - 69 096 201

Loans to customers - 1 903 410 5 334 774 2 244 371 551 452 49 186 065 2 837 785 374 844 25 584 747 88 017 448

Other assets - - - - - - - - 2 758 394 2 758 394

31 337 988 3 648 377 9 742 324 2 244 371 1 068 940 76 772 639 31 607 759 12 597 010 28 439 336 197 458 744

Liabilities

Resources of central banks and other credit institutions (5 532 922) - (10 635 616) - - - - - - (16 168 539)

Customer resources and other loans (71 552 332) - (18 198 505) (3 017 683) (8 347 845) (144 031) (3 876 024) (15 503 492) - (120 639 912)

(148 637 587) - (47 032 626) (6 035 366) (16 695 690) (288 062) (7 752 048) (31 006 984) - (136 808 451)

Liquidity gap (117 299 599) 3 648 377 (37 290 301) (3 790 995) (15 626 750) 76 484 577 23 855 710 (18 409 974) 28 439 336 60 650 293

Accumulated liquidity gap (117 299 599) (113 651 222) (150 941 523) (154 732 518) (170 359 268) (93 874 691) (70 018 981) (88 428 955) (59 989 619) 60 650 293
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On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the detail of financial instruments by exposure to interest rate risk 
had the following breakdown:

2020

Exposure

Fixed rate Variable rate

Not subject 
to interest 

rate risk Derivatives Total

Assets 

Cash and cash on hand at central banks - - 19 827 668 - 19 827 668

Cash on hand at other credit institutions - - 12 011 123 - 12 011 123

Investments at central banks and other credit 
institutions

13 907 506 - - - 13 907 506

Financial assets at fair value through other com-
prehensive income

- - 117 711 - 117 711

Financial investments at amortised cost 44 767 342 - - - 44 767 342

Loans to customers 61 517 316 - - - 61 517 316

Other assets - - 4 408 366 - 4 408 366

120 192 164 - 36 364 868 - 156 557 032

Liabilities

Resources of central banks and other credit 
institutions

- - (6 374 015) - (6 374 015)

Customer resources and other loans (46 133 873) (39 236) (81 958 909) - (128 132 018)

(46 133 873) (39 236) (88 332 924) - (134 506 033)

74 058 290 (39 236) (51 968 056) - 22 050 998

2019

Exposure

Fixed rate Variable rate

Not subject 
to interest 

rate risk Derivatives Total

Assets 

Cash and cash on hand at central banks - - 19 322 669 - 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions - - 11 998 808 - 11 998 808

Investments at central banks and other credit 
institutions

6 122 650 - - - 6 122 650

Financial assets at fair value through other com-
prehensive income

- - 96 195 - 96 195

Financial investments at amortised cost 68 034 889 - - - 68 034 889

Loans to customers 51 285 052 - - - 51 285 052

Other assets - - 2 628 628 - 2 628 628

125 442 591 - 34 046 300 - 159 488 891

Liabilities

Resources of central banks and other credit 
institutions

- - (16 168 539) - (16 168 539)

Customer resources and other loans (47 804 116) (1 283 464) (71 552 333) - (120 639 912)

(47 804 116) (1 283 464) (87 720 872) - (136 808 451)

77 638 475 (1 283 464) (53 674 571) - (22 680 440)
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The detail of financial instruments with an exposure to interest rate risk according to the maturity or 
resetting date on 31 December 2020 and 2019 had the following breakdown:

2019

Reset dates/Maturity dates

Up to 1 month
From 1 to 
3 months

From 3 to 
6 months

From 6 months 
to 1 year From 1 to 3 years

From 3 to 
5 years

More than 
5 years  Undetermined Total

Assets 

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions - 6 122 650 - - - - - - 6 122 650

Financial investments at amortised cost - - - 517 488 26 525 262 28 769 974 12 222 165 - 68 034 889

Loans to Customers 1 604 096 4 495 871 1 891 440 464 735 38 171 230 2 391 538 315 899 1 950 243 51 285 052

1 604 096 10 618 521 1 891 440 982 223 64 696 492 31 161 512 12 538 065 1 950 243 125 442 591

Liabilities

Customer resources and other loans (8 173 206) (10 141 703) (3 217 576) (803 402) (4 630 253) (16 730 936) (5 383 503) - (49 087 580)

(8 173 206) (10 141 703) (3 217 576) (803 402) (4 630 253) (16 730 936) (5 383 503) - (49 087 580)

Net Exposure (9 777 302) (20 760 224) (5 109 016) (1 785 625) (69 326 745) (47 892 448) (17 921 567) (1 950 243) (174 530 171)

2020

Reset dates/Maturity dates

Up to 1 month
From 1 to 
3 months

From 3 to 
6 months

From 6 months 
to 1 year From 1 to 3 years

From 3 to 
5 years

More than 
5 years  Undetermined Total

Assets 

Investments at central banks and other credit institutions - 13 907 506 - - - - - - 13 907 506

Financial investments at amortised cost 2 936 998 877 427 207 842 6 492 283 32 766 044 1 486 748 - - 44 767 342

Loans to Customers 9 423 864 389 370 12 252 492 1 522 073 10 756 419 21 510 530 4 240 652 1 421 916 61 517 316

12 360 862 15 174 303 12 460 334 8 014 356 43 522 463 22 997 278 4 240 652 1 421 916 120 192 164

Liabilities

Customer resources and other loans (11 001 104) (8 586 217) (9 868 099) (12 280 628) (4 393 077) (43 438) (545) - (46 173 108)

(11 001 104) (8 586 217) (9 868 099) (12 280 628) (4 393 077) (43 438) (545) - (46 173 108)

Net Exposure (9 777 302) (20 760 224) (5 109 016) (1 785 625) (69 326 745) (47 892 448) (17 921 567) (1 950 243) (174 530 171)
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On 31 December 2020, a sensitivity analysis of results generated by financial instruments to interest 
rate changes had the following breakdown:

2020

Change in interest rates

-200 bp1 -100 bp1 -50 bp1 +50 bp1 +100 bp1 +200 bp1

Assets

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions

(16 764) (8 382) (4 191) 4 191 8 382 16 764

Investments at amortised cost (214 675) (107 338) (53 669) 53 669 107 338 214 675

Loans to customers (279 591) (139 795) (69 898) 69 898 139 795 279 591

(511 030) (255 515) (127 757) 127 757 255 515 511 030

Liabilities

Customer resources and other loans 104 441 52 220 26 110 (26 110) (52 220) (104 441)

104 441 52 220 26 110 (26 110) (52 220) (104 441)

Net Impact (406 589) (203 294) (101 647) 101 647 203 294 406 589

1 One bp (“basis point”) corresponds to 0.01 percentage points.

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, a sensitivity analysis of results for the item “Loans to customers” 
for interest rate variations was done based on the average rates of customer credit transactions, as 
disclosed in Note 10.

33.3.2. Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk can be defined as risk originating from changes in exchange rates resulting from 
exchange positions from financial instruments denominated in other currencies.

The Bank analyses and controls risks based on Banco Nacional de Angola Instruction no. 02/2017 of 
30 January, together with limits to exchange exposure based on Banco Nacional de Angola Notice no. 
06/2018 of 2 August.

On 31 December 2020 and 2019, the detail of financial instruments by currency had the following 
breakdown:

2020

Kwanzas
United States 

dollars Euros
Other 

currencies Total

Assets 

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 
(Note 4)

16 886 579 2 406 352 528 365 6 372 19 827 668

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 
(Note 5)

2 051 579 3 464 189 6 478 178 17 177 12 011 123

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

3 321 933 9 344 733 1 240 839 - 13 907 506

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 8)

117 711 - - - 117 711

Investments at amortised cost (Note 9) 29 569 539 15 197 803 - - 44 767 342

Customer loans (Note 10) 58 274 566 3 242 750 - - 61 517 316

Other assets (Note 15) 4 175 439 224 299 8 536 92 4 408 366

114 397 346 33 880 126 8 255 918 23 641 156 557 032

Liabilities

Resources of central banks and other credit 
institutions (Note 16)

6 217 720 (27) 156 322 - 6 374 015

Customer resources and other loans 
(Note 17)

93 886 671 26 871 230 7 368 239 5 878 128 132 018

100 104 390 26 871 203 7 524 561 5 878 134 506 033

214 501 737 60 751 330 15 780 479 29 519 291 063 065
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2019

Kwanzas
United States 

dollars Euros
Other 

currencies Total

Assets 

Cash and cash on hand at central banks 
(Note 4)

16 760 139 2 327 437 230 395 4 699 19 322 669

Cash on hand at other credit institutions 
(Note 5)

1 795 658 3 207 532 6 937 866 57 753 11 998 808

Investments at central banks and other 
credit institutions (Note 6)

1 715 099 3 565 270 842 281 - 6 122 650

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (Note 8)

96 195 - - - 96 195

Investments at amortised cost (Note 9) 64 053 726 3 981 163 - - 68 034 889

Customer loans (Note 10) 44 025 568 6 870 162 389 322 - 51 285 052

Other assets (Note 15) 2 456 606 166 427 5 595 - 2 628 628

130 902 991 20 117 991 8 405 458 62 452 159 488 892

Liabilities

Resources of central banks and other credit 
institutions (Note 16)

16 065 412 - 103 127 - 16 168 539

Customer resources and other loans
(Note 17)

92 112 078 26 414 205 2 109 124 4 505 120 639 911

108 177 490 26 414 205 2 212 251 4 505 136 808 451

239 080 480 46 532 196 10 617 709 66 957 296 297 343

In the table detailing financial instruments by currency, the amounts shown in the column “United 
States dollars” include transactions indexed to USD.

The sensitivity analysis of the asset value of the financial instruments to variations in exchange rates, 
on 31 December 2020 and 2019, had the following breakdown:

2020

-20% -10% -5% +5% +10% +20%

Currency

United States dollars (10 460 096) (5 230 048) (2 615 024) 2 615 024 5 230 048 10 460 096

Euro (3 204 375) (1 602 187) (801 094) 801 094 1 602 187 3 204 375

Other currencies (5 885) (2 943) (1 471) 1 471 2 943 5 885

Total (13 670 356) (6 835 178) (3 417 589) 3 417 589 6 835 178 13 670 356

2019

-20% -10% -5% +5% +10% +20%

Currency

United States dollars (9 273 154) (4 636 577) (2 318 288) 2 318 288 4 636 577 9 273 154

Euro (2 122 423) (1 061 211) (530 606) 530 606 1 061 211 2 122 423

Other currencies (13 391) (6 696) (3 348) 3 348 6 696 13 391

Total (11 408 968) (5 704 484) (2 852 242) 2 852 242 5 704 484 11 408 968

According to IFRS 8 – Operating Segments, companies must disclose information allowing users of 
financial statements to assess the nature and financial effects of the business activities in which they 
are involved, along with the economic environments in which they operate.

The Bank’s business is limited to Angola, with a relatively simple business structure aimed primarily 
at customer resources which it uses, together with its own resources, to make investments at Banco 
Nacional de Angola and other credit institutions. In view of the limited complexity of the Bank’s 
business, the Board of Directors believes that the presentation of the financial statements by just one 
business segment and for one country (Angola) offers no added value in its interpretation.
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34. COVID-19 PANDEMIC
In March 2020, the World Health Organisation declared a state of pandemic due to the novel coronavi-
rus (Covid-19). This pandemic is affecting a wide range of financial and economic markets worldwide, 
with extremely significant impacts resulting in a sharp decline in the price of a barrel of oil. Develo-
pments in the pandemic have had negative impacts on the nation’s economy, affecting the Bank’s 
business. 

As such, on the date of closing out the year 2020, despite the estimated negative impacts on the Bank’s 
business and the execution of its business plan in 2021, no accounting impacts have been found to 
the financial statements on this date as a result of this issue. It is also important to note that, based on 
all available information on this date, the Board of Directors believes that the going concern principle 
used in preparing the Bank’s financial statements on 31 December 2020 still remains appropriate.

Finally, along with local and international bodies and authorities, the Bank’s Board of Directors has 
been implementing a contingency plan to deal with the effects of this pandemic, guaranteeing levels 
of capital, liquidity and operating capacity to ensure the continuity of its operations and its business

35. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The dissemination of the General Tax Authority (AGT) letter reference no. 1633/GAGA/GJ/AGT/2021 
of 8 April on changes to the Industrial Tax due to exchange variations, impairment losses on credit 
and Property Tax, may justify some future adjustments to the Bank’s accounts. However, no materially 
relevant financial impacts are anticipated as a result of this AGT letter.

In view of the above paragraph, there are no subsequent events to be disclosed.



CASSAVA. 
ONE OF ANGOLA’S GREAT RICHES.
Angola is currently one of the largest producers of cassava in Africa, having achieved self-sufficiency in
the domestic supply of this product. Cassava’s new stage is the processing industry, helping to reduce imports
of wheat flour. Looking to other markets, there is great potential for exporting starch, with great global demand 
for the production of bread. Cassava shows us how Angola’s fertile soil offers products and conditions for
developing our economy.



REPORT FROM THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

9
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BANANAS. 
ONE OF ANGOLA’S GREAT RICHES.
“The green oil of Angola”, as it has been called, the banana has tremendous potential for investors. 
With their exceptional quality, Angola bananas are already one of our main calling cards in
numerous world markets and demand is far from being satisfied.
Bananas and other products show how agriculture is poised to be one of the main drivers of our 
country’s economic diversification and development.



OPINION OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

10
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GINDUNGO. 
ONE OF ANGOLA’S GREAT RICHES.
Gindungo has added special flavours, aromas and colours to Angolan dishes and those 
from all over the world. In addition to seasoning, these little spicy pods release endorphins, 
have tonic and antiseptic effects, stimulate the circulatory and digestive system and 
increase perspiration. Its worldwide demand is intense, and Angola is ready to become
an important global producer.



BANCO KEVE BUSINESS CENTRES

11
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Banco Keve Business Centres

BENGUELA

BENGUELA BRANCH Rua Aires de Almeida Santos, n.º 75

LOBITO BRANCH Zona Comercial - Av. 25 de Abril, n.º 73/75/77

LOBITO SECIL BRANCH Bairro Lobito Velho - Lobito Instalações da Secil Cimentos

LOBITO CATUMBELA BRANCH Rua da Fábrica Velha, Antiga Açucareira Catumbela

LOBITO RESTINGA BRANCH Avenida de Moçambique, n.º 99

CABINDA

CABINDA BRANCH Av. Comendador Henrique Serrano

MASSABI BRANCH Instalações do Posto Fronteiriço de Massabi

CUANDO CUBANGO

MENONGUE BRANCH Rua 1º de Maio

CUANGAR BRANCH Cuangar-Cuando Cubango

CUNENE

SANTA CLARA BRANCH Estrada Principal de Santa Clara, Edifício do Posto Aduaneiro

HUAMBO

HUAMBO BRANCH Rua Traseiro Lopes Cidade Baixa

HUAMBO NOCEBO  BRANCH Zona Industrial do Huambo Bairro da Chiva

KWANZA SUL

SUMBE BRANCH Av. Joaquim Kapango, n.º Y- 43 - Sumbe

WACO KUNGO BRANCH Rua 4 de Fevereiro

CALULO BRANCH Rua 11 de Novembro, R/C

PORTO - AMBOIM BRANCH 
Rua Viriato da Cruz - Complexo Industrial da PESKWANZA - EP, 
Lote N/D, R/C

PORTO - AMBOIM CUSTOMS BRANCH Porto Amboim

SELES BRANCH Rua Lar 2 dos Estudantes

LUANDA

RAINHA GINGA BRANCH Rua Rainha Ginga, 77

MACULUSSO BRANCH Rua Joaquim Kapango, 32

NOCAL BRANCH Bairro Hoji Ya Henda - Instalações da Nocal

NOVA CIMANGOLA BRANCH Bairro Kikolo - Instalações da Fábrica da Nova Cimangola

CUCA BRANCH Bairro Cazenga - Rua N’gola kiluanje Instalações da Cuca

TALATONA II BRANCH Bairro Benfica Estrada Direita do Futungo, S/N

PORTO DE LUANDA BRANCH Bairro Boavista, Av. 4 de Fevereiro, Instalações do Porto de Luanda

AEROPORTO BRANCH 
Av. 21 de Janeiro / Aeroporto Internacional 4 de Fevereiro
Terminal de carga aéreo

PORTO SECO BRANCH Instalações Porto Seco Viana

SOVINHOS BRANCH Instalações Seis Líquidos/Sovinhos Viana

CACUACO BRANCH Rua do Mutobe, Instalações da Vidrul

SERPA PINTO BRANCH Largo Serpa Pinto - Rua Amílcar Cabral, n.º 4A

NOVA VIDA BRANCH Rua 55/ 60, Projecto Nova Vida

NOVA VIDA II BRANCH Rua 53 Projecto Nova Vida, Município de Belas-Luanda

CORREIOS DE ANGOLA BRANCH Rua do 1º Congresso do MPLA

AEROPORTO 4 DE FEVEREIRO ARRIVALS BRANCH Av. 21 de Janeiro / Terminal de Passageiros

MAJOR KANHANGULO BRANCH Rua Major Kanhangulo, n.º 61 B

KILAMBA KIAXE BRANCH Nova Cidade do Kilama Kiaxe

GIKA SEDE BRANCH Av. Ho Chi Min, Edifício Garden Towers-Torre B, 11º Andar

UNIVERSIDADE METODISTA BRANCH Rua Nossa Senhora da Muxima, Bairro Ingombotas

ISPAJ UNIVERSITY  BRANCH Projecto Nova Vida
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LUANDA (continuation)

RAINHA GINGA BUSINESS CENTRE BRANCH Rua Rainha Ginga, 77

PATRIOTA BUSINESS CENTRE BRANCH Rua do Patriota, S/N Município de Belas

TALATONA II BUSINESS CNTRE BRANCH Rua Pedro de Castro Van-Dúnem Loy, Município de Belas

VIANA COMETA BUSINESS CENTRE BRANCH Estrada de Catete, Município de Viana

ROYAL PARK BUSINESS CENTRE BRANCH Rua Pedro de Castro Van-Dúnem Loy, Município de Belas

PRIVATE BSANKING DEPARTEMENT Rua Rainha Ginga, 77

PATRIOTA BRANCH Rua do Patriota, S/N Município de Belas

VIANA COMETA BRANCH Estrada de Catete, S/N Município de Viana

LUANDA SHOPPING BRANCH Avenida Cmd Gika, Município de Luanda

SONANGALP KM 32 BRANCH Estrada de Catete S/N Km 32, Município de Viana

CAMAMA MULTICENTER BRANCH Estrada Principal de Camama, Município de Belas

ISPEKA BRANCH
Município de Belas, Distrito de Camama, Estrada Principal de 
Camama

CAMPUS UNIVERSITÁRIOS BRANCH Rua Direita do Camama, Instalações do Campus Universitários

LUBANGO

LUBANGO BRANCH Rua 1º de Agosto, n.º 26 - Bairro Comercial

LUBANGO CUSTOMS BRANCH Rua Engº. Torres

MALANGE

MALANGE BRANCH Rua Comandante Dangereux, Prédio Che-Guevara R/C Malange

NAMIBE

NAMIBE CUSTOMS BRANCH Rua Ekuikui II

NAMIBE BRANCH Rua da Praia do Bomfim

SOYO

SOYO BASE DO KWANDA BRANCH Instalações da Base do Kwanda

SOYO HOTEL NEMPANZO BRANCH Instalações do Hotel Nempanzo

CABINDA

ZAIRE

BENGO

MALANJE

CUANZA SUL

BENGUELA

NAMIBE

HUAMBO

HUÍLA

CUNENE

LUANDA

UIGE

CUANZA NORTE

BIÉ

CUANDO
CUBANGO

LUANDA NORTE

LUANDA SUL

MOXICO

Open Business Centers Coming soon
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